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PART 1

Item 1.  Business

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (including the section regarding Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations) contains forward-looking statements regarding
our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Words such as “expects,”
“anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates” and similar expressions or variations of
such words are intended to identify forward-looking statements, but are not deemed to represent an all-
inclusive means of identifying forward-looking statements as denoted in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Additionally, statements concerning future matters are forward-looking statements.
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Although forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflect the good faith
judgment of our management, such statements can only be based on facts and factors currently known by
us. Consequently, forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties and actual
results and outcomes may differ materially from the results and outcomes discussed in or anticipated by
the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences in results and
outcomes include, without limitation, those specifically addressed under the heading “Risks Related to
Our Business” below, as well as those discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Readers
are urged not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”). We make available on our website under “Investor Relations/SEC Filings,” free of charge, our
annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and
amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such materials
with or furnish them to the SEC. Our website address is www.wfinet.com. You can also read and copy any
materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC
20549. You can obtain additional information about the operation of the Public Reference Room by
calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet site (www.sec.gov) that
contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC, including us.

We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements in order to reflect any
event or circumstance that may arise after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Readers are
urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures made throughout the entirety of this Annual
Report, which attempt to advise interested parties of the risks and factors that may affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We operate and report using a 52-53 week fiscal year ending the last Friday in December. As a result,
a fifty-third week is added every five or six years. Our 52 week fiscal years consist of four equal quarters of
13 weeks each, and our 53 week fiscal years will consist of three 13 week quarters and one 14 week quarter.
The financial results for our 53 week fiscal years and our 14 week fiscal quarters will not be exactly
comparable to our 52 week fiscal years and our 13 week fiscal quarters. For presentation purposes, all
fiscal periods presented or discussed in this report have been presented as ending on the last day of the
nearest calendar month. For example, our 2004 fiscal year ended on December 31, 2004, however, our
2005 fiscal year ended on December 30, 2005, but we present our 2005 fiscal year as ending on
December 31, 2005.

We were incorporated in the state of New York on December 19, 1994 and began operations in
March 1995. We reincorporated in the state of Delaware in 1998. We consummated our initial public
offering on November 5, 1999. Our principal executive office is located at 4810 Eastgate Mall, San Diego,
California 92121, Our telephone number is (858) 228-2000.




Description of the Business

General

We are an independent providerjof outsourced engineering and network deployment services, security
systems engineering and integration services and other technical services for the wireless communications

, \
industry, the U.S. government, and en't

|

erprise customers.

The principal services we provide include, but are not limited to, the design, deployment, integration,
and the overall management of commuunications and security networks. Our work for the wireless
communications industry primarily involves radio frequency engineering, site development, project

|
management and the installation of ra \

adio equipment networks. We also provide network management

services, which involve day-to-day opt1‘mlzat10n and maintenance of wireless networks. As part of our
strategy, we are technology and vendor independent. We believe that this aligns our goals with those of our

[

customers and enables us to objectively evaluate and recommend specific products or technologies. We
provide network engineering and depl'];oyment services to wireless carriers including, but not limited to, (in
alphabetical order) Cingular, O2, Orange Sprint, T-Mobile, Verizon Wireless and Vodafone and

equipment vendors such as Ericsson, H
addition to our vendor and technology

Nortel and Siemens. Our key value proposition to our customers in
independence is our ability to provide engineering expertise across

a wide range of cellular technologies and equipment platforms. Our work for the federal government
primarily involves network engineering and infrastructure development, network security, logistics
automation and RFID solutions, systeilns engineering, systems integration, and the outsourcing of technical
services such as operational testing and evaluation. Our work for enterprise customers primarily involves
the design, deployment, and 1ntegrat10n of voice, data, security and other in-building systems and is

|

focused on opportunities to provide converged IP and wireless networks to Fortune 1000 companies,

public facilities, and municipal agencies.

Operating Segments

Our three operating segments are
Services segment, and our Governmen
Services, Inc.

Wireless Network Services Segment
Network Planning

We provide business consulting se

our Wireless Network Services segment, our Enterprise Network
t Network Services segment, also known as WFI Government

rvices for all pre-deployment planning including technology

assessment, market analysis, and business plan development. We study and analyze the traffic patterns,
population density, topography and propagation environment in each market under consideration. We

have developed a proprietary methodo

ogy to assist customers in analysis of the competitive landscape for

mobile broadband services, and we use

our expertise and experience to analyze the financial, engineering,

competitive and technology issues apphcable to a proposed technology or network deployment project.
Drawing upon the demographic analySIS and preliminary network dimensioning and benchmarks for

deployment-related expenditures from
business strategies or evaluate existing

our various functional groups and consultants, we create new
deployment strategies. Business consulting projects are strategically

important to us because they representlopportunities to build relationships and credibility with customers

during the planning phase, and they en

hance our experiences with leading edge technologies.




Network Design and Deployment Services

We provide a range of services for the full design and deployment of wireless networks. Such services
include:

o Radio Frequency Engineering. Radio frequency engineers design each integrated wireless system to
meet the customer’s performance requirements. These requirements are based upon a projected
level of subscriber density, traffic demand, and the coverage area. Our engineers perform the
calculations, measurements and tests necessary to determine the optimal placement of the wireless
equipment. In addition to meeting basic transmission requirements, the radio frequency network
design must make optimal use of radio frequency and result in the highest possible signal quality for
the greatest portion of subscriber usage within existing constraints. The constraints may be imposed
by cost parameters, terrain, license limitations, interference with other operators, site availability,
applicable zoning requirements and other factors. '

o Spectrum Relocation. To enable customers to use the radio frequency spectrum they have licensed,
it is often necessary for customers to analyze the licensed spectrum for interference from existing
users, and move these incumbent users to new frequencies. We assist our customers in
accomplishing this spectrum relocation by providing complete point-to-point and point-to-
multipoint line-of-sight microwave and other types of engineering and support services. Engineering
and support services include identifying existing microwave or other frequency uses, negotiating
relocation with incumbent users, managing and tracking relocation progress and documenting the
final decommissioning and replacement of the incumbent users’ facilities.

o Fixed Network Engineering. Most wireless calls are ultimately routed through a wireline network. As
a result, the traffic from wireless networks must be connected with switching centers within wireline
networks. We establish the most efficient method to connect cell sites to the wireline backbone,
whether by microwave radio or by landline connections. Our engineers are involved in specifying,
provisioning and implementing fixed network facilities.

o Site Development. Site development experts acquire the rights to build wireless transmission sites,
gain zoning approvals, secure building permits, and manage the deployment process.

e Installation and Optimization Services. WFI personnel install radio frequency equipment, including
base station electronics and antennas, and recommend and implement location, software and
capacity changes required to meet the customer’s performance specifications. We also provide
installation and initial optimization services for all major PCS, cellular and mobile broadband
wireless air interface standards and equipment manufacturers.

The technology consulting practice in our EMEA (Europe, Middle East and Asia) operations
leverages more than a decade of our telecommunication industry experience in designing and deploying
communications networks and implementing advanced technologies. Our vendor and technology
independence together with our industry experience provide the foundation for analyzing the marketplace
objectively and offering customized solutions for European customers. The consulting practice focuses on
risk management, program and project management, marketing consultancy, business planning and
transformation, due diligence and advanced technologies. We are targeting our consulting services to
existing and potential new customers across the EMEA region.




Network Management and Optimization IServices
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Network management services are comprised of post-deployment radio frequency optimization
services and network operations and maintenance services.

o Post-Deployment Radio Frequency Optimization. Upon initial deployment, a network is optimized
to provide wireless service based upon a set of parameters existing at that time, such as cell density,

spectrum usage, base station sit%a locations and estimated calling volumes and traffic patterns. Over
time, call volumes or other parameters may change, requiring, for example, the relocation of base
stations, addition of new equ1p1“1’1ent or the implementation of system enhancements. We offer
ongoing radio frequency optlrm‘izatlon services to periodically test network elements, tune the
network for optimal performance and identify elements that need to be upgraded or replaced.

|

o Network Operations and Mainteftance For customers with ongoing outsourcing needs, we can
assume responsibility for day-to ‘ -day operation and maintenance of their wireless networks. The
H
relationship we develop with our customers for this type of outsourcing contract begins with a team
of engineers and other profes51$nal and support staff aligned to meet the customer’s specific needs.
We take into account such variables as grade of service, reliability requirements, and geographic
layout of the system in determlr”ung the allocation of site maintenance responsibilities between our
service team and the customer’s own personnel. We provide staffing to perform the necessary
services for centralized network monitoring, optimization services, and maintenance and repair of
critical network elements, incluﬁiing base station equipment, mobile switching centers and network

operating centers.

Customer Value Proposition

Technology and Vendor Independence for both Mobile and Fixed Wireless Operations. 'We have
experience in all major wireless technologles including: CDMA, TDMA, GSM, GPRS, EDGE, EV-DO,
UMTS, HSDPA, iDEN, WiMax and WiFi. The critical components of our ability to meet and exceed
customer expectations are our broad sgope of services, our technical expertise and our technology and
vendor agnosticism. Such 1ndependenc‘€ allows WFT to offer its customers the most technologically
advanced, objective and appropriate sulte of solutions available based solely on the customer’s

requirements.

Depth and Scale. Our principal asset is our staff, 92% of whom work directly on customer projects.
Our technological expertise and mdustry knowledge have enabled us to form strong customer relationships
with established carriers and equlpment vendors. We believe our expertise in each of the major wireless
technologies enhances our ability to customize services to meet the needs of our customer base. Our
resources are available globally, allowing us the ability to respond quickly to customer needs.

|

Proven Methodology. Our project management process enables us to meet our customers’ needs
without compromising project quality. “We have a dedicated staff employed to facilitate efficient feedback
of information among the various specialized activities involved in the design and deployment of a network
so that our project teams work quickly Eand effectively. Through this coordinated effort, we are able to
continually optimize human resource deployment and deliver the most efficient and effective solutions on
time and within budget.

Turnkey Solutions.  Traditionally, carriers engaged a number of firms or used internal personnel to
build and operate their wireless networks. In this case, the carrier was responsible for the coordination and
integration of the various contractors. WFI’s turnkey approach allows the carrier to engage a single
responsible party accountable for dehvlerlng and managing the network. Through total control of staff and
resources, WFI reduces the time and cost of network deployment, management, and subsequent
operation. Finally, WFI’s turnkey modé! eliminates the need for a carrier or equipment vendor to




assemble, train and retain network deployment and management staff, resulting in reduced cost and
schedule efficiencies.

Fixed-Price and Time-Certain Delivery. A significant portion of our WNS services (59% during fiscal
year 2005) are sold primarily on a fixed-price, time-certain basis, where our customers pay by project
increments according to defined results on a per-unit basis project site (as defined in the agreement based
on milestones), rather than by the hour. By selling our services primarily on a fixed-price, time-certain
basis, our customers can better forecast their capital expenditures and operating expenditures more
accurately.

Enterprise Network Services Segment

Our Enterprise Network Services segment provides system design, deployment, integration,
monitoring and support services for enterprise networks. Enterprise networks have been traditionally
segregated into systems such as voice, data, access control, video surveillance, temperature control and fire
alarm. We provide services that combine such systems and offer integrated solutions on an Ethernet-based
platform. We also offer solutions that combine voice, data, electronic security and building automation
systems with fixed or wireless connectivity solutions. We aim to meet the needs of any business enterprise
by understanding the needs of the particular entity, sifting through the multiple solutions and complex
technologies available in the marketplace and designing, deploying, managing and maintaining a cost-
effective and integrated solution that is capable of evolving as the needs of the client change with time. Our
target markets are retail, healthcare, education, municipal government and public facilities. Our
commitment to these markets and our proven ability to provide feature-rich, cost-effective solutions has
allowed us to become one of the larger independent integrators for these types of systems. Enterprise
Network Services ranked as the 11" largest integrator in the U.S. in 2004 according to Security Distributors
Magazine and was at that time the 2™ largest independent integrator in the nation.

Historically, the largest systems integrators serving such markets have been divisions of larger
companies that also manufactured proprietary security and building automation products. As security and
building systems evolve from stand-alone products into integrated systems, the demand for enterprise
solutions such as those offered by us are expected to increase. Fortune 1000 companies are increasingly
showing a tendency to select independent “vendor agnostic” service providers, allowing our independence
to become an important differentiator. As open standards and IP-based architecture continue to supplant
vendor proprietary protocols and products in the marketplace, we believe our independent position will
allow us to capture an increasing share of the systems integration market.

Our Enterprise Network Services segment also leverages our WiMax and certified WiFi specialists
and registered communications network designers to customize wired and wireless solutions that meet the
requirements of even the most sophisticated customer. A typical enterprise campus environment not only
has a large number of sub-systems but also a large number of users with different and varying needs, and
we are able to use both wireless and wired technologies to create a network that meets the complex
requirements of our customers. For those clients who also demand the integration of licensed band
wireless systems (such as cellular and PCS) within the enterprise network, we are uniquely equipped and
qualified to meet these deployment challenges.

Municipal WiFi networks are becoming increasingly popular among our nation’s communities, both
large and small. These communication networks vary in design and function from city to city. In some
cases, the municipality may elect to own the network, and in other cases, the network may be owned and
operated by a third party. Irrespective of ownership, WFI is involved in the design and deployment of these
community-based communication networks. Depending on the project, we may work as the lead systems
integrator in tandem with other third-party equipment manufacturers and Internet services providers
(ISP’s) or we may provide standalone network design and systems integration services.
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Government Network Services Segment

Our Government Network Services segment serves the federal information technology services
market, which includes the design, development, deployment, integration and management of
communications and information networks. According to INPUT, a government market research firm, this
market is currently in excess of $63 billion annually and includes not only spending by the Department of
Defense (DoD) but also by federal ci\ﬁilian agencies. More importantly for us, preliminary estimates by
INPUT show wireless-related spendmg in as much as $43 billion worth of government information
technology contracts, and industry experts expect the market for wireless related spending to grow even

faster than the overall government mformatmn technology market.

The growth in the government mformatlon technology market is being driven by a number of factors,
including an overall desire on the part\of the federal government to upgrade communication and
information systems, the aging of the ﬁederal workforce, and an increase in the use of private sector
outsourcing. In addition, market growﬁh has been driven and will continue to be driven in large part by
DPoD information technology spending which has been increasing over the past two years at an even faster
rate than the overall government information technology market. World events, politicat factors, and
changing DoD priorities have resultecﬂ\not only in the growth of the overall DoD budget, but more
importantly in the significant growth of the DoD information technology budget. The end of the cold war
and the emergence of new enemies an? new national security threats have caused an increased emphasis
on network centric warfare, information superiority and the convergence and interoperability of
information systems. These changes ar‘e also bringing a significant increase in demand for wireless related
technology as the government’s natlonal security efforts focus more and more on mobility, broadband
connectivity, speed, efficiency, and ovérall effectiveness of deployment.

I
Our Government Network Services segment was created to leverage our core competencies in skills

that are currently in great demand—wg‘reless radio frequency engineering, Internet protocol engineering,
network design, deployment, and management, and physical and electronic security systems integration—
to capitalize on the numerous contract'ng opportunities available to service providers.

Our Government Network Servicels segment also focuses on the homeland security market with
products and services aimed at providing first responders to emergency situations with a real time 3D

image of the incident site.

Sale and Discontinuance of Significant| Subsidiaries

In December 2005, our Board of Directors made the decision to exit our Mexican operations and
certain of our other deployment businesses in South America. Prior to this decision, these operations had
been repofted in our Wireless Network‘Semces segment. The Company determined that these operations
meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale. Accordingly, WFI has reflected these operations as
discontinued in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets.” The discontinued South American deployment operations were substantially shut down as
of the end of December 2005. |

\

On February 17, 2006, we entered into an Equity Purchase Agreement to sell all of the stock of our
wholly owned subsidiaries (i) WFI de M[exico, S.de R.L. de C.V,, (ii) WFI de México, Servicios de
Administracion, S. de R.L. de C.V. (iii WFI de México, Servicios de Ingenierfa, S. de RL.de C.V,,

(iv) WFT Services de Mexico S.A. de CV V. , (v) WFT Asesoria en Administracidn, S.C., and (vi) WFI
Asesoria en Telecomunicaciones, S.C. (the “Mexico Operations”) to Sakoki LLC. The transaction closed
on March 10, 2006. The operating result‘s for these entities and the discontinued South American
operations are reflected in our consolidated financial statements as discontinued operations in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.




The Equity Purchase Agreement provides that we will receive total approximate cash consideration of
$18 million, subject to adjustment, with $1.5 million payable in cash on signing of the Equity Purchase
Agreement and $16.5 million payable by means of a secured promissory note payable in installments
through December 31, 2006, subject to adjustment. The note is secured by pledges of assets and a personal
guaranty. The total consideration approximated the net book value of operations, including $13.2 million
of liabilities associated with a loss contingency.

Our decision to divest the Mexican operations was prompted by the changing business climate in
Mexico and a review of the strategic alternatives for our free cash flow. Unfavorable contractual terms
recently proposed by our largest customers in Mexico would further increase the extensive working capital
required to operate a Mexican deployment company while pricing pressure threatened to adversely affect
the future profitability of the Mexican operations.

Further, the recent refinements of the cell site build plans by our largest customers resuited in the
cancellation of a number of sites that we were building in Mexico and other South American locations.
This resuited in a write-off of unrecoverable expenses of approximately $5.0 million in 2005. We have not
been able to negotiate any termination settlements with our customers to offset these costs.

In conjunction with the sale of the Mexico operations and based on the deteriorating business
conditions in the region, we have also made the decision that in the future, our business in South America
will focus on providing lower risk, higher margin engineering services in Brazil.

ISO Qualification

In November 2002, the domestic portion of our Wireless Network Services Division was awarded ISO
9001:2000 certification. This certification validates that we are among an exclusive tier of companies that
possess well-defined and integrated quality measures and comprehensive programs that ensure our
services are provided according to uniform standards that are considered best practices within the industry.
In June 2004, we upgraded our ISO certification to a TL 9000 certification. TL 9000 is a set of quality
standards specifically tailored for the telecommunications industry and focuses on measurement of service,
accuracy, adherence to customer requirements and monthly submission of performance metrics to the
Quality Excellence for Suppliers of Telecommunications (“QuEST”) Forum. We believe that the addition
of the telecommunication-specific quality standards further proves that we are dedicated to providing a
quality service to our clients.

Customers

A representative list of our customers in our Wireless Network Services segment during 2005 includes
(in alphabetical order) Alltel, Cingular, O2, Orange, Sprint, T-Mobile, Verizon Wireless and Vodafone
and equipment vendors such as Ericsson, Huawei, Nokia, Nortel and Siemens. In our Enterprise Network
Services segment, our customers in 2005 include General Electric, the Toyota Center, and Westfield
Shopping Towns. Customers in our Government Network Services segment during 2005 include the U.S.
Air Force, U.S. Army, U.S. Navy, Missile Defense Agency, the Department of Homeland Security, and the
U.S. Southern Command. '

For the year ended December 31, 2005, we had sales to one customer, Cingular, totaling $98.8 million,
which comprised 26.3% of our total revenues. In addition, our top five customers accounted for
approximately 49.0% of our total revenues. The revenues generated by these customers were from our
Wireless Network Services segment and Government Network Services segment.




Competition

Our market is competitive, and i?cludes the full range of service providers. Many of the companies
that we compete against have significantly greater financial, technical and marketing resources, and

generate greater revenues than WFL

Competition in the Wireless Network Services business comes primarily from the internal engineering
departments of wireless carriers and t]pe service arms of equipment vendors, and to a lesser extent from
companies such as Flextronics, LCC International, AirCom, Incode, General Dynamics and Bechtel
Corporation. These companies are si&nificant competitors given their project finance capabilities,

reputations and global presence.

Competition in the Enterprise Network Services segment includes Siemens Building Technology,
Johnson Controls, Ingersoll Rand and Convergent.

|
Competition in the Government Network Services segment includes Northrop Grumman, SAIC,
Anteon International, ITT In'dustries,VInc., Computer Sciences Corporation, ARINC, Raytheon -
Corporation, BAE and CACIL. C

We believe that the principal competitive factors in our ability to win new business include domain
and technology expertise, the ability to deliver results within budget (time and cost), reputation,
accountability, staffing flexibility, and project management expertise. We believe our ability to compete
also depends on a number of additional factors including the ability of our customers to perform the
services themselves, and competitive p}ricing for similar services.

Employees

As of December 31, 2005, we emp“‘loyed approxirﬁately 2,300 full-time employees, consultants and
contractors worldwide. None of our en‘l“lployees, other than our Swedish employees (three at December 31,
2005), are represented by a labor union, and we have not experienced any work stoppages.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risks Related to QOur Business

You should carefully consider the following risk factors and all other information contained herein as well
as the information included in this Annual Report in evaluating our business and prospects. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not theﬂonly ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties, other than those
we describe below, that are not presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial, may also
impair our business operations. If any of the following risks occur, our business and financial results could be
harmed. You should refer to the other information contained in this Annual Report, including our consolidated
financial statements and the related'notei%. :

QOur success is dependent on growth in“lthe deployment of wireless networks and new technology upgrades,
and to the extent that such growth slows, our business may be harmed. ‘
Telecommunications carriers are c‘pnstantly re-evaluating their network deployment plans in response
to trends in the capital markets, changir“‘lg perceptions regarding industry growth, the adoption of new
wireless technologies, increasing pricing competition for subscribers and general economic conditions in
the United States and internationally. If the rate of network deployment slows and carriers reduce their
capital investments in wireless infrastfucture or fail to expand into new geographic areas, our business may

be significantly harmed.

The uncertainty associated with rapidly changing telecommunications technologies may also
negatively impact the rate of deploymeﬁt of wireless networks and the demand for our services.
Telecommunications service providers face significant challenges in assessing consumer demand and in
acceptance of rapidly changing enhanced telecommunications capabilities. If telecommunications service

providers perceive that the rate of acce;gtance of next generation telecommunications products will grow
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more slowly than previously expected, they may, as a result, slow their development of next generation
technologies. Moreover, increasing price competition for subscribers could adversely affect the profitability
of carriers and limit their resources for network deployment. Any significant sustained slowdown will
further reduce the demand for our services and adversely affect our financial results.

If wireless carriers, network equipment vendors and enterprises do not outsource their wireless
telecommunications services, our business will suffer.

Our success depends upon the continued trend by wireless carriers and network equipment vendors to
outsource their network design, deployment and management needs. If this trend does not continue and
wireless carriers and network equipment vendors elect to perform more network deployment services
themselves, our operating results and revenues may decline.

If enterprise customers do not invest in security systems and other new in-building technologies such as
wireless local area networks, our business will suffer.

We intend to devote significant resources to developing our enterprise-based WLAN (Wireless Local
Area Networks), but we cannot predict that we will achieve widespread market acceptance amongst the
enterprises we identify as potential customers. It is possible that some enterprises will determine that
capital constraints and other factors outweigh their need for WLAN systems. As a result, we may be
affected by a significant delay in the adoption of WLAN by enterprises, which would harm our business.

Our failure to obtain new government contracts, the cancellation of our current government contracts, or
a reduction in federal budget appropriations involving our services could materially adversely affect our
revenues.

We anticipate that a material portion of our future revenues will come from our Government
Network Services segment. Our revenues and cash flows from our Government Network Services segment
may decline if a significant number of our government contracts are delayed or cancelled due to cutbacks
in defense, homeland security or other federal agency budgets or for other reasons. In addition, our failure
to successfully compete for and retain such government contracts could have an adverse effect on our
revenues and cash flows. We cannot guarantee that we—or if we are a subcontractor, that the prime
contractor—will win any particular bid, or that we will be able to replace business lost upon expiration or
completion of a contract.

We anticipate that our Government Network Services segment will also be sensitive to changes in
national defense and budget priorities. Demand for our services may decline if conflicts in the Middle East
and other high risk areas subside, or if U.S. defense budget appropriations are reduced.

We are subject to extensive government regulation, and our failure or inability to comply with these
regulations could subject us to penalties and result in a loss of our government contracts, which could
adversely affect our revenues.

The wireless networks that we design, deploy and manage are subject to various regulations issued by
the U.S. Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) and other regulatory bodies in the U.S. and other
countries. FCC regulations require that these networks meet certain radio frequency emission standards,
not create unallowable interference to other services, and in some cases accept interference from other
services. These networks are also subject to government regulations and requirements of local standards
bodies in foreign countries in which we have business operations, where we are less prominent than local
competitors and have less opportunity to participate in the establishment of regulatory and standards
policies. We are also subject to state and federal health, safety and environmental regulations, as well as
regulations related to the handling of and access to classified information. Additionally, because we
conduct business throughout the U.S., many of our activities are subject to different state and-local
regulatory schemes, including those relative to licensing, taxes and employment matters, with which we are
required to comply. We are subject to routine audits to assure our compliance with these requirements.
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Our failure to comply with these regulations, rules and approvals could result in the impositions of
penalties and the loss of our government contracts and disqualification as a U.S. government contractor,
which could adversely affect our reveues. Additional regulations may be adopted, including changes in
the allocation of available spectrum by the U.S. government and other governments or exclusion of our
technology by a standards body, whlcp may result in additional cost to us or restrict our current business
operations, which could have a harmful effect on our operating results, liquidity and financial position.

We derive a significant portion of our revenues from a limited number of customers.

We have derived, and believe that we will continue to derive, a significant portion of our revenues
from a limited number of customers. To the extent that any significant client uses less of our services or
terminates its relationship with us, our revenues could decline significantly. As a result, the loss of any
significant client could seriously harm! our business. For the year ended December 31, 2005, we had two
customers which comprised 26.3% an;l 9.0% of our revenues, respectively, and our five largest customers
accounted for approximately 49.0% of our total revenues. None of our customers are obligated to purchase
additional services from us. As a result, the volume of work that we perform for a specific client is likely to
vary from period to period, and a sugmﬁcant client in one period may not use our services in a subsequent

period.

Recent business acquisitions and potentlal future business acquisitions could be difficult to integrate,
disrupt our business, dilute stockholder valne and adversely affect our operating results.

We have completed several vaUIISIUOIlS of complimentary business in recent years, and we continually

evaluate opportunities to acquire new busmesses as part of our ongoing strategy. Our integration of
historical and future acquisitions will I’Fqull‘e significant management time and financial resources because
we will need to integrate dispersed operations with distinct corporate cultures. We also may continue to
expand our operations through busme‘ss acquisitions over time. Our failure to properly integrate businesses
we acquire and to manage future acqu1smons successfully could seriously harm our operating results. In
addition, acquired companies may not ‘perform as well as we expect, and we may fail to realize anticipated
benefits. We may issue common stock ﬁhat would dilute our current stockholders’ ownership and incur
debt and other costs in connection w1th future acquisitions which may cause our quarterly operating results
to vary significantly. In February 2004 e filed an acquisition shelf registration statement on Form S-4
that, subject to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, will enable us to
issue up to $200 million shares of our nipwly issued common stock in one or more acquisition transactions.
In addition, we currently have a $15 million senior credit facility with KeyBank National Association,

which can be expanded to a $60 million facility to fund future acquisitions.
The consolidation of equipment vendors or carriers could adversely impact our business.

Recently, the wireless telecommunications industry has been characterized by significant
consolidation activity including Cmgula“r s acquisition of AT&T Wireless, both of whom were significant
customers of ours, the merger between Wltel and Western Wireless and the merger between Sprint and
Nextel Communications. The consohdahon of equipment vendors or carriers could reduce the number of
our current or potential customers and increase the bargaining power of our remaining customers which

may adversely impact our business.

. . . . . .
If our customers do not receive sufficient financing or fail to pay us for services performed, our business
may be harmed.

A few of our customers rely upon outside financing to pay the costs of deploying their networks. These
customers may fail to obtain adequate financing or experience delays in receiving financing and they may
choose the services of our competitors if our competitors are willing and able to provide project financing.
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In addition, we have historically taken significant write-offs of our accounts receivable. While the vast
majority of our customers today are tier 1 carriers, large enterprises and the federal government, it is
possible that in some instances we may not receive payment for services we have already performed. If our
customers do not receive adequate financing or if we are required to write-off significant amounts of our
accounts receivables, then our net income will decline, and our business will be harmed.

We are in highly competitive markets, face competition from large, well-established competitors with
significant resources, and may not be able to compete effectively.

Each of the vertical markets that we compete in is highly competitive. If we fail to'‘compete
successfully against current or future competitors, our business, financial condition and operating results
may be harmed. We expect competition to continue and intensify in the future. We cannot be certain that
we will be able to compete successfully with existing or new competitors.

Many of our current competitors have significantly greater financial, technical and marketing
resources, generate greater revenues and have greater name recognition and experience than we do. This
may place us at a disadvantage in responding to our competitors’ pricing strategies, technological advances,
advertising campaigns, strategic partnerships and other initiatives. In addition, many of our competitors
have well-established relationships with our potential clients and have extensive knowledge of our industry.
As a result, our competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and
changes in customer requirements, and they may be able to devote more resources to the development,
promotion and sale of their services than we can.

Our quarterly results fluctuate and may cause our stock price to decline.

Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated in the past and will likely fluctuate in the future. As a
result, we believe that period to period comparisons of our results of operations are not a good indication
of our future performance. A number of factors, many of which are outside of our control, are likely to
cause these fluctuations. Some of these factors include:

¢ telecommunications market conditions and economic conditions generally;

o the timing and size of network deployments and technology upgrades by our carrier customers;
¢ fluctuations in demand for outsourced network services;

o the timing of expansion into new markets, both domestically and internationally;

e the success of our international business operations;

s changes in our effective tax rate including changes in our judgment as to the necessity of the
valuation allowance recorded against our deferred tax asset;

e the length of sales cycles;

e the ablhty of certain customers to sustain capital resources to pay their trade accounts recelvable
balances and required changes to our allowance for doubtful accounts based on periodic
assessments of the collectibility of our accounts receivable balances;

¢ reductions in the prices of services offered by our competitors;
¢ our success in bidding on and winning new business;

¢ changes in the actual and estimated costs and time to complete fixed-price, time-certain projects
that may result in revenue adjustments for contracts where revenue is recognized under the
percentage of completion method;

e our sales, marketing, and administrative cost structure; and

e costs of integrating businesses that we acquire.




Because our operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter, our operating results

I

may not meet the expectations of securities analysts and investors, and our common stock could decline

l

significantly which may expose us to risks of securities litigation, impair our ability to attract and retain

qualified individuals using equity inc‘lentives and make it more difficult to complete acquisitions using

equity as consideration.
Our business is dependent upon our

The market for our services is cb[
to respond in a timely and cost-effecti

ability to keep pace with the latest technological changes.

aracterized by rapid change and technological improvements. Failure
Ive way to these technological developments will result in serious

harm to our business and operating r‘esults We have derived, and we expect to continue to derive, a
substantial portion of our revenues from creating wireless networks that are based upon today’s leading

technologies and that are capable of I

in part, on our ability to develop and |

adapting to future technologies. As a result, our success will depend,
market service offerings that respond in a timely manner to the

technological advances of our customers, evolving industry standards and changing client preferences.

Failure to properly manage projects

may result in costs or claims.

Our wireless network engagemexvlts often involve large scale, highly complex projects. The quality of
our performance on such projects depends in large part upon our ability to manage the relationship with
our customers, and to effectively manage the project and deploy appropriate resources, including

|

third-party contractors, and our own personnel, in a timely manner. Any defects or errors or failure to

meet clients’ expectations could result

in claims for substantial damages against us. Our contracts generally

. N J . - L .
limit our liability for damages that arise from negligent acts, error, mistakes or omissions in rendering

[

services to our clients. However, we cannot be sure that these contractual provisions will protect us from

liability for damages in the event we “

are sued. In addition, in certain instances, we guarantee customers

that we will complete a project by a sc\heduled date or that the network will achieve certain performance
standards. If the project or network experiences a performance problem, we may not be able to recover the

[

additional costs we will incur, which could exceed revenues realized from a project. Finally, if we

|

underestimate the resources or time we need to complete a project with capped or fixed fees, our
operating results could be seriously harmed.

In addition, a majority of our enterprise businesses and additional significant deployment projects are

I

located in the southeastern United States, an area which is susceptible to hurricanes. In late summer 2005,
Hurricane Katrina and Hurricane thg struck the Gulf Coast region of the United States, resulting in labor
and material shortages in the area. Although we expect certain delays and increased cost estimates in our
deployment business for both camers\land enterprise customers as a result of the rebuilding effort in the

wake of the 2005 hurricanes, we are ur
operating results.

nable to predict with certainty the extent of the impact on our

QOur failure to attract and retain key managerial, technical, selling and marketing personnel could

adversely affect our business.

Our success depends upon our at

tracting and retaining key members of our management team. The

loss of any of our key members might delay or prevent the achievement of our strategic objectives. Our

future performance will be substantial
members of our management team.

y dependent on our ability to attract, retain and motivate key

We must also continue to hire ancml retain additional highly skilled engineering, managerial, business
development and sales personnel. In an effort to manage our costs, it is our policy to hire many of our

employees on a project-by-project basis. Upon completion of an assigned project, the employees are no
longer employed by us until we elect to hire them for the next project. Competition for such highly skilled

personnel in our industry is intense, es
certain that we will be able to hire or r

pecially for engineers and project managers, and we cannot be
e-hire sufficiently qualified personnel in adequate numbers to meet
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the demand for our services. We also believe that our success depends to a significant extent on the ability
of our key personnel to operate effectively, both individually and as a group. If we are unable to identify,
hire and integrate new employees in a timely and cost-efficient manner, our operating results will suffer.

Our failure to maintain appropriate staffing levels could adversely affect our business.

We cannot be certain that we will be able to hire the requisite number of experienced and skilled
personnel when necessary in order to service a major contract, particularly if the market for related
personnel becomes more competitive. Conversely, if we maintain or increase our staffing levels in
anticipation of one or more projects and the projects are delayed, reduced or terminated, we may
underutilize the additional personnel, which would increase our general and administrative expenses,
reduce our earnings and possibly harm our results of operations. If we are unable to obtain major contracts
or effectively complete such contracts due to staffing deficiencies, our revenues may decline and our
business may be harmed.

Government regulations could restrict our ability to hire employees or to utilize employees effectively.

As of December 31, 2005, approximately 176 or 8% of our employees in the United States were
working under H-1B visas. H-1B visas are a special class of nonimmigrant working visas for qualified aliens
working in specialty occupations, including, for example, radio frequency engineers. The H-1B program
refers to a provision of the United States Immigration and Nationality Act that allows highly skilled
foreigners to work in the United States for as long as six years. Current law limits the number of foreign
workers who may be issued a visa or otherwise be provided H-1B status to 65,000, plus 20,000 additional
numbers for the U.S. advanced degree exception through 2005.

Immigration policies are subject to rapid change, and these policies have become more stringent since
the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001. Any additional significant changes in immigration law or
regulations may further restrict our ability to continue to employ or to hire new workers on H-1B visas and
otherwise restrict our ability to utilize our existing employees as we see fit, and, therefore, could harm our
business.

International uncertainties and fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies could harm our
profitability. :

We currently have international operations, including offices in Brazil, China, India, the United
Kingdom, Sweden and Turkey. For the year ended December 31, 2005, international operations, excluding
discontinued operations, accounted for approximately 10% of our total revenues. Our international
business operations are subject to a number of material risks, including, but not limited to:

o difficulties in building and managing foreign operations including, without limitation, management
and contracts administration processes;

o regulatory uncertainties in foreign countries, including changing regulations and delays in licensing
carriers to build out their networks in various locations;

o difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through foreign legal systems and
addressing other legal issues;

¢ unexpected restrictions on transferring cash from foreign operations to the U.S.;

e longer payment cycles;

. foreign and U.S. taxation issues;

¢ potential weaknesses in foreign economies, particularly in Europe and Latin and South America;

¢ fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies;




¢ general economic and political conditions in the markets in which we operate; and

¢ unexpected domestic and inter?ational regulatory, economic or political changes.

Our significant international subs;idiaries (i.e., Brazil and the United Kingdom) procure certain
transactions that are denominated in U.S. dollars. Downward fluctuations in the value of foreign
currencies, compared to the U.S. dolla}{r, may make our services more expensive than local service offerings
in international locations. This would Iﬁnake our service offerings less price competitive than local service
offerings, which could harm our business. To date, our experience with this foreign currency risk has
predominately related to the Brazilian“ Real and Mexican Peso (in our discontinued business). In addition,
we also conduct business in British Pound Sterling, Chinese Renminbi, Indian Rupee, Euro, Swedish
Krona and Turkish Lira. We do not cdlrrently engage in currency hedging activities to limit the risks of
currency fluctuations. Therefore, ﬂuctij‘lations in foreign currencies could have a negative impact on the
profitability of our global operations, which would harm our financial results.

|

Payment for the sale of our operations in Mexico was made in part by a promissory note, which could be
placed into default in the event of non-payment by the buyer.

As part of the sales price of the Company’s subsidiaries in Mexico, the Company received a $16.5
million promissory note from the buye;‘r. Although the note is secured by a pledge of assets and a personal
guaranty, the buyer could default on tl%e note. If upon the execution of the pledges on the assets and the
personal guaranty, there were insufficient funds for a full payment of the note, the Company would incur a
loss on the transaction. :

Future changes in financial accountins‘g standards may cause adverse unexpected revenue fluctuations and
affect our reported results of operations.

A change in accounting standards|could have a significant effect on our reported results and may even
affect our reporting of transactions completed before the change is effective. In December 2004, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board“\ issued Statement of Accounting Standards No.123 (revised 2004)
“Share-Based Payment” (SFAS No. 123R), a revision of FASB Statement 123 Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, which requires that con#panies record compensation expense in the statement of operations
for employee stock options using the fzﬁir value method. Implementation of this statement as required
during the first quarter of 2006 may ha‘ve a significant negative effect on our reported results and may
impair our ability to use equity compensation to attract and retain skilled personnel. New pronouncements
and varying interpretations of pronouncements have occurred and may occur in the future. Changes to
existing rules or the questioning of current practices may adversely affect our reported financial results or

the way we conduct our business.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our
financial results or prevent fraud. We have reported material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting that, if we do not substantially remedy, could result in material misstatements in our
financial statements, cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information and have a
negative effect on the trading price of (T‘ur stock.

As described in Item 9A of this Réport, we have restated our previously issued financial statements
for the quarters ended July 1, 2005 and‘ September 30, 2005 to reflect the accounting impact of the

cancellation of sites by one of our customers in Mexico in those periods. The Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board’s auditing standards ﬁ:rovide that a restatement is a strong indicator of a material
weakness. Accordingly, we determined|that due to the lack of time available to assess the operating
effectiveness of remediated entity level‘l controls at the Mexico operations, and the fact that full transaction
details that led us to restate previously issued financial statements were not discovered until after our fiscal
year end, this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness in our internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31, 2005. In ;\aarticular, the Company’s entity level controls surrounding the

|
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control environment at the Mexico subsidiary and the timely and accurate communication of information
to executive management were not operating effectively. In connection with management’s assessment of
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, management also concluded that a
material weakness in internal control over financial reporting existed because we were unable to recruit
and retain a sufficient number of finance and accounting personnel to support compliance with our
financial reporting requirements. As a result of this weakness, we have made adjustments to our previously
published unaudited operating results for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2005 in our earnings
release and our Current Report on-Form 8-K. The specific adjustments are disclosed in Item 9A of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The differences from the reported numbers were substantially all related to
our discontinued operations in Mexico, and were primarily related to non-cash adjustments such as an
impairment for deferred tax assets as well as the impairment of accumulated foreign currency translation
losses of our discontinued operations. These adjustments were primarily triggered as a result of the
disposal of our operation in Mexico. A material weakness, by itself or in combination with other control
deficiencies, resuits in a more than remote likelihood that a material misstatement in our financial
statements will not be prevented or detected by our employees in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions. ‘

In addition, from time to time we acquire businesses which could have limited infrastructure and
systems of internal controls. Performing assessments of internal controls, implementing necessary changes,
and maintaining an effective internal controls process is costly and requires considerable management
attention, particularly in the case of newly acquired entities. Internal control systems are designed in part
upon assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and all such systems, however well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the system are
met. Because of these and other inherent limitations of control systems, there can be no assurance that any
design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

We also cannot assure you that we will implement and maintain adequate controls over our financial
processes and reporting in the future or that additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in
our internal controls will not be discovered in the future. Any failure to remediate any future material
weaknesses or implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their
implementation, could harm our operating results, cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations or
result in material misstatements in our financial statements or other public disclosures. Inferior internal
controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could
have a negative effect on the trading price of our stock.

Compliance with changing regulation of corporate governance and public disclosure may result in
additional expenses.

Changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure,
including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, SEC regulations and NASDAQ Stock Market rules, are creating
uncertainty for companies such as ours. We are committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance and public disclosure. As a result, we intend to invest appropriate resources to comply with
evolving standards, which may continue to result in increased general and administrative expenses and a
diversion of management time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities.

If our officers, directors and principal stockholders choose to act together, they may be able to exert
significant influence over our management and operations, acting in their best interests and not in the
best interests of other stockholders.

As of December 31, 2005, our executive officers and directors and their affiliates beneficially owned,
in the aggregate, approximately 38.8% of our outstanding common stock, after giving effect to the
conversion of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. In particular, our Chairman Masood K. Tayebi,
beneficially owned, approximately 9.7% of our outstanding common stock. 8.7% of our outstanding
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common stock is beneficially owned by certain of our other officers and directors and their affiliates. The
remaining 20.4% is beneficially owned by other members of the Tayebi family. As a result, the executive

officers, directors and their afflhates‘

re able to collectively exercise significant influence over matters

requiring stockholder approval, such\as the election of directors and the approval of significant corporate
transactions. The interests of this group of stockholders may not always coincide with our interests or the
interests of other stockholders, and they may act in a manner that advances their best interests and not

necessarily those of other stockholder

s. As a result of their actions or inactions our stock price may decline.

We may need additional capital in the future to fund the grbwth of our business, and financing may not be

available.

We currently anticipate that our
meet our expected working capital an
However, we cannot assure you that s
business. In particular, we may experi
project timelines in certain of our con
or equity financings if such financings
$15 million senior credit facility up to

|

available capital resources and operating income will be sufficient to

d capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months. -

such resources will be sufficient to fund the long-term growth of our
ence a negative operating cash flow due to billing milestones and

tracts. We may raise additional funds through public or private debt
become available on favorable terms or we may expand our current
$60 million to fund future acquisitions. We also filed a universal

shelf registration statement on Form S 3. Under this shelf registration statement, we may sell, in one or
more public offerings, shares of newly issued common stock or preferred stock, warrants or debt securities,

or any combination of such securities|

for proceeds in an aggregate amount of up to $200 million. Such

financing or offerings would likely dﬂ}[lte our stockholders’ equity ownership. In addition, we cannot assure
you that any additional financing we may need will be available on terms favorable to us, or at all. If
adequate funds are not available or are not available on acceptable terms, we may not be able to take

advantage of unanticipated opportunities, develop new products or otherwise respond to competitive

pressures. In any such case, our busin
adversely affected.

Litigation may harm our business or

I
€SS, 0

perating results or f1nanc1al condition could be materially

otherwise distract our management.

Substantial, complex or extended litigation could cause us to incur large expenditures and distract our

management. For example, lawsuits by employees, stockholders or customers could be very costly and
substantially disrupt our business. Dlsputes from time to time with such companies or individuals are not
uncommon, and we cannot assure you that that we will always be able to resolve such disputes on terms

favorable to us.

In addition, we and certain of our current and former officers and directors have been named

1

defendants in class action and derivative lawsuits. While we believe that allegations lack merit and we

intend to vigorously defend all claims

may be. We may be required to pay jd
matters in aggregate amounts that cou

results of operations and cash flows.

Disclosure of trade secrets could aid o

We attempt to protect our trade s
assignment agreements with third parti

be breached and, if they are, there ma;

” asserted, we are unable to estimate what our liability in these matters

dgments or settlements and incur expenses in connection with such
1d have a material adverse effect on our business financial condition,

ur competitors.

ecrets by entering into confidentiality and intellectual property
ies, our employees and consultants. However, these agreements can
y not be an adequate remedy available to us. In addition, others may

independently discover our trade secréts and proprietary information, and in such cases we could not

assert any trade secret rights against st

using our trade secrets is difficult, exp

trade secrets become known we may I

ich party. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally obtained and is
ensive and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. If our
se our competitive position. '
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Our stock price may be volatile, which may result in lawsuits against us and our officers and directors.

The stock market in general, and the stock prices of technology and telecommunications companies in
particular, have experienced volatility that has often been unrelated to or disproportionate to the operating
performance of those companies. The market price of our common stock has fluctuated in the past and is
likely to fluctuate in the future. Factors which could have a significant impact on the market price of our
common stock include, but are not limited to, the following:

¢ quarterly variations in operating results;

s announcements of new services by us or our competitors;

» the gain or loss of significant customers;

o changes in analysts’ earnings estimates;

e rumors or dissemination of false information;

e pricing pressures;

¢ impact of litigation;

o short selling of our common stock;

e general conditions in the market;

s political and/or military events associated with current worldwide conflicts; and
s cvents affecting other companies that investors deem comparable to us.

Companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have frequently been the
object of securities class action litigation. We and certain of our current and former officers and directors
have been named defendants in class action and derivative lawsuits. These matters, and any other
securities class action litigation in which we may be involved, could result in substantial costs to us and a
diversion of our management’s attention and resources, which could materially harm our financial
condition and results of operations. "

Our charter documents and Delaware law may deter potential acquirers and may depress our stock price.

Certain provisions of our charter documents and Delaware law, as well as certain agreements we have
with our executives, could make it substantially more difficult for a third party to acquire control of us.
These provisions include:

e authorizing the board of directors to issue preferred stock;
¢ prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors;
¢ prohibiting stockholder action by written consent;

¢ establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or
for proposing matters that can be acted on by stockholders at meetings of our stockholders;

e Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits us from engaging in a
business combination with an interested stockholder unless specific conditions are met; and

¢ anumber of our executives have agreements with us that entitle them to payments in certain
circumstances following a change in control.

In addition, on December 16, 2004, we adopted a stockholder rights plan (“Rights Plan”). Pursuant to
the Rights Plan, our Board of Directors declared a dividend distribution of one preferred share purchase




right (“Right”) on each outstanding share of our common stock. Each Right will entitle stockholders to
buy one one-hundredth of a share of ﬁewly created Series C Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $54,
subject to adjustment, in the event that the Rights become exercisable. Subject to limited exceptions, the
Rights will become exercisable if a person or group acquires 15% or more of our common stock or
announces a tender offer for 15% or more of the common stock. If we are acquired in a merger or other
business combination transaction whin:;:h has not been approved by our Board of Directors, each Right will
entitle its holder to purchase, at the R-‘ights then-current exercise price, a number of the acquiring
company’s common shares having a market value at the time of twice the Rights exercise price. These
provisions may discourage certain types of transactions involving an actual or potential change in control
and may limit our stockholders’ ability to approve transactions that they deem to be in their best interests.

As a result, these provisions may depfpss our stock price.
|

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2,  Properties

Our principal executive offices for all business segments are located in approximately 93,000 square
feet of office space in San Diego, California. The lease for such space expires in April 2010. Other
corporate resource offices are located)in the following locations: Marietta, Georgia; Newport, Delaware;
Houston, Texas; Reston, Virginia; Saq Paulo, Brazil; Stockholm, Sweden; City of Cordoba, Argentina;
London, U.K., Haryana, India and Beijing, China. The Company also leases office space to support
engineering and design and deployme"nt services in various regions throughout the United States. The
leases on these spaces expire at various times through February 2015. We continually evaluate our current
and future space capacity in relation to current and projected future staffing levels. We believe that our

.. s . I . .
existing facilities are suitable and adequate to meet our current business requirements.

!
\
Item 3.  Legal Proceedings }

Beginning in July 2001, the Company and certain of its former officers and directors (the
“Individuals”) were named as defenda(“nts in a series of class action shareholder complaints filed in the U.S.
District Court for the Southern Distrig‘t of New York, now consolidated into a single amended complaint
captioned In re Buy.com, Inc. Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, Case No. 01-CV-6323. In the
amended complaint, filed in April 2002, the plaintiffs allege that the Company, the Individuals, and the
underwriters of the Company’s initial public offering (“IPO”) violated Section 11 of the Securities Act of
1933 and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act of 1934 based on allegations that the Company’s registration
statement and prospectus failed to disé?:lose material facts regarding the compensation to be received by,
and the stock allocation practices of, the IPO underwriters. The complaint also contains claims against the
Individuals for control person liability ihnder Securities Act Section 15 and Exchange Act Section 20. The
plaintiffs sought unspecified monetary“damages and other relief. Similar complaints were filed in the same
Court against hundreds of other publi‘? companies (“Issuers”) and the underwriters (“Underwriters”) that
conducted IPOs of the Issuers’ common stock in the late 1990s or in the year 2000 (the “IPO Cases™).

In August 2001, all of the IPO Ca\’ses were consolidated for pretrial purposes before United States
Judge Shira Scheindlin of the Southerrjfl District of New York. In July 2002, the Company joined in a global
motion to dismiss the IPO Cases filed by all of the Issuers (among others). In October 2002, the Court
entered an order dismissing the Individuals from the IPO Cases without prejudice, pursuant to an
agreement tolling the statute of limitat‘i}ions with respect to the Individuals. In February 2003, the Court
issued a decision denying the motion to dismiss the Securities and Exchange Act Section 11 claims against
the Company and the Securities and E‘%change Act Section 10(b) claims against the Company.
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In June 2003, the Issuers reached a tentative settlement agreement with the plaintiffs that would result
in, among other things, (a) the dismissal with prejudice of all claims in the IPO Cases against the Issuers
and their officers and directors and (b) a guarantee from the insurers of the Issuers to the plaintiffs that, if
the plaintiffs recover less than $1 billion from the Underwriters in the IPO Cases, the insurers would pay
the difference between the actual recovery and $1 billion. In June 2004, the Company executed a final
settlement agreement with the plaintiffs. On February 15, 2005, the Court issued a decision certifying a
class action for settlement purposes, and granting preliminary approval of the settlement subject to
modification of certain bar orders contemplated by the settlement. On August 31, 2005, the Court
reaffirmed class certification and preliminary approval of the modified settlement in a comprehensive
Order. In addition, the Court approved the form of Notice to be sent to members of the settlement classes,
which was published and mailed beginning November 15, 2005. On February 24, 2006, the Court dismissed
litigation filed against certain underwriters in connection with the claims to be assigned to the plaintiffs
under the settlement. The Court has set a Final Settlement Fairness Hearing on the settlement for
April 24, 2006. In addition, the settlement is still subject to statutory notice requirements as well as final
judicial approval. The Company does not expect the settlement to have a material impact on its operations
or cash flow.

In August 2004, as a result of the Company’s announcement on August 4, 2004 that it intended to
restate its financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003, the
Company and certain of its current and former officers and directors were named as defendants
(“Defendants”) in several securities class action lawsuits filed in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of California. These actions were filed on behalf of those who purchased, or otherwise
acquired, the Company’s common stock between April 26, 2000 and August 4, 2004. The lawsuits generally
allege that, during that time period, Defendants made false and misleading statements to the investing
public about the Company’s business and financial results, causing its stock to trade at artificially inflated
levels. Based on these allegations, the lawsuits allege that Defendants violated the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, and the plaintiffs seek unspecified damages. These actions have been consolidated into a single
action in In re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Securities Litigation, Master File No. 04CV1589-JAH. The plaintiffs
filed their consolidated complaint in January 2005 and did not name the Company a defendant in that
complaint. After the individual defendants filed their motion to dismiss, the plaintiffs requested leave to
amend their complaint to add the Company as a defendant. Plaintiffs filed the First Amended
Consolidated Class Action Complaint on April 1, 2005. Defendants filed their motion to dismiss this first
amended complaint on April 14, 2005. The plaintiffs then requested leave to amend their first amended
complaint. The plaintiffs filed their second amended complaint on June 9, 2005, this time on behalf of
those who purchased, or otherwise acquired, the Company’s common stock between May 5, 2003 and
August 4, 2004. Defendants filed their motion to dismiss this second amended complaint on July 14, 2005.
The motion to dismiss was taken under submission on October 20, 2005 and on March 8, 2006, the Court
granted the Company’s motion. However, the plaintiffs were granted the right to amend their complaint
within 45 days. The Company believes that the allegations lack merit and intends to vigorously defend all
claims asserted. It is impossible at this time to assess whether or not the outcome of these proceedings will
or will not have a material adverse effect on the Company. We have not recorded any accrual for a
contingent liability associated with this legal proceeding based on our belief that a liability, while possible,
is not probable and any range of potential future charge cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

Two derivative lawsuits have been filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
California against certain of the Company’s current and former officers and directors: Pedicini v. Wireless
Facilities, Inc., Case No. 04CV1663; and Roth v. Wireless Facilities, Inc., Case No. 04CV1810. These actions
have been consolidated into a single action in In re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Derivative Litigation, Lead Case
No 04CV1663-JAH. The factual allegations in these lawsuits are substantially similar to those in the class
action lawsuits, but the plaintiffs in these lawsuits assert claims for breach of fiduciary duty, gross
mismanagement, abuse of control, waste of corporate assets, violation of Sarbanes Oxley Act Section 304,




unjust enrichment and insider tradiné.
equitable and/or injunctive relief. The

May 3, 2005, the defendants filed moti

of the consolidated non-derivative securities case pending in the Southern District of California, and to

dismiss the complaint against certain ’,‘pon-California resident defendants. The parties have agreed to
postpone any hearing on these motions until after limited discovery is completed regarding the motion to

dismiss the action against certain indi\“'/idual defendants based on lack of personal jurisdiction. This

discovery is currently expected to be c‘jompleted by the end of March 2006, although the parties are
currently negotiating an extension of this time period until June 14, 2006. The Company believes that the

allegations lack merit and intends to V]“i

assess whether or not the outcome of “}

the Company. We have not recorded any accrual for a contingent liability associated with this legal

proceeding based on our belief that a ?
future charge cannot be reasonably est

In August and September 2004, two virtually identical derivative lawsuits were filed in California
Superior Court for San Diego County”a

directors. These actions contain factuaul

in these cases assert claims for violation
abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment. The plaintiffs in

these actions seek unspecified damagej}

benefits and other compensation obtai

]

the federal derivative lawsuits and there will be a hearing in April 2006 to evaluate the status of this case.
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The Company believes that the allegations lack merit and intends to vigorously defend all claims asserted.
It is impossible at this time to assess whether or not the outcome of these proceedings will or will not have
a material adverse effect on the Company. We have not recorded any accrual for a contingent liability

associated with this legal proceeding based on our belief that a liability, while possible, is not probable and

any range of potential future charge ca

On January 19, 2005, the Compan
division initiated an arbitration procee
from ENS. The amount in controversy|
upon motion by the selling shareholde
shareholder to seek early payment of t

agreement. In this arbitration proceedi
approximately $5.0 million. The arbitra

2006. The Company is disputing the se

an earn-out payment and, if a payment

the arbitrator in the case ruled that if t
be limited to the amount calculated ba
Company estimates the total potential
other things, contingent consideration,

approximately $0.8 million as of December 30, 2005 and does not believe any additional adjustment will be
necessary. Refer to Note 5 for further discussion regarding contingent consideration.

In addition to the foregoing matters, from time to time, the Company may become involved in various
lawsuits and legal proceedings that aris

inherent uncertainties, and an adverse

:—————

ined by defendants. These lawsuits have been consolidated into one
action in In re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Qeﬁvative Litigation, California Superior Court, San Diego County,
Lead Case No. GIC 834253. The plaiqtiffs filed a Consolidated Shareholder Derivative Complaint on
October 14, 2004. This action has been stayed pending a decision in federal court on a motion to dismiss
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result in these or other matters may arise from time to time that

23




may harm the Company’s business. The Company is currently not aware of any such legal proceedings or
claims that we believe will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse affect on our business,
financial condition or operating results.

Itemd4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.




Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Com

Securities

Market Information

PART II
mon Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Our Common Stock is listed on the NASDAQ National Market System, under the symbol “WFII”

and has traded since November 5, 199

The following table sets forth the

9.

high and low sales prices for our Common Stock for the periods

indicated, as reported by NASDAQ. Such quotation represents inter-dealer prices without retail markup,

i
markdown or commission and may no

Year Ended December 31, 2005:
Fourth Quarter
Third Quarter ..................
Second Quarter
First Quarter....................

Year Ended December 31, 2004:
Fourth Quarter
Third Quarter ..................
Second Quarter
First Quarter

On March 30, 2006, the last sale |
share. On March 30, 2006, there were

t necessarily represent actual transactions.

High Low
............................................. $ 686 $ 5.10
............................................. $ 667 $ 495
............................................. $ 643 § 5.13
............................................. $ 954 $ 625
............................................. $10.00 $ 6.83
o, $ 974 $ 461
............................................. $11.86 $ 858
............................................. $18.44 $10.41

orice of our Common Stock as reported by NASDAQ was $4.06 per

\‘269 shareholders of record of our Common Stock.

We have not declared any cash dividends since becoming a public company. We currently intend to

retain any future earnings to finance tﬁle growth and development of the business and, therefore, do not
anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay cash

dividends will be at the discretion of o

financial condition, results of operatio‘\

I

ur Board of Directors and will be dependent upon the future
ns, capital requirements, general business conditions and other

relevant factors as determined by our Board of Directors.

On December 16, 2004, we adopt\
Plan, our Board of Directors declared

(“Right”) on each outstanding share o

one-hundredth of a share of newly cre

) . .
adjustment, in the event that the ngh‘

become exercisable if a person or grou
tender offer for 15% or more of the cg

combination transaction which has no

holder to purchase, at the Right’s then

common shares having a market value

ed a stockholder rights plan (“Rights Plan”). Pursuant to the Rights
a dividend distribution of one preferred share purchase right

”f our common stock. Each Right will entitle stockholders to buy one
ated Series C Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $54, subject to
ts become exercisable. Subject to limited exceptions, the Rights will
p acquires 15% or more of our common stock or announces a
mmon stock. If we are acquired in a merger or other business

t been approved by our Board of Directors, each Right will entitle its
-current exercise price, a number of the acquiring company’s

at the time of twice the Right’s exercise price.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2005 was as follows:

Number of Securities

to be Issued Upon Weighted Average
Exercise of Exercise Price of Number of Securities
Outstanding Options,  Outstanding Options, Remaining Available
Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights for Future Issuance
Equity Compensation Plans Approved
by Shareholders(1) ...............cc.... 10,012,709 $6.46 5,199,658(3)
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved :
by Shareholders(2) . .......c.oevveenn.... 3,195,167 $5.54 347,654
13,207,876 5,547,312

(1) Includes 1997 Stock Option Plan, 1999 and 2005 Equity Incentive Plan and 1999 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan

(2) Includes 2000 Non-Statutory Stock Option Plan
(3) Includes 351,811 shares reserved for issuance under the suspended Employee Stock Purchase Plan

For more detailed information regarding our equity compensation plans, see Note 10 to our
consolidated financial statements. '




Item 6.  Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolldatcﬁd financial data should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto and with “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” which are incorporated in Item 7 or included

elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of

operating results to be expected in the‘

In December 2005, our Board of I
South American deployment businesse

future.

been reflected as discontinued operations for all years presented.

Consolidated Statements of Operation
Financial Data:
Revenues ............. ..o
Grossprofit .....................
Operating income (loss)...........
Provision (benefit) for income taxes

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations

Net income (loss)

Income (loss) from continuing operati
common share

Income (loss) from discontinued operati

common share
BasiC ..oovii e
Diluted

Net income (loss) per common share
BasiC.....ooovii i
Diluted

Weighted average shares:
Basic

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Working capital
Totalassets........covvunvvninn
Totaldebt.......................
Total stockholders’ equity

..................
...........
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Year Ended December 31,

Directors made the decision to exit the Company’s Mexican and
s. Accordingly, all results of operations for these businesses have

2001

2002 2003 2004

2005

(All amounts except per share data in millions)

$162.7 $1704 $2285 $3342 $3753
$ 507 $547 $ 666 § 712 §$ 843
$(68.8) $(27.9) $ 137 $ (1.9) $ 17.1
$(19.0) $11.0 $ (04) $ 01 §$ 54
$(57.7) $(403) $ 143 §$ (4.4) $ 114
$(121) $(17.4) $ (48) $ 94 $ (7.7)
$(69.8) $(738) $ 95 § 50 $ 37
$(1.26) $(0.84) $ 021 $(0.07) $ 0.15
$(1.26) $(0.84) $ 020 $(0.07) $ 0.15
$(026) $(0.36) $(0.07) $ 0.14 $(0.10)
$(0.26) $(0.36) $(0.07) $ 0.14 $(0.10)
$(1.52) $(1.53) $ 014 $ 007 $ 0.05
$(1.52) $(1.53) $ 0.13 §$ 007 $ 0.05
45.9 48.1 . 68.4 67.7 74.0
45.9 48.1 73.3 67.7 75.3
As of December 31,
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
(All amounts in millions)

$ 609 $ 981 §$ 768 §$ 520 $ 129
$ — $ — $351 8% 76 § —
$ 852 $1151 $1459 §$ 997 $ 737
$264.9 $2203 $2793 $330.7 $336.3
$421 $ 29 $ 07 $ 02 §$ 07
$178.5 $153.7 $2053 $220.7 $2303



Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”)
Overview

We are an independent provider of outsourced communications and security systems engineering and
integration services for the wireless communications industry through our Wireless Network Services
division (“WNS”), the U.S. government through our Government Network Services division (“GNS”), and
enterprise customers through our Enterprise Network Services division (“ENS”). The principal services we
provide include, but are not limited to, the design, deployment, integration, and the overall management of
communications, information technology, and security networks. Our work for the wireless
communications industry primarily involves radio frequency engineering, site development, project
management and the installation of radio equipment networks. We also provide network management
services, which involve day-to-day optimization and maintenance of wireless networks. Qur work for the
federal government primarily involves systems engineering, systems integration, and the outsourcing of
technical services such as operational test and evaluation and program management. We also provide
services in the areas of mission assurance, product and process validation and verification, and software
and applications development. Our work for enterprise customers primarily involves the design,
deployment, and integration of security and other in-building systems including access control and
intrusion detection and is focused on opportunities to integrate wireless technology into enterprise
networks, especially physical and electronic security systems and voice and data networks.

In December 2005, our Board of Directors made the decision to exit our Mexican operations and
certain of our other deployment businesses in South America. Prior to this decision, these operations had
been reported in our Wireless Network Services segment. We determined that these operations meet the
criteria to be classified as held for sale. Accordingly, we have reflected these operations as discontinued in
accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” Our
South American deployment operations were substantially shut down as of the end of December 2005.

On February 17, 2006, we entered into a definitive agreement to divest all of our operations in Mexico
for total approximate cash consideration of $18 million, payable in installments, subject to adjustment,
which approximates the net book value of the operations, including $13.2 million of liabilities associated
with a loss contingency. The transaction occurred on March 10, 2006. The transaction is structured as a
sale of our subsidiaries in Mexico, and the purchase price consists of $1.5 million in cash paid on
February 17, 2006, plus a secured promissory note in the principal amount of $16.5 million payable in
installments through December 31, 2006, subject to adjustment. The note is secured by pledges of assets
and a personal guaranty.

In making this decision, our Board of Directors considered a number of business factors occurring in
the region to arrive at the conclusion that the divesture was in the best interests of the shareholders. The
benefits associated with this transaction will improve our free cash flow, improve overall liquidity, and
allow us to focus more of our resources on our domestic operations, including investing in the growth of
our government business.

The decision to divest the Mexican operations was prompted by the changing business climate in
Mexico and a review of the strategic alternatives for our free cash flow. Unfavorable contractual terms
recently proposed by our largest customer in Mexico would further increase the extensive working capital
required to operate a Mexican deployment company while pricing pressure threatens to adversely affect
the future profitability of the Mexican operations. Further, the recent refinements of the cell site build
plans by our largest customers have resulted in the cancellation of a number of sites that we were building
in Mexico and certain South American locations. This resulted in a write-off of unrecoverable expenses of
approximately $5.0 million in 2005, for which we have not been able to negotiate any termination
settlements with our customers to offset these costs.

28




The purchaser, Sakoki LLC, is a newly-formed entity controlled by Massih Tayebi. Although Massih
Tayebi has no current role with us, he‘ was one of our co-founders, having served as Chief Executive Officer
from inception in 1994 through September 2000, and as a director from inception through April 2002. In
addition, Massih Tayebi owns or controls approximately 11% of the total voting power of our capital stock.
He is also the brother of Masood Tayeb1 our Chairman of the Board of Directors. Masood Tayebi has no
personal financial interest in the tran[sactlon and will have no role with the entity that is purchasing the
Mexico operations. The transaction was approved by the disinterested members of our Board of Directors

after consideration of other expresmé‘ms of interest and a valuation analysis by an independent firm.

Wireless Network Services contracts are primarily fixed price contracts whereby revenue is recognized
using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting under the provisions of Statement of Position
(SOP) 81-1, “Accounting for Perforrrulance of Construction Type and Certain Production Type Contracts.”
For contracts offered on a time and expense basis, we recognize revenues as services are performed. We
typically charge a fixed monthly fee for ongoing radio frequency optimization and network operations and
maintenance services. With respect t(v) these services, we recognize revenue as services are performed. Qur
Government Network Services busm%ss with the U.S. government and prime contractors is generally
performed under cost reimbursable, fixed price or time and materials contracts. Cost reimbursable
contracts for the government provide\
reimbursable contracts include incentive fees that are awarded based on performance on the contract.
Under fixed-price contracts, we agreél to perform certain work for a fixed price. Under time and materials
contracts, we are reimbursed for labor hours at negotiated hourly billing rates and reimbursed for travel

and other direct expenses at actual costs plus applied general and administrative expenses.

|

Cost of revenues includes direct compensatxon living, travel and benefit expenses for project-related
personnel, payments to third-party sub contractors, project-related incentive compensation based upon the
successful achievement of certain prOJect performance goals, allocation of corporate overhead costs of
expendable computer software and equipment, and other direct project-related expenses. Direct
compensation and benefits are complited based on standard costs and actual hours billed. We review and
adjust these standard costs periodically to ensure they are comparable to actual costs.

H

Selling, general and administrative expenses include compensation and benefits for corporate service
employees and similar costs for billable employees whose time and expenses cannot be assigned to a
project (underutilization costs), expendable computer software and equipment, facilities expenses and

|

other operating expenses not directly {elated and /or allocated to projects. General and administrative

costs include all corporate and admmlustratlve functions that support existing. operatxons and provide
infrastructure to facilitate our future growth Additionally, our sales personnel and senior corporate
executives have, as part of their compensation packages, periodic and annual bonus/commission incentives

based on the attainment of specified p Jerformance goals.

Management currently considers the following events, trends and uncertainties to be important to
understanding its financial condition a‘[nd operating performance:
s We believe there remain sxgmﬁ’cant opportunities for us to grow our Wireless Network Services
business in the United States. These opportunities include 3G technology upgrades by the major
U.S. carriers, network integration activities related to the AT&T/Cingular merger, spectrum
clearing and frequency realignment activities related to the reallocation of licenses in the 800

megahertz frequencies, continued progress on new site deployment contracts already in backlog,

and continued diversification Ato the market for engineering services related to new technologies

such as Internet Protocol (IP) and WiMAX.

H

¢ Revenues and profit in the short term will also be negatively impacted by delays and increased cost
estimates in our domestic deployment business for both carrier and enterprise customers, in part as
a result of the effects of labor and material shortages in the southeastern U.S. stemming from the
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recent hurricanes. We are seeing significant short-term impacts to our business from higher costs of
both raw materials and subcontracted construction related labor.

‘¢ We believe technology upgrades in our Government Network Services segment as a result of '
increased homeland security and military transformation efforts combined with continued
momentum in our logistics and RFID business should continue to fuel demand for our services.

¢ We also believe our enterprise network services segment will continue to be a driver for growth. We
believe the rapidly growing municipal wireless market should provide us with new revenue opportunities.

¢ Our tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2005 was a provision of $5.4 million, or an
effective rate of 32%, on income from continuing operations of $16.8 million. The effective tax rate
for the year ended December 31,2005 was negatively impacted by certain losses from foreign
operations for which no tax benefit has been recorded and the $2.1 million reduction of our
contingent acquisition accrual which were more than offset by the reduction of our valuation
allowance accounts related to the Company’s U.S. deferred tax assets. Since the contingent
acquisition accrual has been classified as a capital transaction for tax purposes no tax expense has
been recognized with respect to the reduction in the accrual.

Critical Accounting Principles and Estimates

We have identified the following critical accounting policies that affect our more significant judgments

and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. The preparation of our
financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and _
liabilities, stockholders’ equity, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities. On a periodic basis, as deemed necessary, we evaluate our estimates. We explain these
accounting policies in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and at relevant sections in this
discussion and analysis. These estimates are based on the information that is currently available and on
various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual resulits could
vary from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Revenue recognition. 'We derive a significant percentage of our revenue from long-term contracts and
account for these contracts under the provisions of Statement of Position 81-1, “Accounting for
Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts.” Revenue on time and
materials contracts is recognized as services are rendered at contracted labor rates plus material and other
direct costs incurred. The portion of our revenue derived from fixed price contracts accounted for
approximately 59% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2005. Revenue on fixed price
contracts generally is recognized using the percentage-of-completion method based on the ratio of total
costs incurred to date compared to estimated total costs to complete the contract, which the Company
believes is the best measure of progress toward completion. Estimates of costs to complete include
material, direct labor, overhead, and allowable general and administrative expenses for our government
contracts. These cost estimates are reviewed and, if necessary, revised monthly on a contract-by-contract
basis. If, as a result of this review, we determine that a loss on a contract is probable,‘ then the full amount
of estimated loss is charged to operations in the period it is determined that it is probable a loss will be
realized from the full performance of the contract. Significant management judgments and estimates, -
including but not limited to the estimated costs to complete projects, must be made and used in connection
with the revenue recognized in any accounting period. The revenue we recognize in a given reporting
period depends on: (1) the costs we have incurred for individual projects; (2) our then current estimate of
the total remaining costs to complete individual projects; and (3) the current estimated contract value
associated with the projects. In our wireless network services business, the estimated contract value and
costs are impacted by the estimated number and mix of site types that we may be assigned. If, in any
period, we increase or decrease our estimate of the total costs to complete a project, and/or reduce or
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increase the associated estimated contract value, revenue for that period would be impacted. As a result,
our gross margin in such period and in future periods may be affected. To the extent that our estimates
fluctuate over time or differ from actnal results, gross margins in subsequent periods may vary s1gn1f1cantly
from our estimates. Material dlfferences may result in the amount and timing of our revenue for any

period if management made different judgments or utilized different estimates.

H

A cancellation, schedule delay or modification of a fixed price contract which is accounted for using
the percentage-of-completion rnethod may adversely affect our gross margins for the period in which the
contract is modified, delayed or cancé}lled Under certain circumstances, a cancellation or negative
modification could result in us havmg to reverse revenue that we recognized in a prior period, thus
significantly reducing the amount of rvvenues we recognize for the period in which the adjustment is made.
Correspondingly, a positive modification may positively affect our gross margins. In addition, a schedule
delay or modifications can result in an increase in estimated cost to complete the project, which would also
result in an impact to our gross margin.

In addition, many of our contract”s include milestone billings. If a contract is terminated or if the scope
of a contract changes prior to a milestone billing, the amount of revenue we recognize may change, based

upon the specific termination clauses :Pf the contract, which would affect our revenue and gross margin in
the period in which the contract is terminated or the scope is changed.

Allowance for doubtful accounts. | We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated

losses resulting from the potential inaFility of certain customers to make required future payments on
amounts due to us. Management determines the adequacy of this allowance by periodically evaluating the

aging and past due nature of 1nd1v1duéul customer accounts receivable balances and considering the
customer’s current financial situation as well as the existing industry economic conditions and other
relevant factors that would be useful thards assessing the risk of collectibility. If the future financial
condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in their inability to make specific required
payments, additions to the allowance fwor doubtful accounts may be required. In addition, if the financial :
condition of our customers improves and collections of amounts outstanding commence or are reasonably
assured, then we may reverse previous‘ly established allowances for doubtful accounts. Changes to
estimates of contract value are record%d as adjustments to revenue and not as a component of the

allowance for doubtful accounts. We \lete -off accounts receivable when they become uncollectible and

payments subsequently received on such receivables are credited to the allowance for doubtful accounts.

Valuation of long-lived assets including intangible assets and goodwill. 'We recorded goodwill and
finite-life intangible assets resulting from the recently and previously completed acquisitions. Management
assesses the impairment of identifiable% finite-life intangibles, long-lived assets and related goodwill
whenever events or changes in c1rcum:‘3‘tances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable, but
at a minimum on an annual basis. Factors we consider relevant which could trigger an accelerated

i
impairment review include, but are not limited to, the following:

e significant underperformance relat1ve to historical or projected future operating results;

\

e significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall
business;

e significant negative industry or economic trends;

H

¢ significant decline in our stock price for a sustained period; and

[

e our market capitalization relative to net book value,

When we determine that the carrying value of intangibles, long-lived assets and related goodwill may
not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of the above indicators of impairment, we
measure any impairment based substantially on a projected discounted future cash flow method using a
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discount rate determined by our management to.be commensurate with the risk inherent in our current
business model combined with other readily available and other relevant information. Net intangible
assets, long-lived assets (including investments in unconsolidated affiliates), and goodwill was

$144.0 million as of December 31, 2005.

On January 1, 2002, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142 became effective
and as a result, we ceased amortization of all goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets. Through
December 31, 2001, goodwill was amortized on a straight-line basis over lives ranging from 5 to 20 years,
and intangibles were amortized on a straight-line basis over lives ranging from 2 to 5 years. In lieu of
amortization, we were required to perform an initial impairment review of our goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite lives in 2002 and, at a minimum, an annual impairment review thereafter unless
specific evidence identified as a triggering event would warrant an accelerated review. The first step of the
goodwill impairment test required the Company to determine and compare the fair value of its defined
reporting units to their carrying values as of January 1, 2002. The fair value for each reporting unit was
determined using a discounted cash flow valuation analysis. The carrying values of each reporting unit were
determined by specifically identifying and allocating the assets and liabilities of the Company to each reporting
unit based on headcount, relative revenues or costs, or other methods as deemed appropriate by management.
The estimated fair values exceeded the carrying values for each reporting unit, except for one reporting
unit in our design and deployment segment which had indications requiring measurement of impairment.

During the fourth quarters of 2004 and 2005, we evaluated the carrying value of all related goodwill
for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 142. Upon completion of step one of the annual impairment
tests, no indication of impairment was present at the evaluation dates of December 31, 2004 and 2005.

Accounting for income taxes and tax contingencies. As part of the process of preparing our
consolidated finaricial statements we are required to estimate our provision for income taxes in each of the
tax jurisdictions in which we conduct business. This process involves estimating our actual current tax
expense in conjunction with the evaluation and measurement of temporary differences resulting from
differing treatment of certain items for tax and accounting purposes. These temporary differences result in
the establishment of deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are recorded on a net basis and included in
our consolidated balance sheet. We then assess, on a periodic basis, the probability that our net deferred
tax assets will be recovered as a result of taking future deductions against future taxable income. To the
extent we believe it is more likely than not that we will not recover the deferred tax assets, a valuation
allowance is established to mitigate such risk resulting in an additional related provision for income taxes
during the period. If we are required to further increase the valuation allowance in the future, it could have
an adverse impact on our results of operations.

Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our
deferred tax assets and liabilities, tax contingencies and any required valuation allowance, including taking
into consideration the probability of the tax contingencies being incurred. Management assesses this
probability based upon known tax cases, and information provided to us by our tax advisors and our legal
advisors. If at a later time our assessment of the probability of these tax contingencies changes, our accrual
for such tax uncertainties may increase or decrease. We have recorded a valuation allowance of
$23.0 million as of December 31, 2005, which was a reduction of $5.1 million from the December 31, 2004
balance of $28.1 million, due to management’s overall assessment of risks and uncertainties related to our
future ability to realize and, hence, utilize certain deferred tax assets, primarily consisting of certain net
operating losses, carry forward temporary differences and future tax deductions resulting from certain
types of stock option exercises, before they expire. The assessed adequacy of our valuation allowance is
based on our current estimates of combined future adjusted taxable income by each tax jurisdiction in
which we operate and the period over which our deferred tax assets will be recoverable, including the
expected reversal of temporary differences. In the event that actual results differ from these estimates or
we adversely adjust these estimates in future periods, our financial position and results of operations could
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be materially impacted. Net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2005 were $12.3 million, which is

comprised of deferred tax assets of $5% 1 million, a valuation allowance of $23.0 million and deferred tax
liability of $15.8 million. For U.S. purposes, the Company is in a cumulative book profit position as of

December 31, 2005, and consideration “‘ is given to future taxable income, namely 2006 projected income, in
evaluating the recoverability of its U. S| deferred tax assets and the corresponding valuation allowance

placed on the assets. Unlike the Comp’any s U.S. position, its foreign operations are in a cumulative book
loss position. Therefore, pursuant to tl\‘\le provisions of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,”
limited consideration is given to the Company’s future foreign income in determining the recoverability of
its foreign deferred tax assets and the %elated valuation allowance. Accordingly, management believes the

current valuation allowance on deferred tax assets is sufficient and properly stated at December 31, 2005..

The 2006 effective tax rate for annual and interim reporting periods could be impacted if we achieve
the resolution of certain tax items that|are reserved for at December 31, 2005. Finally, during 2006, if our
valuation allowance as of December 31, 2005 is impacted by a change in judgment regarding the realization
of deferred tax assets beyond December 31, 2006, such effect will be recognized in the interim period in
which the change occurs.

Accrual for partial self-insurance. | We maintain an accrual for our health and workers compensation
partial self-insurance, which is a component of total accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets.
Management determines the adequacy of these accruals based on a monthly evaluation of our historical
experience and trends related to both medical and workers compensation claims and payments,
information provided to us by our insurance broker, industry experience and the average lag period in
which claims are paid. If such information indicates that our accruals require adjustment, we will,
correspondingly, revise the assumption[s utilized in our methodologies and reduce or provide for additional
accruals as deemed appropriate. As of December 31, 2005, the accrual for our partial self-insurance
programs approximated $2.6 million. We also carry stop-loss insurance that provides coverage limiting our

total exposure related to each medical ‘i’ind workers compensation claim incurred, as defined in the

applicable insurance policies. The med%cal and workers compensation annual claim limits are $150,000 and
$250,000, respectively. For the year ending December 31, 2005, we experienced no claims that exceeded

the limits for medical and one claim thgt exceeded the limits for workers compensation.

Contingencies and litigation. We are currently involved in certain legal proceedings. We estimate the
range of liability related to pending ht&atlon where the amount and range of loss can be estimated. We
record our estimate of a loss when the loss is considered probable and estimable. Where a liability is
probable and there is a range of estimated loss, and no amount in the range is more likely than any other
number in the range, we record the mlﬂlmum estimated liability related to the claim in accordance with
SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Cont1ngenc1es As additional information becomes available, we assess the
potential liability related to our pending litigation and revise our estimates. Revisions in our estimates of
potential liability could materially impact our results of operations. See Item 3 “Legal Proceedings” for
additional information. ' |

Contingent Acquisition Consideration. From time to time, in connection with business acquisitions,
we agree to make additional future payﬂments to sellers contingent upon achievement of specific
performance-based milestones by the a%quired entities. Pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 141, such
amounts are accrued, and therefore, recorded by us as liabilities when the contingency is determinable
beyond a reasonable doubt and, hence, rthe additional consideration becomes payable. The timing of
recognition of the liabilities and assoma«ted expenses for future year contingent payments for certain
acquisitions the Company made in 2003H was accelerated in September 2004 when two of the earn-out
agreements were modified to remove continuous employment as a condition to receiving the payments.
The removal of this provision was accounted for as a vesting of the Company’s obligation under the
agreement. Accordingly, the Company 1\ recorded a charge of $12.4 million in the third quarter of 2004 for

future earn-out consideration for certan shareholders of these two companies. At December 31, 2005, the
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contingent consideration accrual for ENS entities of $7.7 million consists of $5.8 million for the ENS
selling shareholders with continuous employment clauses, for which the accrual was recorded as
compensation expense in our statements of operations in 2004, and additional contingent consideration of
$1.9 million recorded to goodwill related to certain shareholders of ENS who had met the performance
targets for 2005 and did not have continuous employment clauses in connection with the purchase
agreements. As of March 28, 2006, approximately $6.8 million of these earn-out payments have been made
to the selling stockholders. Assuming the acquired entities reach the minimum base performance targets in
2006, the aggregate future contingent payments related to the measurement period of 2006, including the
balance accrued as of December 31, 2005, would approximate a cumulative total of $9.7 million. If the
acquired entities exceed the defined annual performance targets based on the most recent performance,
the aggregate remaining future contingent payments could range from $9.7 to $11.7 million inclusive of the
amounts accrued as of December 31, 2005 and the amounts earned from the achievement of the minimum
base performance targets. The contingent consideration is calculated based on a certain multiple of
defined annual earnings targets as stated in the respective purchase agreements.

Discontinued Operations. In December 2005, our Board of Directors made the decision to exit its
Mexican and South American deployment business. Accordingly, all results for these operations for all
periods presented have been reflected as discontinued operations. All operating results discussed in results
of operations relate to our continuing operations.

Results of Opérations
Comparison of Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2004 to the Year Ended December 31, 2005

Revenues. Revenues by operating segment for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 are as
follows (in millions):

2004 2005 $ change % change

Wireless Network Services. . ..o vver it e $2173 $223.0 $ 57 2.6%
Enterprise Network Services. . ......ovviirii it nnenn.. 65.3 67.3 2.0 3.1%
Government Network Services. .. ..ot iiiien it 51.6 85.0 334 64.7%

Ol TEVEIUES . & o vttt et e et e e ettt e e r e e $3342 $375.3  $41.1 12.3%

Revenues generated by geographic area for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 are as
follows (in millions):

2004 2005 $chamge % change

United States . .ottt e e $296.1 $337.7 $41.6 14.0%
EMEA. oot 349 271 (78) (23)%

Latin AMETICA « ..ttt ettt e e 32 10.5 7.3 228.1%

TOtal TEVEIUES .« o oo e e e e e ee et e e e e ettt et e eaeaaaan $334.2 $375.3 $41.1 12.3%

Revenues increased 12.3% from $334.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 to
$375.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. The $41.1 million increase was attributable to an
increase in domestic revenues of $41.6 million, offset partially by a slight decrease in international
revenues of $0.5 million. Our domestic revenues increased as a result of internal growth across each of our
operating segments as well as due to our acquisition of TLA in January 2005. Our continuing Latin
America operations experienced growth of $7.3 million from the prior year due primarily to certain
significant contracts that were awarded in 2005 to perform deployment services in Brazil, which were
substantially completed during 2005. Revenue in our EMEA operations decreased by $7.8 million between
periods due to the completion of a certain project. The acquisition of TLA that we made in 2005 resulted
in $28.6 million of increased revenues recorded in our GNS business.




Cost of Revenues. Cost of _rever‘
December 31, 2004 to $291.0 million :

ues increased 11% from $263.0 million for the year ended
for the year ended December 31, 2005 primarily due to the

I
corresponding increase in total revenues. The increase in cost of revenues during the 2005 period

attributable to acquisitions was approximately $20.8 million. Gross margin during the year ended

December 31, 2005 of 22.5% of total|

Irevenues increased from 2004 gross margin of 21.3% of total

revenues. The overall increase in gro§s margin percentage is primarily attributable to a gross margin

reduction of $9.8 million in 2004 resulting from increases in estimated costs for contracts signed in 2003.

!

Selling, General and Admzmstmtzve Expenses.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased

17% from $59.2 million to $69.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively. As

a percentage of revenues, selling, gen

eral and administrative expenses remained constant at approximately
18% in 2004 and 2005. In 2005, the C

ompany experienced increased accounting and contract

administration costs primarily incurred due to changes we have made related to compliance with the

Sarbanes Oxley Act and increased inf

H

Contingent Acquisition Conszderanon and Restatement Fees.

purchase agreements related to two o

|

rastructure costs necessary to support the revenue growth.

In September 2004, we amended the
f the companies acquired in our ENS division in 2003 to more

accurately reflect the intent of the transactions, resulting in a rescission of the continuous employment
clauses from the earn-out arrangements These amendments constituted a triggering event which resulted

I

in a one-time charge of $12.4 million in the third quarter of 2004. In addition, the Company incurred
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projected performance of the division
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pense of $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. The

decrease in expense of $2.1 million was primarily attributable to an impairment charge of $3 1 million

recorded in 2004 related to our invest

Provision (benefit) for Income Tax

2004 represented a 2% income tax pr

December 31, 2005. The tax provision(

decrease to the valuation allowance o
taxable income for 2006, including the

ment in a privately held company.

es. Our effective income tax rate for the year ended December 31,
pvision compared to a 32% income tax provision for the year ended
of $5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 included a

n deferred tax assets based upon the Company’s projections of
reversal of temporary differences. The reduction in the valuation

T

allowance was primarily a result of our projected forecasts of 2006 taxable income, the estimated timing of

reversal of temporary differences and
effective tax rate of 2% for 2004 was i

which was treated as a capital transact

expense.

Income (Loss) from Discontinued,

the expected utilization of net operating loss carryforwards. The
mpacted by the $12.4 million contingent earn-out consideration

I. . )
ion for tax purposes therefore no tax benefit was recognized for that

Operations. Income (loss) from discontinued operations decreased

from income of $9.4 million in 2004 tg a loss of $7.7 million during 2005. Included in the income from

discontinued operations of $9.4 millio

n for the year ended December 31, 2004, is an asset impairment

charge of $0.4 million and a $1.7 million charge for estimated employee termination costs related to our

[

Scandinavia operations as well as 1ncome from discontinued operations for our Mexico operations of
$11.8 million. There was no tax benefit provided for the Scandinavia net operating losses due to no

estimated future realizability of tax as

“:sets Included in the loss from discontinued operations of

$7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 is an approximate $5.0 million of a write off of

unrecoverable contract costs incurred

on sites we were building for our customers in Mexico and South
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America which were cancelled prior to the completion of the sites. Although we were under contractual
arrangement with these customers to build these sites, these costs were contractually unrecoverable from
our customers due to the termination clauses in the contracts, which do not provide for reimbursement for
in process cancelled sites, unless agreed upon by the customer. Also included in our loss from discontinued
operation in 2005 is an impairment charge of $0.9 million related to accumulated foreign currency
translation losses as well as a $3.4 million impairment related to the deferred tax assets of our discontinued
operations. There was no tax benefit provided for certain of our net operating losses generated in our
South American businesses due to no estimated future realizability of tax assets. Revenues generated by
our discontinued Mexican and South American operations were $42.1 million in 2005 compared to

$62.8 million in 2004.

Comparison of Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2003 to the Year Ended December 31, 2004

Revenues. Revenues by operating segment for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004 are as
follows (in millions):

2003 2004 $change % change

Wireless Network ServiCes. .. vvuvv o veene e it iiiieiiiinnns $187.4 $2173 § 29.9 16.0%

Enterprise Network Services... ..., 41.1 65.3 242 58.9%
Government Network Services. ... .....cooiiinie it — 51.6 51.6 —

TOtal TEVEIUES . « o ettt e e e et e ittt e e et enans $228.5 $334.2 $105.7 46.3%

Revenues generated by geographic area for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004 are as
follows (in millions):

2003 2004 $change  _% change

United States . .....o.tt i e $2052 $2961 $ 909 44.3%

EME A . e 13.9 349 21.0 151.1%
Latin AMETICa . ..o oottt ettt et i e 9.4 32 (6.2) (66.0)%
TOtal TEVEIMUES . .+ .t ittt et e e ie e eneenns $228.5 $3342 $105.7 46.3%

Revenues increased 46.3% from $228.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to
$334.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The $105.7 million increase was attributable to an
increase in domestic revenues of $90.9 million and an increase in international revenues of $14.8 million.
The increase in our Enterprise Solutions segment was primarily attributable to reporting a full year’s
operating results in 2004 compared to a portion of fiscal 2003 from the period when the companies were
acquired, resulting in an increase of $24.2 million of which $7.9 million was organic growth in these
acquired businesses and our existing WiFi technology operations. Revenue in our EMEA operations also
increased by $21.0 million between periods. The increase was primarily as a result of the roll out of new
third generation wireless services by several major European carriers. The acquisitions of HTS and DSI
that we made in 2004 resulted in the $51.6 million of revenues recorded in our GNS business.

During the reporting periods contained herein, we did experience revenue and margin adjustments of
certain projects, but the effect of such adjustments, both positive and negative, when evaluated in total
were determined to be immaterial to the consolidated financial statements.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues increased 62% from $161.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003 to $263.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 primarily due to the
corresponding increase in total revenues. The increase in cost of revenues during the 2004 period
attributable to acquisitions was approximately $57.4 million. Gross margin during the year ended
December 31, 2004 decreased from 2003 gross margin of 29% to 21% of total revenues. The overall
decrease in gross margin percentage is primarily attributable to a reduction of $9.8 million recorded in the
third quarter of 2004 resulting primarily from increases in estimated costs for contracts signed in 2003.
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Certain of these contracts did not contain the change order clauses necessary to ensure recovery of the
costs that were incurred for out of scope work or costs incurred due to changes in schedule or scope. Gross
margin was also impacted by an incre}asing trend by carriers in the U.S. to request turnkey contracts which
generally require us to utilize third-party vendors, thus reducing gross margin.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. = Selling, general and administrative expenses increased
12% from $52.8 million to $59.2 mllhgn for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively. As
a percentage of revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses decreased from 23% in 2003 to 18%
in 2004. The increase in selling, generﬁal and administrative expenses was impacted by compliance costs
incurred for the Sarbanes Oxley Act, increased sales commission costs driven by the increase in revenues
and increased amortization of purchahsed intangibles resulting from the Company’s acquisitions in 2003 and
2004, offset in part by a reduction of s“{tock compensation from 2003 and a reduction in depreciation
expense resulting from assets being fully depreciated or written off in 2003.

Contingent Acquisition Conszderatzon and Restatement Fees. In September 2004, we amended the
purchase agreements related to two of the companies acquired in our ENS division in 2003 to more
accurately reflect the intent of the tra‘hsactmns resulting in a rescission of the continuous employment
clauses from the earn-out arrangements These amendments constituted a triggering event which resulted
in a one-time charge of $12.4 million in the third quarter of 2004. In addition, the Company incurred
approximately $1.5 million of costs re}ated to the restatement of its financial statements during the third

quarter of 2004, primarily due to lega} and accounting fees incurred.

Other Income (Expense), Net. F‘or the year ended December 31, 2003, net other income was
$0.2 million compared to net other expense of $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, The
increase in expense of $2.6 million was primarily attributable to an impairment charge of $3.1 million
recorded in 2004 related to our investment in a privately held company and a decrease in net interest
income of $0.6 million in 2004.

Provision (benefit) for Income Taies Our effective income tax rate for the year ended December 31,

2003 represented a 3% income tax beilneﬁt compared to a 2% income tax provision for the year ended
December 31, 2004. The tax prov151on of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 included a
decrease to the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets based upon the Company’s refinement of its
projections of taxable income for 2005 including the reversal of temporary differences. The decrease in the
valuation allowance pertained pnmar”ﬂy to U.S,, state and foreign net operating loss carryforwards and
cumulative temporary differences thaHt were accumulated in the prior reporting periods. The reduction in
the valuation allowance was prlmarﬂ}ﬂ a result of the refinement of our projected forecasts of taxable
income, the associated tax rate foreca%‘sts for 2005, the estimated timing of reversal of temporary
differences and the expected utlhzatl?n of net operating loss carryforwards on the 2004 tax return. The
effective tax rate for 2004 was 1mpacted by the $12.4 million of contingent earn-out consideration which is
treated as a capital transaction for ta}‘{‘ purposes therefore no tax benefit has been recognized for this
expense. During 2003 we realized a 3% income tax benefit as a result of a reduction of the related .

valuation allowance associated with n”et deferred tax assets.

Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations. Loss from discontinued operations improved from a
loss of $4.8 million in 2003 to income xfrom discontinued operations of $9.4 million during 2004. Included .
in the income from discontinued operatlons for 2004 is income of $11.8 million from our Latin American
operations primarily due to the award of a significant contract in Mexico, which resulted in an increase of
revenues from $27.4 million in 2003 to $62.8 million in 2004, offset partially by charges of $2.4 million
related to our operations in Scandina“x‘/ia, resulting from an asset impairment charge of $0.4 million and a
$1.7 million charge for estimated employee termination costs. There was no tax benefit provided for these
losses due to no estimated future realizability of tax assets resulting from net operating losses in
Scandinavia.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Working Capital and Cash Flows

Our sources of liquidity include cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, cash from
operations and other sources of funds. As of December 31, 2005, we had cash and cash equivalents totaling
$12.9 million.

Our operating cash flow is used to finance trade accounts receivable, fund capital expenditures, and
make selective acquisitions. Financing trade accounts receivable is necessary because, on average, the
customers and payers for our services do not pay us as quickly as we pay our vendors and employees for
their goods and services. Capital expenditures consist primarily of investment in field equipment, computer
hardware and software and improvement of our physical properties in order to maintain suitable
conditions to conduct our business. ‘

Cash from continuing operations is primarily derived from our customer contracts in progress and
associated changes in working capital components. Cash provided by continuing operations was .
$1.3 million and $19.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively. The change
between periods of $17.8 million is primarily derived from our customer contracts in progress and
associated working capital components. Our days sales outstanding (DSO) increased from 102 at
December 31, 2004 to 105 at December 31, 2005, primarily due to the timing of achievement of certain
construction milestones on our large turnkey deployment projects in accordance with contractual terms.

Cash used in investing activities from continuing operations was $43.4 million and $51.1 million for
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively. Investing activities for the year ended
December 31, 2004 consisted primarily of capital expenditures of $7.7 million, net consideration paid for
acquisitions of $53.9 million, cash paid for contingent acquisition consideration of $8.3 million, investments
in unconsolidated affiliates of $1.0 million offset in part by proceeds from the sale of short-term
investments of $27.5 million. Investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2005 included
$8.0 million of capital expenditures, net cash paid for acquisitions of $33.6 million, $17.1 million related to
cash paid for contingent acquisition consideration, partially offset by $7.6 million of proceeds from the sale
of short term investments. See also Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion
of our acquisitions during 2004 and 2005.

Cash provided by financing activities was $10.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 and
included proceeds of $7.3 million from the issuance of common stock associated with exercises of
employee stock options and proceeds of $3.4 million resulting from purchases of common stock under our
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, partially offset by the $0.5 million repayment of capital lease obligations.
Cash provided by financing activities was $4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 and included
proceeds from the issuance of common stock associated with exercises of employee stock options of
$2.6 million, proceeds of $2.4 million resulting from purchases of common stock under our Employee
Stock Purchase Plan, partially offset by the $0.4 million repayment of capital lease obligations.

Cash provided by discontinued operations was $7.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 and
included cash provided by operating activities of $7.4 million and cash used in investing activities for
capital expenditures of $0.2 million. Cash used by discontinued operations was $12.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005 and included cash used in operating activities of $11.8 million and cash used in
investing activities for capital expenditures of $1.0 million.

We are focused on effectively managing our overall liquidity position by continuously monitoring
expenses, integrating effective cost savings programs and managing our accounts receivable collection
efforts. We believe that our cash and cash equivalent balances, short-term investments and our credit
facility (as discussed in Contractual Obligations and Commitments below) will be sufficient to satisfy cash
requirements for at least the next twelve months based on the current level of operations and the
Company’s plans for future acquisitions. Although we cannot accurately anticipate the effect of inflation
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on our operations, we do not believe
the foreseeable future to have, a mat
results of operations.

Our decision to divest the Mexic‘
changing business climate in Mexico ‘
Unfavorable contractual terms recen

that inflation or foreign currency fluctuation has had, or is likely in
erial impact on our net or foreign currency fluctuation revenues or

an and other Latin American operations was prompted by the
and a review of the strategic alternatives for our free cash flow.
tly proposed by our largest customers in Mexico would further

increase the extensive working capital required to operate a Mexican deployment company while pricing

pressure threatens to adversely affec‘[H

the future profitability of the Mexican operations. We believe that

the divestiture of our Mexican operations and the wind-down of our other discontinued deployment

I
businesses in South America will resd

It in increased cash flow available for our remaining operations since

our Latin American operations used $12.8 million of cash for operating and investing activities in 2005.

|

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Pursuant to the stock purchase agreement for acquisitions made in 2003 in our Enterprise Network
Services segment, we may be obligated to pay additional consideration to the selling stockholders that is

contingent upon the successful achiev Ve

I

ement of specific annual earnings targets, as defined in the stock

purchase agreement, for 2006. Assuming the acquired entities of our Enterprise Network Services segment

[

reach the minimum base performance targets, the aggregate future contingent payments related to 2006,

including the balance accrued as of DH

ecember 31, 2005, would approximate a cumulative total of

$9.7 million, which are due in the first and second quarters of 2006. Subsequent to December 31, 2005,
approximately $6.8 million of these earn-out payments have been made to the selling stockholders. If the
acquired entities exceed the defined %nnual performance targets based on current performance, the
aggregate future contingent payment? could likely range from $9.7 million to $11.7 million. The contingent
consideration is calculated based on a certain multiple of defined annual earnings targets as stated in the

respective purchase agreements. In ag;idmon we may pay additional consideration of up to $3.2 million

related to our acquisition of DST if ce
approximately $2.5 million additional
achieved by DSI of which $2.0 million

consideration based on the attainmen‘r

Any amounts earned by shareholj‘

employment clauses will result in addi

consideration is earned.

In connection with future acquisi
contingent upon achievement of perfi

On March 16, 2005, we entered i

(“KeyBank”) to provide a $15 million|
sole book manager. The facility has a:
Company intends to use the facility tS

borrowings drawn on our line of credl‘

rtain contract milestones are achieved. As of December 31, 2005, -
consideration has been earned related to the contract milestones
has been paid and $0.5 million has been accrued as additional

t of certain milestones. '

ders of those acquired companies for which there were no continuous
tional goodwill recorded for those acquisitions when the earn-out

tions, we may agree to make additional payments to sellers
rmance milestones by the acquired entities.

nto a credit agreement with KeyBank National Association

senior credit facility. KeyBank is designated as the sole arranger and
3-year term and can be expanded to a $60 million facility. The

) fund acquisitions. At December 31, 2005, we did not have any

‘t As of March 30, 2006, we have drawn $7.0 million on this line for

purposes of paying the acquisition earn-out payments of $6.8 million in the first quarter of 2006.
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The following table summarizes our currently existing contractual obligations and other commitments
at December 31, 2005, and the effect such obligations could have on our liquidity and cash flow in future
periods (in millions):

Payments due by Period
Less than More than
Total 1 year 1-3 years  4-5 years S years
Capital 1eases. . . ....vvviiii i $02 %01 $0.1 $— $—
Operatingleases . .........coiviiiiiiieneneinen. 23.9 54 9.7 7.2 1.6

$24.1 $5.5 $9.8 $7.2 $1.6

Other than our normal recurring trade payables, expense accruals, accrued earn-out liabilities and
operating and capital leases which are currently expected to be funded through existing working capital
and future cash flows from operations, we have no other material cash commitments. Aside from these
recurring operating expenses, future capital expenditures and overall expansion including potential future
acquisitions, our future capital needs will depend upon many factors, including the timing of payments
under existing contracts and technology requirements within the wireless telecommunications industry.
Other future cash requirements may include the payment of certain tax contingencies, as discussed in
Note 15 of our consolidated financial statements and potential future acquisitions. We continue to
evaluate and use new technology including electronic equipment and software in our business operations.
Additional capital expenditures may be required as deemed necessary, in order to stay competitive and
effectively service our customers.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R. SFAS No. 123R requires public companies to
measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on
the grant date fair value of the equity instrument. The grant date fair value is recognized as compensation
expense over the vesting period of the award. The grant-date fair value of employee share options and
similar instruments will be estimated using option-pricing models adjusted for the unique characteristics of
those instruments. The Company has not completed its analysis of the estimated impact of adopting the
provisions of SFAS No. 123R. This Statement is effective for interim or annual reporting periods
beginning after June 15, 2005 (January 1, 2006 for the Company).

FAS 123R will require all share-based payment transactions, including those with employees, to be
measured at fair value. Moreover, the fair value of share-based payment awards (including employee stock
option grants) will be recognized as expense in the statements of operations over the requisite service
period of each award. FAS 123R also changes the manner in which deferred taxes are recognized on share-
based payment awards, as well as the accounting for award modifications.

On March 29, 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting bulletin No. 107 (SAB 107) regarding the Staff’s
interpretation of SFAS No. 123R. This SAB provides guidance related to share-based payment
transactions with nonemployees, the transition from nonpublic to public entity status, valuation methods,
the accounting for certain redeemable financial instruments issued under share-based payment
arrangements, the classification of compensation expense, non-GAAP financial measures, first-time
adoption of SFAS No. 123R in an interim period, capitalization of compensation cost related to share-
based payment arrangements, the accounting for income tax effects of share-based payment arrangements
upon adoption of SFAS No. 123R and disclosures in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R. The Company will
adopt SAB 107 in connection with its adoption of SFAS No. 123R in the first quarter of 2006.

In December 2004 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 153
“Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets—An Amendment of APB Opinion No. 29.” The amendments made
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by SFAS No. 153 are based on the principle that exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured
based on the fair value of the assets e@{changed. SFAS No. 153 eliminates the narrow exception for
nonmonetary exchanges of similar pr%)ductive assets and replaces it with a broader exception for exchanges
of nonmonetary assets that do not have “commercial substance.” SFAS No. 153 is effective for
nonmonetary asset exchanges occurrig‘,ng in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company does
not believe the adoption of SFAS Nol 153 will have a material impact on its operating results and its

financial position. ‘

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Standard No. 154, “Accounting Changes and
Error Corrections—A Replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3.” SFAS No. 154
requires that a voluntary change in accounting principle be applied retrospectively with all prior period
financial statements presented on the new accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to do so. SFAS
No. 154 also provides that (1) a change in method of depreciating or amortizing a long-lived nonfinancial
asset be accounted for as a change inlestimate (prospectively) that was affected by a change in accounting
principle, and (2) correction of errors‘ in previously issued financial statements shall be termed a
“restatement.” SFAS No. 154 is effec“ ive for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2‘005. The Company does not believe the adoption of SFAS No. 154
will have a material impact on its operating results and its financial position.

Related Party Transactions

I
For detailed information regardi‘hg related party transactions, see Notes 14 and 18 to our consolidated
financial statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to foreign currency risks due to both transactions and translations between functional

and reporting currencies in our Mexic]“‘an, Argentinean, Indian, Brazilian and European foreign
subsidiaries. We are exposed to the ir{llpact of foreign currency fluctuations due to the operations of and
net monetary asset and liability positions in our Mexican, Argentinean, Indian, Brazilian and European
foreign subsidiaries. Significant monétary assets and liabilities expected to be realized in the foreseeable

future include trade receivables, trade payables and certain intercompany payables that are not
denominated in their local functional‘currencies, As of December 31, 2005, our Mexican, Argentinean,

Indian, Brazilian and European subsidiaries were in average net liability positions (i.e., monetary liabilities
were greater than monetary assets sul;gject to foreign currency risk) of approximately $12.7 million,

$2.3 million, $0.3 million, $12.2 million and $13.0 million, respectively. The potential foreign currency
translation losses from a hypothetical HlO% adverse change in the exchange rates from the net liability

positions at December 31, 2005 were FlpproXimately‘$1.3 million, $0.2 million, zero, $1.2 million and
$1.3 million for the Mexican, Argentillllean, Indian, Brazilian and European subsidiaries, respectively. In
the event that the functional currencyﬁ of China does not continue to be based on the U.S. dollar, we may

be exposed to foreign currency fluctuations due to the activities of our corporate resource center in China.

In addition, we estimate that an ipmediate 10% change in foreign exchange rates would impact
reported net income or loss by approximately $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This was

estimated using a 10% deterioration f”a\ctor to the average monthly exchange rates applied to net income or
loss for each of the related subsidiariq‘s in the respective period.
]
Due to the difficulty in determini”xng and obtaining predictable cash flow forecasts in our foreign
operations based on the overall challenging economic environment and associated contract structures, we

do not currently utilize any derivative financial instruments to hedge foreign currency risks.

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2005 were $12.9 million and are primarily invested in
money market interest bearing accounts. A hypothetical 10% adverse change in the average interest rate
on our money market cash investments and short-term investments would have had no material effect on .
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net income for the year ended December 31, 2005. We currently do not utilize any derivative financial
instruments to hedge interest rate risks. -

Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item is included in Part IV Item 15(a)(1) and (2) of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
1) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required
to be disclosed in our reports pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the
“Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. Under the supervision of, and with the participation of, our
management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, (as
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(¢)), as they existed on December 31, 2005. In
light of material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005,
which are discussed below, and the fact that this Annual Report on Form 10-K was not filed within the
time limits prescribed by the Exchange Act, our Principal Executive Officer and our Principal Financial
Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective at a reasonable level in a
timely manner alerting them to material information that is required to be included in our periodic filing
with the Securities and Exchange Commission as of December 31, 2005,

2) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the
supervision and with the participation of our management, principal executive officers and principal
financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO Framework). Based on this evaluation,
our management identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005 as described below. A material weakness is defined in Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board Standard No. 2 as a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that
results in there being more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim
financial statements will not be prevented or detected.

As described in more detail in “Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” below, we
have restated our previously issued unaudited consolidated financial statements for the quarters ended
July 1, 2005 and September 30, 2005, to reflect the accounting impact of site cancellations by a customer of
our Mexico operations during those quarters. The Public Company Accounting Oversight Board’s auditing
standards provide that a restatement is a strong indicator of a material weakness.

Based on its assessment, management concluded that the restatement resulted from a material
weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting. In particular, the Company’s entity level
controls surrounding the control environment at the Mexico subsidiary and the timely and accurate
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communication of information to exe
deficiency, a material error in the Cor
quarters of 2005 related to the accour
detected. Accordingly, we concluded
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resulted in a reduction of $4.8 million
two quarters. The full year impact of

cutive management were not operating effectively. As a result of this
mpany’s interim financial statements for the second and third

ting for site cancellations during those quarters occurred and was not
that the most appropriate way to correct these errors was to restate

onsolidated financial statements. The correction of this misstatement

[in revenues and $1.3 million in net income for the combined prior
hese revisions has been reflected in discontinued operations in this

Annual Report as this business has been discontinued. As a result of the restatement and the fact that the

[

full transaction details that led to the restatement were not discovered until after our fiscal year end as well
as the lack of time available to assess the operating effectiveness of entity level controls that were

remediated during the fourth quarter

of 2005, management has concluded that this control deficiency

constitutes a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting on the basis that there is more

1

than a remote likelihood that a matenal misstatement in our interim or annual financial statements due to

errors in the accounting treatment rel
detected by our internal control over

In connection with management’

ated to canceled sites could occur and would not be prevented or

financial reporting.

s assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31, 2005, management alsc% concluded that a material weakness in internal control over financial
reporting existed because we were unable to recruit and retain a sufficient number of finance and
accounting personnel to support compliance with our financial reporting requirements. Specifically, due to
attrition of key positions such as the Corporate Controller position as well as vacancies of other key

positions, and the difficult labor markl‘l

limited, we were unable to permanen

et in which the pool of qualified and experienced candidates is -

‘ly fill key positions in a timely manner, but we were able to
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supplement in part by the services of outside consultants to support our internal control objectives. We

\
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including an impairment charge for deferred tax assets of our discontinued operation as well as an

impairment charge resulting from acc
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[umulated foreign currency translation losses. These adjustments were
isposal of our Mexican operation.

s, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
y evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
cteriorate.

[
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effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the COSO

Framework.
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Grant Thornton LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited management’s
assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as stated in its report which appears
below in Item 9A(4).

3) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the three months ended September 30, 2005, we identified the following conditions that
indicated that our internal control over financial reporting and our disclosure controls and procedures in
certain of our Latin American operations were not effective and required improvements due to the
following deficiencies: (i) contracts: a thorough review of all existing contractual documents was required
to ensure that we have the proper formal contractual documentation necessary to support the project
estimate at completion computation, and (ii) project costs: additional procedures were required to ensure
that certain expenditures have been properly classified as project direct costs.

To address the control deficiencies and required improvements to the entity level control environment
in certain of our Latin American operations identified in the third quarter of 2005, we implemented
additional review and approval procedures and replaced several managers in our Latin American
operations.

During the fourth quarter of 2003, shortly after we made the change in management of these
operations, information that in June, July and August of 2005, a customer in Mexico had canceled sites
that the Mexico subsidiary was building was brought for the first time to the attention of our executive
management team who then commenced an investigation and analysis of such information under the
oversight of the Audit Committee. Although we had an agreement with our customer to build these sites,
the terms and conditions of the agreement did not provide for recovery by us of costs incurred on in-
process sites in the event of site cancellation, unless agreed to by the customer. During the in-depth review
of this matter by our executive management team, it was discovered that the information concerning these
sites, as reported by the former managers of these operations, was inconsistent with facts revealed in
documents discovered by executive management conducting the investigation. Also during the
investigation, it became apparent that certain former managers had, in prior 2005 interim periods,
reported the status of the cancelled sites to executive management in a manner which was inconsistent with
the documents in possession of the former managers.

On March 10, 2006, at the conclusion of this investigation and analysis, we determined that the
unrecoverable costs associated with the cancelled sites should have been recognized in the second and
third fiscal quarters of 2005. As a result, we have filed amendments to our previously filed Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended July 1, 2005 and September 30, 2005 to effect revisions
reflecting the appropriate recognition of the unrecoverable costs in those periods. As mentioned above,
management has determined that these required revisions resulted from a material weakness in the entity
level control environment at our Mexican subsidiary. In addition to the management changes made as a
result of the control deficiencies noted in the third quarter of 2005, management also engaged external
consultants to assist in the evaluation and remediation of all deficiencies in the internal control structure at
the Mexico subsidiary in the third and fourth quarters of 2005. Management believes that all transaction
level control deficiencies were remediated and tested for operating effectiveness successfully by
December 31, 2005. However, because of the lack of time available to assess the operating effectiveness of
the remediated entity level controls and the fact the full transaction details that led us to restate previously
issued financial statements were not discovered until after our fiscal year end, management has concluded
that a material weakness in entity level internal controls at the Mexico subsidiary existed as of
December 31, 2005. As a result of all the measures undertaken by the Company to remediate the third and
fourth quarter deficiencies as discussed above, as well as the additional analyses and other post-closing
procedures performed by management and our external consultants through February 17, 2006, when we
entered into an Equity Purchase Agreement to sell all of the stock of the Mexico operations, we have
concluded that the material weakness described above was fully remediated as of February 17, 2006.
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The Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer have concluded that, other than the

specific changes identified in this Iter;
financial reporting (as defined in Rul‘
that materially affected, or are reasor

financial reporting.

4) Report of Independent Register

=Y
w1

n 9A, there have been no changes to our internal control over
es 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the last fiscal quarter
1ably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over

d Public Accounting Firm

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

|

The Board of Directors and Stockholgers

Wireless Facilities, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying “Management’s Report on

I

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting,” that Wireless Facilities, Inc. (the Company) and it’s
subsidiaries did not maintain effectiv%: internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005,
based on criteria established in Intern‘al Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treé[

dway Commission (COSO). Wireless Facilities, Inc.’s management is

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

|

management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over

financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accot
Oversight Board (United States). Thc‘
reasonable assurance about whether ¢
all material respects. Our audit includ

. . |
reporting, evaluating management’s a

|

dance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

se standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
ffective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
ed obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
ssessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating

effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the

circumstances. We believe that our aLJ‘

dit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

|

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance

of records that, in reasonable detail, a%:

ccurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the

assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to

|

I

permit preparation of financial staten%ents in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,

and that receipts and expenditures of hthe company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have

a material effect on the financial staté

Because of its inherent limitation
misstatements. Also, projections of a
that controls may become inadequate
with the policies or procedures may d

A material weakness is a control
more than remote likelihood that a m;

ments.

S, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
ny evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
cteriorate.

deficiency, or a combination of control deficiencies, that results in
aterial misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements

will not be prevented or detected. The% following material weaknesses have been identified and included in
management’s assessment as of December 31, 2005:

I
During the fourth quarter of 2005, Company management was made aware that cancellation

notices were received in June, Ju

y and August 2005 by the Company’s subsidiary in Mexico on a
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significant contract. The Company discovered that the information concerning these sites, as reported
by the former managers of these operations, was inconsistent with facts revealed in documents
discovered by executive management. It became apparent that certain former managers had, in prior
periods, reported the status of the cancelled sites to executive management in a manner which was
inconsistent with the documents in possession of the former managers. This ineffective
communication in Mexico resulted in material errors in the recognition of revenues for the quarters
ended June 30, 2005 and September 30, 2005.

The volume of routine and non-routine transactions entered into by the Company has continued
to grow. Additionally, the Company has a number of complex accounting issues, including;
discontinued operation of foreign subsidiaries, contingent consideration, deferred tax asset valuation,
and accounting for claims and change orders; which all require specialized skills and place increased
burdens on the financial and accounting staff. The Company has had difficulty in retaining and
recruiting a sufficient number of finance and accounting personnel to support compliance with all of
its financial reporting requirements. Significant adjustments were required to the Company’s
previously published unaudited operating results for the year ended December 31, 2005. We believe
that since the Company does not presently have sufficient resources in its accounting and finance
departments to adequately monitor significant, non-routine, and certain routine transactions and to
implement and maintain adequate controls there is a material weakness in the Company’s internal
control structure.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Wireless Facilities, Inc. did not maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2003, is fairly stated, in all material respects,
based on criteria established in {nternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO. Also, in our
opinion, because of the effects of the material weakness described above, Wireless Facilities, Inc. has not
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight )
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Wireless Facilities, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash
flows for the year ended December 31, 2005, and our report dated March 30, 2006 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

/s/ Grant Thornton LLP

Irvine, California
March 30, 2006




Item 9B. Other Information

On March 28, 2006, the Company
Deanna Lund, the Company’s Senior V
the Company’s Senior Vice President a
years of such employee’s base salary phf S

amended and restated its Change in Control Agreements with
ice President and Chief Financial Officer and James R. Edwards,
nd General Counsel to provide (i) a severance payment of two

the employee’s maximum bonus amount for that period in the

event of termination or resignation as a result of certain triggering events and (ii) a severance payment of

one year of such employee’s base salary i

I
|

n the event the employee is terminated without cause, plus a

vesting of all unvested stock options and stock appreciation rights.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information under the
captions “Election of Directors”, “Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act” and “Code of
Ethics” of the Registrant’s Proxy Statement, which we will file with the SEC within 120 days after the end
of fiscal 2005. '

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information under the
caption “Executive Compensation” of the Registrant’s Proxy Statement, which we will file with the SEC
within 120 days after the end of fiscal 2005.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information under the
captions “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Securities Authorized
for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans” of the Registrant’s Proxy Statement, which we will file
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of fiscal 2005.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information under the
caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” of the Registrant’s Proxy Statement, which we
will file with the SEC within 120 days after the end of fiscal 2005.

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information under the
caption “Fees Paid to Grant Thornton LLP and KPMG LLP” of the Registrant’s Proxy Statement, which
we will file with the SEC within 120 days after the end of fiscal 2005.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules
(1) Report of Independent Regislered Public Accounting Firm
Report of Independent Regis !‘ered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 2005
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2004
and 2005

|
Consolidated Statements of CHash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005

Notes to Consolidated Financ\nal Statements
(2) Schedule II: Valuation and Qhahfymg Accounts

All other schedules for which|provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission are not required under the related instructions or are

inapplicable and therefore have been omitted.

(3) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description of Document

21 Agreement of Plan of Reorganization by and among Wireless Facilities, Inc., WFI Government
Services, Inc., Horseshoe Merger Sub, Inc., High Technology Solutions, Inc. and the major
holders of High Technology Solutions, Inc., dated as of December 22, 2003.(5)

2.2 Stock Purchase Agreementl by and among the Company, JMA Associates, Inc. d/b/a TLA
Associates, and the Stockholders of JMA Associates, Inc., dated as of January 27, 2005.(7)

2.3 Equity Purchase Agreement, dated February 17, 2006, by and between Sakoki LLC and the
Company.(12)

31 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.(3)
3.2 Bylaws in effect since November 5, 1999.(1)

33 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Preferred Stock.(3)
34 Certificate of Designationsv, Preferences and Rights of Series B Preferred Stock.(8)
3.5 Certificate of Designation ‘of Series C Preferred Stock.(9)

41 Reference is made to Exhi‘bits 3.1and 3.2
4.2 Specimen Stock Certificate.(1)

4.3 Rights Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2004, between the Company and Wells Fargo,
N.A.(9)

10.1 1997 Stock Option Plan.(1|

10.2 Form of Stock Option Agr:‘eement pursuant to the 1997 Stock Option Plan and related terms
and conditions.(1)
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Exhibit

Number Description of Document

10.3 1999 Equity Incentive Plan.(1)

10.4 Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan.(1)

10.5 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and related offering documents.(1)

10.10  Form of Indemnity Agreement by and between the Company and certain officers and directors
of the Company.(1)

10.14  Form of Warrant Agreement by and between the Company and each of Scott Anderson and
Scot Jarvis dated as of February 28, 1997.(1) .

10.15  Form of Subscription and Representation Agreement by and between the Company and each
of Scott Anderson and Scot Jarvis dated as of February 28, 1997.(1)

10.16 Form of Warrant Agreement by and between the Company and each of Scott Anderson and
Scot Jarvis dated as of February 1, 1998.(1)

10.33 2000 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan.(2)

10.34  Form of Stock Option Agreement and ‘Grant Notice used in connection with the 2000
Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan.(2)

1040  Technical Services Subcontract Agreement by and between the Company and Bechtel
Corporation dated as of February 8, 2002.(4)1

10.43  Executive Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Eric DeMarco effective
November 14, 2003.(6)

1044  Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan.(13)

10.45  Severance Agreement dated March 28, 2006 between the Company and Deanna Lund.*

1046  Severance Agreement dated March 28, 2006 between the Company and James Edwards.*

10.47 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.(11)

10.48  Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.(11)

1049  Credit Agreement, dated as of March 16, 2005, by and among Wireless Facilities, Inc., Keybank
National Association and Keybank Capital Markets.*

21.1 List of subsidiaries.(6)

231 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.*

23.2 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.*

241 Power of Attorney.(6)

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer, Eric M. DeMarco, pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.*

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer, Deanna Lund, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002.*
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Exhibit

Number Description of Document

321 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Eric M. DeMarco.*

322 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Deanna Lund.*

(1)
2
(3)
(@)
5)
(6)
%)
(®)
©)
(10)
(11)

(12)

_ incorporated herein by reference

Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-85515), and

Filed as an exhibit to the Comppny s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2000, filed on November 14, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Report on Form 8-K filed on October 11, 2001 and
incorporated herein by reference

\\

Filed as an exhibit to the Comp”any s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2002, filed on August 13, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s report on Form 8-K, filed on January 16, 2004 and incorporated

herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2003, filed on March §, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Comp any’s Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Report on Form 8-K/A filed on June 5, 2002 and incorporated
herein by reference. ’

Filed as an exhibit to the Comp any’s Report on Form 8-K filed on December 17, 2004 and
incorporated herein by referencwe
Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Report on Form 8-K filed on November 18, 2004 and
incorporated herein by reference

Filed as an exhibit to the Comp?ny s Registration Statement of Form S-8 (No. 333-127060) filed on
August 1, 2005 and 1ncorporated herein by reference.
Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Report on form 8-K filed on February 23, 2006 and -

. . \
incorporated herein by reference.

[
Filed herewith.

Certain confidential matters delleted pursuant to Order Granting Application for Confidential
Treatment, issued in connection with the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-85515) dated
November 10, 1999, |

H

Certain confidential matters deleted pursuant to Order Granting Apphcatlon for Confidential

Treatment pursuant to rule 14b- 2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 dated August 13, 2002.

Certain confidential matters deleted pursuant to Order Granting Application for Confidential

Treatment pursuant to rule 14b-2 undlar the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 dated November 13, 2002.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholdcrs
Wireless Facilities, Inc. ‘
We have audited the accompanyiﬂg consolidated balance sheet of Wireless Facilities, Inc. and

subsidiaries (the Company) as of Dece mber 31, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of

operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2005. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on these consolidated financial ‘statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assq[ssing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated fi imnc:lal statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial posmon of Wireless Facilities, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2005, and the results of their consolidated operations and their cash flows for the year ended December 31,
2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements
taken as a whole. The Schedule II attached to the consolidated financial statements is presented for
purposes of additional analysis and is m‘[)t a required part of the basic financial statements. This schedule
has been subjected to the auditing proc?dures apphed in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in
our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a

whole.

We have also audited, in acco’rdanc“e with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of Wireless Facilities, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of‘)Sponsormg Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our
report dated March 30, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and an

adverse opinion on the effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Grant Thornton LLP

Irvine, California
March 30, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Wireless Facilities, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Wireless Facilities, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. In
connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we have also audited the financial
statement schedule II for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. These consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Wireless Facilities, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004, and
the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial
statement Schedule II for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, when considered in relation to the
basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the
information set forth therein.

/sf KPMG LLP

San Diego, California
March 24, 2005, except for
Note 3(c), which is as of March 30, 2006




}WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2004 and 2005

(in millions, except par value and number of shares)

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents...........
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable,net ............ ‘
Prepaid expenses................... !
Employee loans and advances. . ...... !
Deferred taxasset..................

Other currentassets................ \‘

Assets

Current assets of discontinued operations. ........ ...t e

Total currentassets. ..............
Property and equipment, net...........
Goodwill
Other intangibles,net. . ................
Deferred taxassets.........ocooinld ‘
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates . .
Otherassets.......ovviiiiiininennd l
Non current assets of discontinued operati

Total assets

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses . ..........iunn..
Accrued compensation...............
Accounts payable—related party

Billings in excess of costs on completed ¢

Deferred tax liabilities ...............
Tax contingencies . ..................

Accrual for contingent acquisition consideration ... .......... ... i

Accrual for unused office space .......
Income taxes payable................

Capital lease obligations and other ShOPtHterm debt. . ........veeee e,

Current liabilities of discontinued operat

Total current liabilities.............

Iions ..........................................

Capital lease obligations and debt, net of current portion........ ... .. i

[}

Accrual for unused office space, net of current portion. ...

Other liabilities................ ... ...
Other long term liabilities of discontinued

Total liabilities. . ..................
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 1,
Stockholders’ equity:

i

5,15 and 16)

Preferred stock, 5,000,000 shares authorized Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, $.001 par

Il

value, 25,483 shares outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2005 (liquidation preference

$12.7)

!

Common stock, $.001 par value, 195,000,b00 shares authorized; 71,103,301 and 72,188,449

shares issued and outstanding at Decen

Additional paid-in capital ............
Accumulated deficit............. ...,
Accumulated other comprehensive loss .

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

f

See accompanyi

nber 31, 2004 and 20053, respectively...............

ng notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2004

2005 -

$ 129
109.6

23
0.4

106.0




WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005

(in millions, except per share amounts)

2003 2004 2005
REVENUES . ..ttt it $2285 § 3342 §$3753
COSt Of FEVETIUES . ..t vttt ittt i 161.9 263.0 2910
Gross Profit .. ..ot 66.6 71.2 84.3
Selling, general and administrative eXpenses . ..........cvveiviinennn.., 52.8 59.2 69.3
Contingent acquisition consideration and restatementfees .............. — 13.9 (2.1)
Other asset impairment and other charges,net......................... 0.1 — —
Operating income (I088) .. ..ot 13.7 (1.9) 17.1
Other income {(expense):
Interest inCome, Nt ... ...ttt ittt 0.8 0.2 0.1
Foreign currency gain (108s) .. ... .o oot (0.3) 0.3 0.2)
Impairment of investment in unconsolidated affiliate and other expenses,
311 S 0.3) (2.9 (0.2)
Total other inCOME (EXPENSE). . ..ot vt eiiet it et ainenns 0.2 (24) (0.3)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes........... 13.9 (4.3) 16.8
Provision (benefit) for income taxes ... 0.4) 0.1 5.4
Income (loss) from continuing operations ...........covvivivnninnn.nn. 14.3 (4.4) 11.4
Income (loss) from discontinued operations ........................... (4.8 9.4 (7.7
NEEINCOME. . o\ ettt et ettt et et e et aenes $ 95 § 50 §$ 37

Net income (loss) from continuing operations

BaSIC o\ vt e et e $ 021 (30.07) $ 015

Diluted . ... e $ 020 ($0.07) $ 0.15
Income (loss) from discontinued operations

BaSIC vttt e e e e e e $(0.07) $ 014 §$(0.10)

Diluted ........... A $(0.07) $ 014 $(0.10)
Net income, per share

BasiC .. e e $ 014 § 0.07 $ 005

Diluted . ..o e $ 013 $ 007 § 005
Weighted average common shares outstanding:

BaSiC o ot e e e 68.4 67.7 74.0

Diluted .. e e 733 67.7 75.3

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Years e]nded December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005

(in millions)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Retained Accumulated
Convertible Additional  Earnings Other Comprehensive
Preferred Stock _Common Stock Paid-In  (Accumulated Comprehensive Income
Shares Amount Shares Amount _ Capital Deficit) Loss (Loss) Total
Balance, December 31,2002 . ......... 0.2 — 48.8 —  $266.6 $(109.9) $(3.0) $153.7
Conversion of Series A convertible
preferredstock ........... ... ... (0.1) — 70 — —_ — — —
Exercise of stock options . .......... — — 6.4 0.1 2738 — — 27.9
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan ... .. — — 0.4 — 15 — — 1.5
Employee stock compensation. ... ... — — — — 6.3 — — 6.3
Employee note receivable .......... — — — — 0.1 — — 0.1
Tax benefit from exercise of stock
OPHONS ..ot ien i — — — — 7.3 — — 7.3
Netincome...................... — — — — — 95 — 9.5 9.5
Foreign currency translation loss. . ... .. — — — — — — (1.0) (1.0) (1.0)
Total comprehensive loss. . . . . PP — — — — — — — 85
Balance, December 31,2003 ........ 0.1 — 626 $0.1 $309.6 $(100.4) $(4.0) $205.3
Conversion of Series B convertible
preferredstock ................. (0.1) — 6.4 — — — — —
Exercise of stock options . .......... — — 1.5 — 7.3 — — 7.3
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan .. ... — — 0.6 — 34 — — 34
Employee stock compensation. ... ... — — — — 0.2 — — 0.2
Adjustment of tax benefit from
exercise of stock options.......... — — — — (0.7) — — 0.7)
Netincome...................... — — — — — 5.0 — 5.0 5.0
Foreign currency translation gain. . . . . — - — — — — 0.2 0.2 0.2
Total comprehensive income. . ........ — - — — — — — 5.2
Balance, December 31,2004 . ....... — — 711 $01  $319.8 $ (95.4) $(3.8) $220.7
Exercise of stock options . .......... — — 0.6 (0.1) 2.7 — — 2.6
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan ... .. — — 0.5 — 23 — — 23
Employee stock compensation. . .. ... — L — — 0.1 — — 0.1
Netincome..........ooviiennn. — — — — — 3.7 — 3.7 3.7
Foreign currency translation loss . . . . . — = — — — — 0.9 0.9 0.9
Total comprehensive income ... ... .. — — — — — — — 4.6
Balance, December 31,2005 .. ........ — - 722 % — $324.9 $ (91.7) $(2.9) $230.3




WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005

(in millions)

2003 2004 2005

Operating activities:
Income (loss) from continuing OPErations ... ........o.vevivereenenn... $143 $ (44) $ 114
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) from continuing operations to

net cash provided by continuing operations:

Depreciation and amortization. .. ............o.oo i i 91 7.2 8.0
Provision {credit) for doubtful accounts................ ... ..o 0.6 0.7 0.5
Asset impairment charges and net loss on disposition of assets......... 2.3 0.2 0.7
Deferred income taxes. .. ....o.veiit it e e 1.0 (1.4) 55
Equity loss in unconsolidated affiliates............ ... ... oo 0.1 31 —
Tax benefit (provision) from stock options .......... ... ..ot 7.3 0.7) —
Stock compensation .. ... e 6.3 0.2 0.1
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable ... ... o i (89) (21.2) 2.9
Prepaid eXPenses. . ..o vuet vt e e (0.1) (0.6) 0.9
Other assets . ... vvu i i e i e e 1.0 (0.5) (2.3)
Accountspayable . ... . (0.6) 134 (4.9)
ACCTUE EXPENSES .+« . v v ete ettt teet e eee e e et 1.3 (7.4) 9.6
Tax CONtINGENCIES . ..ttt e e e 0.5 (1.2) 0.4
Accrual for contingent acquisition consideration and working capital
adjustment . .. ... e 38 144 2.1)
Accounts payable—related party .. ... ..o — 1.0 —_
Billings in excess of costs on completed contracts. .................... 1.7 (1.0) (3.3)
Accrual for unused office space .. ... il 54 @0y (09
Income taxpayable............ ... i (11.6) 2.1 (1.5)
Other Habilities . . ... .ot te c  ceeea 1.7 0.2) (0.1)
Net cash provided by continuing operations ....................... 21.0 1.3 19.1
Investing activities:
Purchase of short-term investments. . ........... ... o o it (37.3) — —_
Sale/maturity of short-term investments................ .. .o 22 275 7.6
Investment in unconsolidated subsidiary ............ ... .. .. oo — (1.0) —
Cash paid for contingent acquisition consideration ..................... — &3 (@171
Cash paid to acquire businesses, net of cashreceived ................... (10.9) (539) (33.6)
Capital expenditures. .. ......v it i e e 70 (07 (8.0)
Net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations. ... .. (53.0) (434 (51.0)
Financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of commonstock ........... ..o oo 29.4 7.3 2.6
Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan.......... 1.5 3.4 2.4
Repayment of capital lease obligations. . ............ ...t (2.5) 0.5) (0.4)

Repaymentof notespayable........... ... i 0.7) — —




|
\"VIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.

Consolidatg,d Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)

|

Years en

(in millions)

Net cash provided by financing activities . .........................

Cash flows of discontinued operations (Revised—see Note 1(s))

Operatingcash flows ... i

Investing cash flows ..............

Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents. .....................

L

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents . ................oooiiiiian...

|

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year...........................
Cash and cash equivalents at end of yez“ir ................................

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Net cash received during the year for‘} interest..........covviiineeiiinn
Net cash (paid) during the year for {NCOME tAXES . ...
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash i:\nvesting and financing transactions:
Fair value of assets acquired in acquisitions. . ..........................
Cash paid for acquisitions ......... L,
Liabilities assumed in acquisitions. .L......... ... oo
Fixed assets financed .......... ... 0.

ded December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005

Financingcashflows............ .. oo i
Net cash flows of discontinued operations.........................

2003 2004 2005
27.7 10.2 4.6

(154) 74 (118)
©04)  (02) (L0).

(15.8) 72 (12.8)

(12) (01 11

(21.3) (24.8) (391
98.1 76.8 52.0

$ 768 §$520 § 129

$ 10 $ 02 $ 02
$(12) $ (0.9) $ (L1)

$201 $621 $40.0
(1.7)  (55.0) (33.6)
$ 84 $ 71 $ 64

— — $ 06

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005

Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Description of Business

Wireless Facilities, Inc. (“WFI”) was initially incorporated in the state of New York on December 19,
1994, commenced operations in March 1995 and was reincorporated in Delaware in 1998. WFI conducts
business in three segments: Wireless Network Services, Government Network Services and Enterprise
Network Services. WF1 is an independent, global provider of outsourced communications and security
systems engineering and integration services for the wireless communications industry through its Wireless
Network Services division (“WNS”), the U.S. government through its Government Network Services
division (“GNS”), WFI Government Services, Inc., and enterprise customers through its Enterprise
Network Services division (“ENS”).

(b) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of WFI and its wholly-owned and
majority-owned subsidiaries. WFI and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to herein as the “Company.”

In 2003, the Company acquired three privately-held companies as part of its Enterprise Network
Solutions segment (now Enterprise Network Services) that provides voice, data, security, system design,
deployment, integration and monitoring for enterprise networks. In 2004, the Company acquired two
privately-held companies as part of its Government Network Services segment that provides systems
engineering, systems integration and the outsourcing of technical services such as operational test and
evaluation and program management. In 2005, the Company acquired one privately-held company as part
of its Government Network Services segment that provides services including network engineering,
network infrastructure support, information assurance, application development, and managed services,
including network maintenance and monitoring, to government agencies. See Note 5 for additional details
regarding these acquisitions.

All inter-company transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Investments in unconsolidated
affiliates are accounted for using the cost method and equity method. The cost method is used for companies
in which the Company owns less than 20% and for which the Company has no significant influence.

(¢) Fiscal Calendar

The Company operates and reports using a 52-53 week fiscal year ending the last Friday in December.
As a result, a fifty-third week is added every five or six years. The Company’s 52 week fiscal years consist of
four equal quarters of 13 weeks each, and its 53 week fiscal years consist of three 13 week quarters and one
14 week quarter. The financial results for its 53 week fiscal years and its 14 week fiscal quarters will not be
exactly comparable to its 52 week fiscal years and its 13 week fiscal quarters. However, the fiscal periods
presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are comparable. For presentation purposes, all fiscal
periods presented or discussed in this report have been presented as ending on the last day of the nearest
calendar month. For example, its 2004 fiscal year ended on December 31, 2004, however, its 2005 fiscal
year ended on December 30, 2005, but we present its 2005 fiscal year as ending on December 31, 2005.




WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.

Notes to Consj‘olidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Years en‘fled December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005

(d) Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

The Company’s cash equivalents c,\onsist of its highly liquid investments with an original maturity of
three months or less when purchased by the Company. At December 31, 2004, the Company’s short-term
investments consisted of corporate not%:s and bonds and U.S. government and agency securities. At
December 31, 2005, the Company did not have any short-term investments. The Company has evaluated
its investments in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)
No. 1135, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” Based on such evaluation,
the Company’s management has determined that all of its investment securities are properly classified as
available-for-sale. Based on the Compz”my’s intent and board-approved investment policy and its ability to
liquidate debt securities maturing after one year, the Company classifies such short-term investment
securities within current assets. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value, with unrealized gains
and losses reported as a separate cornp‘pnent of Stockholders’ Equity within the caption “Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Loss.” The amortized cost basis of debt securities is periodically adjusted for -
amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. Such amortization is included as a
component of interest income (expense), net. The amortized cost basis of securities sold is based on the
specific identification method and all such realized gains and losses are recorded as a component within
other income (expense). Interest and dividends on securities classified as available-for-sale are included in

interest income. The cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2005 were as follows (in millions):

December 31, 2005
Amortized Cost  Fair Value

Basis Basis
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash. ot e $ 79 $ 79
Moneymarket............oooo il _ 350 _50
Cash and cash equivalents...........|...... e e . $12.9 $12.9




WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
Years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005

December 31, 2004
Amortized Cost Fair Value
Basis Basis
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash. ot e e $16.6 $16.6
Money Market . ... ..o e e 28.0 28.0
U.S. Government and agency Securities . . ..........ooeeiieennneennn.. _ 5.2 5.2
Corporate SECUTTLIES. . . o\ttt ittt e 2.2 2.2
Cash and cash equivalents. ......... .. .. .. . i i 52.0 52.0
Short-term investments:
Corporate notesand bonds. ... e 6.3 6.3
U.S. Government and agency SECUrities . ... ..ovurvrevnnennenerennnnn. 13 13
ShOrt-term INVESTMENTS . ..ottt it et e e et ettt 7.6 7.6
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments................... $59.6 59.6

Debt securities recorded at fair value, maturing:
WILRIN OE YEAT. . vt ittt ettt e e e e e e e eeeeanens $ 7.6
After one year through fiveyears.............................. AU —

Debt securities recorded at fairvalue . ........ . oo 7.6

Net unrealized gains and realized gains recorded during the year ended December 31, 2004 and
December 31, 2005 were immaterial.

(e) Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market and is included in other current assets in the
accompanying balance sheets. Cost typically includes materials. The Company regularly reviews inventory
quantities on hand, future purchase commitments with its suppliers, and the estimated utility of its
inventory. If the Company review indicates a reduction in utility below carrying value, it reduces its
inventory to a new cost basis.

(f) Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment consists primarily of computer, field testing and office-related equipment and
is recorded at cost. Equipment acquired under capital leases is recorded at the present value of the future
minimum lease payments. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful life of each asset, which is one to three years for computer equipment, five years for furniture and
office equipment, purchased software for the Company’s enterprise system of ten years and fifteen years
for the Company’s Local Area Network infrastructure. Equipment acquired under capital leases is
amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset. Improvements, which
significantly improve and extend the useful life of an asset, are capitalized. Expenditures for maintenance
and repairs are charged to operations as incurred.




WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Cons

olidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005

{g) Goodwill and Other Intangible As

Goodwill represents the excess of
companies.

The Company typically engages a

sets, Net

the purchase price over the fair value of net assets from acquired

valuation consultant to assist in the determination of the carrying

value and amortizable life of its intangible assets related to its acquisitions. The estimated useful life for its

intangible assets is approximately two 1

The Company adopted SFAS No.

Principles Board Opinion No. 17, “Inta

intangible assets with indefinite useful
SFAS No. 142 includes provisions rega.

intangible assets in accordance with the

o eight years depending on the nature of the asset.

142, on January 1, 2002. SFAS No. 142 superseded Accounting
ngible Assets,” and discontinued the amortization of goodwill and
ives associated with purchase business combinations. In addition,
rding the reclassification between goodwill and identifiable

new definition of intangible assets set forth in SFAS No. 141,

“Business Combinations,”

the reassessment of the useful lives of existing finite-life intangible assets, and

I

the annual testing for impairment of ex‘lstlng goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives. In

accordance with the adoption of SEAS
of goodwill, and completed the require

No. 142 on J anuary 1, 2002, the Company ceased the amortization
d transitional impairment test. The Company also re-evaluated the

classifications of its existing intangible assets and goodwill in accordance with SFAS No. 141. In

accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Co

mpany conducts, at a minimum, an annual impairment test of

goodwill in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, or earlier if triggering events or circumstances warrant an

accelerated review for potential impair

(h) Revenue Recognition

The Company provides services for

|
I\llel’lt

three primary types of contracts: fixed-price long-term turnkey;

time and materials; and contract management and out of pocket reimbursables. The Company realizes a
significant portion of its revenue from l%)ng-terrn contracts and accounts for these contracts under the
provisions of Statement of Position (SOP) 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and
Certain Production-Type Contracts.” Revenue on fixed- -price contracts is recognized using the percentage-

|

of-completion method of accounting based on the ratio of total costs incurred to date compared to
estimated total costs to complete the contract. Estimates of costs to complete include materials, direct

labor, overhead, and allowable general

and administrative expenses (for government contracts). While the

Company generally does not incur a material amount of sef- -up fees for its projects, such costs, if any, are
excluded from the estimated total costs to complete the contract. Cost estimates are reviewed monthly on
an individual contract basis, and are revised periodically throughout the life of the contract such that
adjustments to profit resulting from revisions are made cumulative to the date of the revision. The full

amount of an estimated loss associated

%vuh a contract is accrued and charged to operations in the period it

is determined that it is probable a loss wﬂl be realized from the performance of the contract. Significant
management judgments and estimates, including the estimated costs to complete projects, which determine

the project’s percent complete, must be

] . X ) S
Tade and used in connection with the revenue recognized in any

accounting period. In the future, the Corlnpany may realize actual results that differ from current estimates.

Accordingly, the revenue we recognize in a given financial reporting period depends on (1) the costs

the Company has incurred for individu

remaining costs to complete the individt
with the projects. In the Company’s wire

awl projects, (2) the Company’s then current estimate of the total
1al projects and (3) current estimated contract value associated

|
less network services business, the estimated contract value and
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WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
Years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005

costs are impacted by the estimated number and mix of site types that we may be assigned. If, in any
period, we significantly increase or decrease its estimate of the total costs to complete a project, and/or
reduce or increase the associated contract value, revenue for that period would be impacted. To the extent
that the Company’s estimates fluctuate over time or ditfer from actual results, gross margins in subsequent
periods may vary significantly from its estimates. Material differences may result in the amount and timing
of the Company’s revenue for any period if management made different judgments or utilized different
estimates. In the event the Company is unable to provide reliable cost estimates on a given project, the
Company records revenue on the completed contract method. There are no contracts for which the
Company utilized the completed contract method in 2005.

Many of the Company’s contracts are master service agreements under which the Company is
contracted to provide services to deploy a pre-determined and specific number of sites in specific
geographic markets, These agreements are typically segmented into multiple projects to account for
revenue under the guidelines of SOP 81-1. These contractual arrangements with the Company’s customers
typically include milestone billings. The milestone billing clauses relate specifically to the timing of
customer billings and payment schedules, and are independent of the Company’s right to payment and the
timing of when revenue is recognized. Under the terms of substantiaily all of the Company’s contracts, if a
contract is terminated without proper cause by the customer, if the customer creates unplanned/unreasonable
time delays, or if the customer modifies the contract tasks/scope, the Company has contractual rights to
reimbursement in accordance with the terms and conditions regarding payment for work performed, but
not yet billed (i.e., unbilled trade accounts receivable) at a gross profit margin that is consistent with the
overall project margin. Furthermore, certain additional provisions compensate the Company for additional
or excess costs incurred, whereby any scope reductions (i.e., reduction in original number of sites) or other
modifications are subject to reimbursement of costs incurred to date with a reasonable profit margin based
on the contract value and completed work at that time. The inherent aforementioned risks associated with
the presence of potential “partial milestone billings” or “reductions in scope” are reflected in the
Company’s ongoing periodic assessment of the “total contract value” and the associated revenue
recognized. Total net unbilled accounts receivable at December 31, 2004 and 2005 were $36.5 million and
$51.0 million, respectively. The Company periodically performs work under authorizations to proceed or
work orders from its customers for which a formal purchase order may not be received until after the work
has commenced. As of December 31, 2005, approximately $14.1 million of the Company’s unbilled
accounts receivable balance were under unapproved change orders or claims. Through March 30, 2006,
approximately $10.3 million was received in customer purchase orders related to these amounts, the
majority of which has been invoiced to the customer. The Company expects that substantially all of the
unbilled balances as of December 31, 2005 will be billed within one year as billing and performance
milestones are achieved.

Revenue from certain time and materials and fixed priced contracts are recognized when realized or
realizable and earned, in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) 101, as revised by SAB 104
(recognized when services are rendered at contracted labor rates, when materials are delivered and when
other direct costs are incurred). Additionally, based on management’s periodic assessment of the
collectibility of its accounts receivable, credit worthiness and financial condition of customers, the
Company determines if collection is reasonably assured prior to the recognition of revenue.

The Company’s government network services business with the U.S. government and prime
contractors is generally performed under cost reimbursable plus fixed fee, fixed price or time and material
contracts. Cost reimbursable contracts for the government provide for reimbursement of costs plus the
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payment of a fee, for which the fee is Llecorded as costs are incurred. Under fixed-price contracts, the
Company agrees to perform certain w‘ark for a fixed price.

Under time and materials contracts, the Company is reimbursed for labor hours at negotiated hourly
billing rates and is reimbursed for trav)LeI and other direct expenses at actual costs plus applied general and
administrative expenses. Under certain of the Company s contractual arrangements, the Company may
also recognize revenue for out- of-pocﬂet expenses in accordance with EITF 01-14 “Income Statement
Characterization of Reimbursements Received for “Out-of-Pocket” Expenses Incurred.” Depending on

the contractual arrangement, these expenses may be reimbursed with or without a fee.

Under certain of its contracts, the}  Company provides supplier procurement dnd material purchases
for its customers. The Company records revenue on these arrangements on a gross or net basis in
accordance with EITF 99-19, “Reportmg Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent,”
depending on the specific circumstancgs of the arrangement. The Company considers the following
criteria, among others, for recording rc venue on a gross or net basis:

(1) Whether the Company acts as a principal in the transaction;
(2) Whether the Company takesf|title to the products:

(3) Whether the Company assumes risks and rewards of ownership, such as risk of loss for collection,
delivery or returns;

(4) Whether the Company serves as an agent or broker, with compensation on a commission or fee
basis; and '

(5) Whether the Company assumes the credit risk for the amount billed to the customer subsequent
to delivery.

(i) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the
inability of its customers to make requlred payments, which results in bad debt expense. Management
periodically determines the adequacy [f this allowance by evaluating the comprehensive risk profiles of all
individual customer receivable balance‘s including, but not limited to, the customer’s financial condition
and overall current economic conditions. Additionally, on certain contracts whereby the Company
performs services for a prime/general c“ontractor a specified percentage of the invoiced trade accounts
receivable may be retained by the customer until the project is completed. The Company periodically
reviews all retainages for collectibility and records allowances for doubtful accounts when deemed
appropriate, based on its assessment of the associated credit risks. Total retainages included in accounts
receivable were $1.4 million and $1.7 m‘llhon at December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively. Changes to
estimates of contract value are recorded as adjustments to revenue and not as a component of the
allowance of doubtful accounts. Allowa}[nces for doubtful accounts on billed accounts receivable as of

December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2005 were $1.3 million and $1.5 million, respectively.

(j) Income Taxes

The Company records deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
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temporary differences are expected to be realized. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

The Company maintains a valuation allowance on the portion of the deferred tax assets for which it is
more likely than not that the Company will not realize the benefits of these tax assets in future tax periods.
The valuation allowance is based on estimates of future taxable income by tax jurisdiction in which the
Company operates, the number of years over which the deferred tax assets will be recoverable, and
scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers, on a periodic basis,
whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
For U.S. purposes, the Company is in a cumulative book profit position as of December 31, 2004 and
December 31, 2005, and consideration is given to future taxable income, including the reversal of
temporary differences and 2006 projected taxable income, in evaluating the recoverability of its U.S.
deferred tax assets and the corresponding valuation allowance related to the assets. Unlike the Company’s
U.S. tax position, its foreign operations are in a cumulative book loss position. Pursuant to the provisions
of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” limited consideration is given to the Company’s future
foreign income in determining the recoverability of its foreign deferred tax assets and the related valuation
allowance. Accordingly, management believes the current valuation allowance on deferred tax assets is
sufficient and properly stated at December 31, 2005.

(k) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company applies the intrinsic value-based method of accounting as prescribed by Accounting
Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and related
interpretations including Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 44,
“Accounting for Certain Transactions involving Stock Compensation an interpretation of APB Opinion
No. 25” to account for its stock option plans. Under this method, compensation expense is measured on
the date of grant only if the then current market price of the underlying stock exceeded the exercise price
and is recorded on a straight-line basis over the applicable vesting period. SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation” established accounting and disclosure requirements using a fair value-based
method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation plans. As allowed by SFAS No. 123, the
Company has elected to continue to apply the intrinsic value-based method of accounting described above,
and has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure.”
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Under SFAS No. 123, the welghte

d average fair value of stock options granted during 2003, 2004 and

2005 was $9.95, $8.49 and $6.22 respetl:tlvely, on the date of grant. The weighted average estimated fair
values of shares granted under the Emlployee Stock Purchase Plan (see Note 10(c)) during 2003, 2004, and
2005 was $6.01, $6.00, and $4.78 respectlvely Fair value under SFAS No. 123 is determined using the

Black-Scholes option-pricing model wi

Expected term:
Stockoptions...................
Employee Stock Purchase plan

Interest rate .

Volatility .. ...

Dividends

.......................

~ Had compensation expense been 1
SFAS No. 123, the Company would hay
per share amounts (in millions, except

Netincome........................
Actual stock-based compensation expe

Total stock-based employee compensat

value based method for all awards. .
Proformanetloss..................
Earnings (loss) per common share:

Basic—as reported

Basic—proforma ................

Diluted—as reported

Diluted—proforma ..............
Weighted average shares:

Basic—as reported

Basic—proforma ................

Diluted—as reported

Diluted—pro forma

.............

(I) Net Income per Common Share

ith the following assumptions:

2003 2004 2005
......................... 3 years 4 years 4 years
......................... 6 months 6 months 6 months
......................... 211% 3.43% 4.05%
......................... 105% 96% 76%

ecognized for stock-based compensation plans in accordance with
ve recorded the following net income (loss) and net income (loss)
per share amounts):

2003 2004 2005
................................. $ 95 § 50 § 37
nse included in net earnings......... 6.3 0.2 0.1
jon expense determined under fair
................................. (20.7) (16.3) (42.8)

$ (4.9) $(11.1) $(39.0)

$0.14 $007 $0.05
$(0.07) $(0.16) $(0.53)

................................. $0.13 $007 $005
RPN $(0.07) $(0.16) $(0.53)
................................. 68.4 67.7 74.0
.................................. 634 677 740
.................................. 733 6717 753
.................................. 68.4 67.7 74.0

The Company calculates net income per share in accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per

Share”. Under SFAS No. 128, basic net income per common share is calculated by dividing net income by

|

the weighted-average number of commaon shares outstanding during the reporting period. The increase in
the expected term of stock options in 2004 is a result of an increase in the vesting period of new stock

options granted by the Company. The Company adopted EITF No. 03-6 “Participating Securities and the

|

Two-Class Method Under FASB Statement No. 128” on January 1, 2005. In accordance with EITF

No. 03-6, the Company determined that|i

securities and therefore required to be

its Series B Convertible Preferred Stock were participating
included in the weighted average basic shares if dilutive.
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Accordingly, all prior year amounts presented have been restated to conform to the current year
presentation. Diluted net income per common share reflects the effects of potentially dilutive securities.
Weighted average shares used to compute basic and diluted net income per share are presented below (in
millions):

2003 2004 2005

LAY 100 11 L $95 $50 § 37
Shares used in basic per share amounts:

Weighted average common shares outstanding. . .......................... ‘ 684 677 740
Shares used in diluted per share amounts:

Dilutive effect of stock Options. . ..o vt e e 4.9 — 13

Dilutive weighted average shares................. ... it 733 677 753
Basicnet income Per share ... ...t e e $0.14 $0.07 $0.05
Diluted net income per share . ..........oieeiiiiiiii e, $0.13 $0.07 $0.05
Anti-dilutive weighted shares from stock options excluded from calculation. .. .. 15 8.0 7.4
Anti-dilutive weighted shares from preferred stock excluded from calculation. . . — 5.1 —
Average per share market value of commonstock . ............. ... ... $10.57 $9.80 $6.33
Average outstanding stock option price pershare .............. ... . ... $ 922 $9.30 $6.28

The 2004 dilutive weighted average shares does not include 8.0 million of dilutive effect of stock options
and 5.1 million of dilutive effect of Series B convertible preferred stock as such shares were antidilutive.

(m) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of

On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, which addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or
disposal of long-lived assets. While SFAS No. 144 supersedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of”, it retains many of the
fundamental provisions of SFAS No. 121, including the recognition and measurement of the impairment of
long-lived assets to be held and used, and the measurement of long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale.
Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the
assets to future net cash flows (undiscounted and without interest) expected to be generated by the asset. If
such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are
reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company assessed the utilization of its project equipment
and determined that certain equipment was idle and technologically impaired. These were primarily older
assets which could no longer effectively nor efficiently be utilized on existing or upcoming domestic and
international customer contracts. Due to the nature of this equipment and its dependence on current
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technology, the salvage value associated with such equipment was deemed to be nominal. Based on these

combined facts and circumstances, the

/IRELESS FACILITIES, INC.
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| . . .
bompany concluded that impairment existed and, therefore,

recorded an impairment charge totaling $2.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2003.

(n) Fair Value of Financial Instrumen

SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures about

disclosed for the Company’s financial ir

ts

Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” requires that fair values be

Hlstruments. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents,

short-term investments, accounts receivable, income taxes receivable, accounts payable, accounts

payable-related party, accrued expense
term nature of these instruments.

(0) Comprehensive Income (Loss)
SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Compr

comprehensive income (loss) and its co

December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 incl
adjustments.

(p) Foreign Currency Translation

In accordance with SFAS No. 52
Company’s foreign subsidiaries where t
currency are translated into United Sta

and rates of exchange that approximatel

gains and losses.

(q) Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which poten
principally of cash and cash equivalents
management receivables. At times, cash

are in excess of federally insured limits.

standing of financial institutions and lin

strong relative credit standing.

s and income taxes payable approximate fair value due to the short-

chensive Income,” establishes rules for the reporting of
mponents. Comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended
1des net income (loss) and foreign currency translation

Foreign Currency Translation,” the financial statements of the
he functional currency has been determined to be the local
tes dollars using year-end rates of exchange for assets and liabilities

the rates in effect at the transaction date for revenues, expenses,

tially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, consist
short-term investments, trade accounts receivable and contract
 and short-term investment balances held in financial institutions
The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit
its the amount of risk by selecting financial institutions with a
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(r) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
in the United States (US GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Such estimates include revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of long-lived assets
including identifiable intangibles and goodwill, accounting for income taxes including the related valuation
allowance on the deferred tax asset, accruals for partial self-insurance, contingencies and litigation and
contingent acquisition consideration. In the future, the Company may realize actual results that differ from
the current reported estimates and if the estimates that we have used change in the future, such changes
could have a material impact.

(s) Reclassifications

The accompanying statements of cash flows separately reflect the operating, investing and financing
portions of the cash flows attributable to its discontinued operations for each of the years presented. These
amounts were reported on a combined basis as a single amount in prior statements of cash flows. In
addition, the balance sheets and statements of operations have been reclassified to present the
discontinued operations.

(t) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2004, the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) released Issue 03-13, “Applying
the Conditions in Paragraph 42 of FASB Statement 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets, in Determining Whether to Report Discontinued Operations.” To qualify as a
discontinued operation, paragraph 42 of Statement 144 requires that the cash flows of the disposed
component be eliminated from the operations of the ongoing entity and that the ongoing entity not have
any significant continuing involvement in the operations of the disposed component after the disposal
transaction. EITF Issue 03-13 provides guidance on how to interpret and apply the criteria in
paragraph 42A (elimination of cash flows) and paragraph 42B (no significant continuing involvement) of
Statement 144, EITF Issue 03-13 was effective for all periods beginning after December 15, 2004. The
Company adopted EITF Issue 03-13 effective January 1, 2005.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 123 (revised
2004) “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS No. 123R). SFAS No. 123R requires public companies to measure
the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-
date fair value of the award. The cost will be recognized over the period during which an employee is
required to provide service in exchange for the award. This Statement is effective for interim or annual
reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2005 (January 1, 2006 for the Company). SFAS No. 123R has
several methods for adopting this provision at the effective date and the Company has chosen the modified
prospective method. The Company has not completed its analysis of the estimated impact of adopting the
provisions of SFAS No. 123R.

Moreover, the fair value of share-based payment awards (including employee stock option grants) will
be recognized as expense in the statements of operations over the requisite service period of each award.
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FAS 123R also changes the manner in which deferred taxes are recognized on share-based payment
awards, as well as the accounting for award modifications.

In December 2004 the FASB 1ssued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 153
“Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets—An Amendment of APB Opinion No. 29.” The amendments made
by SFAS No. 153 are based on the prm‘mple that exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured
based on the fair value of the assets exchanged. SFAS No. 153 eliminates the narrow exception for
nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a broader exception for exchanges
of nonmonetary assets that do not hach,l “commercial substance.” SFAS No. 153 is effective for
nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company does
not believe the adoption of SFAS No. 153 will have a material impact on its operating results and its
financial position.

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Standard No. 154, “Accounting Changes and
Error Corrections—A Replacement of"APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3” SFAS No. 154
requires that a voluntary change in achountmg principle be applied retrospectively with all prior period
financial statements presented on the new accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to do so. SFAS
No. 154 also provides that (1) a change‘ in method of depreciating or amortizing a long-lived nonfinancial
asset be accounted for as a change in estimate (prospectively) that was affected by a change in accounting
principle, and (2) correction of errors i‘n previously issued financial statements shall be termed a
“restatement.” SFAS No. 154 is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal

years beginning after December 15, 2005.
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Note 2. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill and other intangible assets by operating segment for
the year ended December 31, 2003, are as follows (in millions):

Wireless  Enterprise = Government

Network Network Network
Services Services Services Total

Goodwill

Balance as of January 1,2004 . .............. ...l $25.5 $55 $ — $ 31.0
ACQUISILIONS . .\ vttt e — — 44.6 44.6
Adjustments. .. ... e — 0.2) 0.8 0.6
Earn-out consideration ..........cooiiiiinaniinn. — 5.9 0.5 6.4

Balance as of December 31,2004, ......... ... 25.5 11.2 45.9 82.6
ACqUISItIONS . . ..o oottt —_ — 29.4 29.4
AdJuSIments. ... ..ot e — 0.2 (0.6) 0.4)
Earn-out consideration .............ooiiiiiiiiii.. — 6.9 1.4 8.3

Balance as of December 31,2005, . ......covvvinennn. $25.5 $18.3 $76:1 $119.9

Other intangibles, net ‘

Balance as of January 1,2004 . ...................iaL $ — $ 19 $ — $ 19
ACqUISIEIONS . ..ot vt —_ — 55 55
Amortization eXpense . .........iiii i - (0.5) (0.5) (1.0)

Balance as of December 31,2004, ....................... — 14 5.0 6.4
ACQUISITIONS . . ..\ v et e — — 2.7 2.7
AmOrtization eXpense . .........o.eeiinienneraiiiaais — (0.3) (1.4) (1.7)

Balance as of December 31,2005, . ..., § — $ 1.1 $ 6.3 $ 74

Total goodwill and other intangibles,net................. $25.5 $19.4 $82.4 $127.3

As of December 31, 2005
Weighted Average
Gross Accumulated Amortization

Value Amortization  Net Value Period (years)

Acquired Intangible Assets

Customer relationships ......................... $ 34 (0.9) 25 8.2
Contracts and Backlog..............cooevuian. 6.0 (1.8) 4.2 24
Non-compete agreements .. .........ooveevune.... 1.3 (0.7) 06 33
Tradenames ............c.cooiiiiiiiniinnnn... 0.4 (0.3) 0.1 33

Total .o e $11.1 $(3.7) $7.4 4.3

Aggregate Amortization Expense

Estimated amortization expense:
Foryearended 12/31/06............. ... ......
Foryearended 12/31/07......... ... ... ..ol
For year ended 12/31/08. . ...........coooiiia...
Foryearended 12/31/09............ ..ot
Foryearended 12/31/10. . ... ..o oeei i,
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In accordance with the adoption of the provisions of SFAS No. 142, the first step of the goodwill

impairment transitional test required t
reporting units to their carrying values

he Company to determine and compare the fair value of its defined
as of January 1, 2002. The fair value for each reporting unit was

determined using a discounted cash flow valuation analysis. The carrying values of each reporting unit was

|

determined by specifically identifying and allocating the assets and liabilities of the Company to each
reporting unit based on headcount, relatlve revenues or costs, or other methods as deemed appropriate by

management. Management believes that the assumptions made for these analyses are reasonable and

consistent. During the Company’s step

 one of the test for impairment, the estimated fair values exceeded

the carrying value for each reporting unit. In 2004, the Company re-organized its operating segments to

|

reflect its current operations and strateglc direction.

J

The Company completed its annual impairment test as required under the provisions of SFAS No.142
during the fourth quarters of 2003, 2004 and 2005 and determined that there was no indication of
impairment as of December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005. If the Company is required to record an impairment

charge in the.future, it could have an a‘

Note 3. Significant Transaction

(a) Loss/Benefit on Unused Office Sp

In 2001, the Company recorded a
office space based on management’s a

During the first quarter of 2002, t
improvement in the financial markets
Management re-assessed the market ¢

achieving certain sublease rates and tH
result, the Company calculated the esti
$10.0 million during the quarter ended
December 31, 2002 was $8.9 million, ni

to the accrual for unused office space.

During 2003, the Company reeval
significant portion of its corporate faci1

estimate was primarily attributable to
December 2003 and consummated in
reversal of the accrual for unused offic

dverse impact on its results of operations.

ace

n accrual for $1.4 million related to an estimated loss on unused

Tsessment of the existing market conditions, sublease rental rates
and recoverability of operating lease e3

xpenses for the Company’s vacant properties.

he Company’s operating results reflected a continued lack of
and economic environment of the telecommunications industry.
onditions surrounding its unused office space, the likelihood of

e overall recoverability of its related operating lease expenses. As a

imated loss on unused office space to increase by approximately
March 31, 2002. The accrual for loss on unused office space as of
et of approximately $1.6 million of lease payments that were charged

uated its accrual for unused office space and determined that a
lity was expected to be utilized commencing in 2004. This change in
the Company’s acquisition of HTS that was announced in

January 2004. As a result, the Company recorded a $3.2 million

e space during the fourth quarter of 2003.

The accrual for loss on unused of{ice space as of December 31, 2005 was $1.7 million, net of
approximately $0.9 million of lease payments that were charged to the accrual of unused office space. The
Company estimates that the remaining accrual will be paid through 2010.

(b) Discontinued Operations—Scand

During the second quarter of 200
Network Management business in Sca‘
Network Services segment. WFI deter

inavia
4, the Company made the decision to sell or otherwise divest its

ndinavia, which had previously been reported in its Wireless
mined that this entity met the criteria to classify it as held for sale.
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Accordingly, WFT has reflected this operation as discontinued in accordance with SFAS No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” After actively marketing to sell this
business for one quarter, the Company made the decision to wind-down this operation in the third quarter
of 2004. As of December 31, 2004 operations had been substantially wound-down. For the year ended
December 31, 2004, the Network Management business in Scandinavia generated revenues of $2.7 million
and net loss of $2.4 million for the same period. Included in the net loss for the year ended December 31,
2004 is an asset impairment loss of $0.4 million and a $1.7 million charge for estimated employee
termination costs. A total of $0.9 million was paid in cash during the year ended December 31, 2004, and
the remaining balance of the accrued liability at December 31, 2004 was $0.8 million related to employee
termination costs. These amounts were paid during 2005. There was no tax benefit provided for these
losses due to the uncertain future realizability of tax assets resulting from net operating losses in
Scandinavia. All prior period amounts have been restated to reflect these operations as discontinued.

During 2005, the Scandinavian operation had a net loss of $0.3 million. As of December 31, 2004 and
2005, there were zero assets of discontinued operations, and $0.8 million and $0.1 million of liabilities of
discontinued operations for December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively, associated with the Scandinavia
operation.

(c) Discontinued Operations—Latin American Operations

In December 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors made the decision to exit the Company’s
Mexican operations and certain of its other deployment businesses in South America. Prior to this
decision, these operations had been reported in its Wireless Network Services segment. The Company
determined that these operations meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale. Accordingly, WFI has
reflected these operations as discontinued in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” The discontinued South American deployment operations
were substantially shut down as of the end of December 2005.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, these operations had revenues of $42.1 million and net loss of
$7.4 million. Included in the loss from discontinued operations of $7.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 is approximately $5.0 million of a pre-tax write-off of contract costs incurred on sites
the Company was building for its customers in Mexico and South America which were cancelled prior to
the completion of the sites. Although the Company was under contractual arrangement with these
customers to build these sites, these costs were contractually unrecoverable from its customers due to the
termination clauses in the contracts, which do not provide for reimbursement for in process cancelled sites.
Also included in the loss from discontinued operations for 2005 is a pre-tax impairment charge of
approximately $0.9 million of accumulated foreign currency translation losses written off in the fourth
quarter of 2005 in accordance with EITF Issue 01-05 “Application of FASB Statement No. 52 to an
Investment Being Evaluated for Impairment that will be Disposed Of”. The net loss from discontinued
operations for 2005 includes a tax provision of approximately $3.6 million or an effective 88% provision
rate, which was the result of an impairment charge related to the deferred tax assets of the discontinued
operations. For the year ended December 31, 2004, these operations had revenues of $62.8 million and net
income of $11.8 million.

On February 17, 2006, the Company announced that it had entered into a definitive agreement to
divest all of its operations in Mexico. Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements for further
discussion.
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The components of the current an
operations are included in the accomp
2004 and 2005 (in millions):

Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses
Income tax receivable
Other current assets )
Current assets of discontinued operati

Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax asset
Other assets
Non-current assets of discontinued op

|
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Tax contingencies
Billings in excess of cost
Income taxes payable
Deferred tax liability

Non-current liabilities of discontinued

\\

The restricted cash of $0.6 millionh

regulation in Argentina which requires
advanced by the Company to its foreig

Note 4, Investments in Unconsolidate‘

(a) Diverse Networks, Inc (“DNI”)

ons

d non-current assets and liabilities for the Latin American

2004
$ 24

rations

o2
w

......................................

o

w

d Affiliates

On May 24, 2000, the Company pc‘\lid $4.0 million in cash to acquire a 16.67% interest in DNI, a

—

anying balance sheet as discontinued operations as of December 31,

_2005_
$ 32
06
34.5
0.2

, is a one-year fixed account at zero interest as a result of a 2005
the maintenance of cash balances as a percentage of foreign loans
n subsidiary.

private company that provides network management and data center services. Through December 31,

I

2002, this investment was accounted for under the equity method of accounting due to the presence of

significant influence that was deemed to exist based on the significant number of contracts that WFI had
entered into with DNT and the presence of a WFI employee on DNI’s board of directors. The contracts
constituted a substantial portion of theubusiness conducted by DNI. By the end of fiscal 2002, the majority

of the contracts between the Company
concluding effective January 1, 2003, th
investment in DNI no longer met the ¢
accordingly, the investment has been ac
equity in earnings from this investment

and DNI had been completed. This resulted in the Company
|at significant influence no longer existed. Accordingly, the
onditions for the use of equity method of accounting and
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equity method of accounting were classified within other income (expense) in the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations. The balance of the Company’s investment in DNI at December 31, 2003, totaled
$3.1 million and is classified on the consolidated balance sheet under the caption investment in
unconsolidated affiliates. During June 2004, the Company determined, based upon events occurring in the
second quarter of 2004 at Diversified Networks, Inc. (“DNI”), that there was an other than temporary
impairment of its investment in DNI. Specifically, DNI reported that it was losing a significant customer
and that such loss would result in reduced gross margins and profitability. Additionally, DNI reported that
it would need a cash infusion before the end of the year to fund operations and working capital
requirements. Accordingly, the Company concluded that the full carrying value of $3.1 million was
impaired. The write-off of $3.1 million is reflected in impairment of investment in unconsolidated affiliate
and other income (expenses), net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

On December 1, 2005, The Jackson Rivers Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger
(“Agreement”) with Diverse Networks, Inc. The Agreement provides for each share the right to receive
$0.21 million in the form of a promissory note payable within one year of the closing date, bearing interest
at 8% per annum, with installments of principal and interest payable on a quarterly basis. As of the time
the certificate of merger is filed, all shares will no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be
cancelled. The Company received a promissory note in the amount of $0.2 million payable in quarterly
installments through December 2006. This amount was recorded in “Other income and expense” as of
December 2005 in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations as consideration for its equity
interest in Diverse Networks, Inc. i

(b) CommVerge Solutions, Inc.

On July 21, 2000, the Company acquired 1,184,835 shares of Class B convertible Preferred Stock
(1.2% interest) of CommVerge Solutions, Inc., a privately-held wireless network planning and deployment
company. The investment totaled $5.0 million in cash and is accounted for using the cost method of
accounting. In 2001, an adjustment was required to reflect an impairment charge of $4.1 million as a result
of a variety of factors including the capital raised in the investee’s financing transaction in January 2002,
which indicated that the value of the Company’s investment had significantly declined. The balance of the
Company’s investment in CommVerge Solutions, Inc. at December 31, 2004 and 2005 totals $0.9 million
and has been classified on the consolidated balance sheet under the caption investment in unconsolidated
affiliates. One of the Company’s Directors is also a Director of CommVerge Solutions, Inc.

(¢) Tactical Survey Group, Inc.

On February 23, 2004, the Company paid $1.0 million in cash to acquire an 11% interest in Tactical
Survey Group, Inc. (TSG), a privately-held company that provides expertise in developing, deploying and
integrating tactical survey systems for use in government and commercial applications. Pursuant to the
provisions of APB Opinion No. 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common
Stock” (APB 18), this investment is accounted for under the equity method of accounting due to the
presence of significant influence deemed to exist based on the significant number of contracts that the
Company has entered into with TSG and the presence of a Company employee on TSG’s board of
directors. The equity in earnings from this investment is classified within Other income (expense) in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2005, the Company has recorded
zero equity earnings related to this investment. The balance of the Company’s investment in TSG at
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Years en

December 31, 2004 and 2005, totaled Jil 2 million and has been classified on the consolidated balance
in unconsolidated affiliates.”

sheet under the caption “Investments

Note 5. Acquisitions
Enterprise Network Services Segment

On February 13, 2003, the Compa
Systems, Inc (Suntech)., a company th
and enterprise customers for the d651g

J

was the first in the Company’s diversification strategy into the enterprise market. Initial purchase
consideration consisted of a cash payment totaling $1.8 million, of which $1.0 million was allocated to.

goodwill and $0.6 million was allocated

intangible assets primarily consisted of‘ customer relationships and are being amortized over their 5-year
estimated useful life. The acquisition v»fas accounted for under the provisions of purchase method
accounting in accordance with Statement of Financial Accountin,

i
“Business Combinations”. Included in ‘\)t

has agreed to pay the selling shareholders additional earn-out consideration that is contingent upon the

acquired entity’s successful achlevernelg
December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 and

December 31, 2005, $2.6 million of add}ltlonal purchase consideration was recorded as goodwill, bringing
the total purchase consideration to $4.4 million.

\
On April 15, 2003, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Delmarva Systems

l

Corporation, a company that provides Yanous commercial electrical systems integration services. This
acquisition was a continuation of the Company s diversification strategy. Initial purchase consideration

consisted of a cash payment totaling $6
$2.1 million was allocated to the fair va
consisted primarily of customer relatior
life. The acquisition was accounted for

accordance with SFAS No. 141. The sto
agreed to pay the selling shareholders a
entity’s successful achievement of specif
March 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006. As of D
consideration was recorded as goodwill

On August 7, 2003, the Company acquired all of the outstanding equity interests of Enco Systems, Inc.

(Enco), a company that provides full-se
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ny acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Suntech
at provides subcontracting services primarily for general contractors
n and installation of commercial electrical systems. This acquisition

\—

to the fair value of identifiable intangible assets. Purchased

g Standards No. 141 (SFAS No. 141)
he stock purchase agreement is a provision whereby the Company
t of specific annual earnings targets for each of the years ending
the continued employment of certain individuals. As of

2 million, of which $1.3 million was allocated to goodwill and

ue of identifiable intangible assets. Purchased intangible assets
ships that are being amortized over their 7-year estimated useful
under the provisions of the purchase method of accounting in

ck purchase agreement included a provision whereby the Company
dditional consideration that is contingent upon the acquired

Fic earnings targets for each of the twelve month periods ended
ecember 31, 2005, $10.9 million of additional purchase

bringing the total purchase consideration to $15.8 million.

rvice security systems and building technologies integration. This

acquisition was a continuation of the Company’s diversification strategy. The initial purchase consideration

consisted of a cash payment totaling $3.}

$0.1 million was allocated to identifiable intangible assets. The acquisition was accounted for under the
provisions of the purchase method of aclcountmg in accordance with SFAS No. 141. The stock purchase
agreement included a provision whereby the Company has agreed to pay the selling equity holders

‘\7 million, of which $0.1 million was allocated to goodwill and

|

additional consideration that is contmge
annual earnings targets for the six mont
December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, and
contingent consideration earned by Enc

nt upon the acquired entity’s successful achievement of specific
h period ended December 31, 2003 and the years ending

the continued employment of certain individuals. All additional
0 was classified as compensation expense. The stock purchase
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agreement contained a provision whereby either party could terminate the earn-out provision at the end of
2005 and the Company has chosen to exercise this option.

In connection with the acquisitions of Suntech and Enco, certain selling shareholders had continued
employment provisions as a condition to receiving additional earn-out consideration. In accordance with
EITF 95-8 “Accounting for Contingent Consideration Paid to the Shareholders of an Acquired Enterprise
in a Purchase Business Combination,” such payments were recorded as compensation expense. During
2003, the Company recorded $2.9 million of associated compensation expense. In September 2004, the
Company amended these purchase agreements to more accurately reflect the intent of the transaction,
resulting in a rescission of the continuous employment clauses from the earn-out arrangements. These
amendments constituted a triggering event which resulted in a one-time charge of $12.4 million in the third
quarter of 2004, which represents estimated payments to be made to certain ENS selling shareholders
based on the original continuous employment clauses. During the third quarter of 2005, the Company
reduced $2.5 million of this accrual when it became probable that the total earn-out consideration earned
would be less than originally estimated based upon the performance of the acquired entities. During the
fourth quarter of 2005, the Company recorded an additional net increase of $0.4 million accrual that was
recorded to selling, general and administrative expense of contingent acquisition consideration as a result
of one of the entities financial performance exceeding previously estimated performance, which was
comprised of an increase of $1.1 million, net of a further reduction of $0.7 million for one of the entities
that did not meet the estimated performance.

Assuming the ENS entities reach the minimum base performance targets in 2006, the aggregate future
contingent payments, including the balance accrued and earned as of December 31, 2005, would
approximate a cumulative total of $9.7 million. If the acquired entities exceed the defined annual
performance targets through estimated annual growth as projected by the Company based on its current
operating forecasts, the aggregate future contingent payments could likely range from $9.7 million to
$11.7 million inclusive of the amounts accrued as of December 31, 2005 and the amounts earned from the
achievement of the minimum base performance targets. The contingent consideration is calculated based
on a certain multiple of defined annual earnings targets as stated in the respective purchase agreements.
The company paid $6.8 million of this earn-out consideration in the first quarter of 2006.

_The results of operations of these acquired entities are included in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for fiscal 2003 and are a component within the Enterprise Network Services operating
segment.

A summary of the accrual for contingent acquisition consideration for the year ended December 31,
2005 is summarized in the table below (in millions):

Suntech Delmarva Enco DSI TLA Total

Balance as of December 31,2004, ................... $ 9.1 $ — $49 $05 % — $145
Accrual for (reduction of) contingent consideration . .. 3.2 5.0 34 19 — 6.7
Accrual for working capital adjustment ............ o — — — — 33 33
Payments....................... e (5.4) 5.00 (0.7 (19 (33) (163)

Balance as of December 31,2005, ............ S $69 $ — $08 $05 $ — § 82
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Government Network Services Segment.

|

On January 5, 2004, the Company|acquired of all of the outstanding securities of High Technology
Solutions, Inc. (HTS), for $48.5 million‘ in cash. HTS provides systems engineering, systems integration,
and the outsourcing of technical services such as operational test and evaluation and program management
to government agencies. The acqmsxtlo‘;n of HTS was a part of the Company’s strategy to enter into the
government sector and its overall diversification and long-term growth strategy. The excess purchase price
paid over the fair valué of tangible net éssets acquired of $43.5 million to goodwill in the amount of
$39.6 million, and to identifiable finite-life intangible assets in the amount of $3.9 million. The identified
intangible assets consist of $3.2 million [allocated to contracts and backlog, $0.2 million for intellectual
property and $0.5 million for a non- compete agreement. The allocation of the purchase price is subject to
adjustments within a one-year period of the acquisition date based on the resolution of pre-acquisition
contingencies, which is comprised prlm‘arlly of certain incentive arrangements. In connection with the
Company’s acquiisition of HTS and the \“Idetermmatlon of the fair value of assets acquired pursuant to the
provisions of SFAS No. 141, the Comp?ny valued acquired contracts in process at contract price, minus the
estimated costs to complete and an allqwance of $1.5 million for the normal industry profit on its effort to
complete such contracts. The Company reflected this allowance as an increase to goodwill and a
corresponding increase to billings in excess of costs (deferred profit). During 2005 and 2004, $0.7 million

and $0.4 million, respectively, of this allowance was amortized into income. The remaining amount of

$0.3 million at December 31, 2005 is estimated to reduce costs through 2006. The results of operations of

HTS since the acquisition date are included in the Company’s accompanying consolidated financial

statements and are a component of the

The following table summarizes th

government network services operatmg segment.

e final purchase price, including transaction costs (in millions):

At January §, 2004

CUITENE ASSELS .. ..ottt ettt e ettt ettt et e e e e et e e e et e $ 78

Property, plant, and equipment . ... 0 . o e 05

Intangible assets ................... TP 39

GOOAWALL . .. ..o TP 39.6

Deferred tax asset (net of valuation allowance). ...t 41

Other assets . ... ...t e _04

Total assets. ..., TP PRR PR 563
Current liabilities .................. ‘ .................................................. $(3.6)
Deferred profit .................... e (1.5)
Deferred tax liability. . .............. e, (1.5)
Long-termdebt .................... TR

=

Total liabilities assumed
Net assets acquired

o
X
tnh

|

On August 4, 2004, the Company completed its acquisition of Defense Systems, Incorporated (DSI), a
company that provides a full range of information technology and logistics automation services to federal
government and commercial clients, with a strategic focus on providing the end-to-end total radio
frequency identification (“RFID”) solu tions. The initial purchase consideration consisted of a cash
payment of $6.6 million, of which $5.8 million was allocated to goodwill and $1.6 million was allocated to

identifiable finite-lived intangible assets. The identified intangible assets consist of $0.8 million backlog,
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$0.7 million of customer relationships and $0.1 million non-compete agreement, which are being amortized
over their useful lives of 5, 10 and 3 years, respectively. Additional consideration of up to $3.2 million can
be earned by the former major stockholders of DSI over an 18 month period based upon performance
milestones related to certain specified contracts. The additional consideration if any, will be recorded as
goodwill as earned. As of December 31, 2005, approximately $0.5 million has been accrued of the
additional consideration based upon the attainment of certain milestones The operating results for DSI for
the year ended December 31, 2003, are not included in the proforma results presented below as the results
were immaterial.

On January 27, 2005, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock
of IMA Associates, Inc d/b/a TLA Associates (TLA) for $37.3 million in cash. TLA provides services
including network engineering, network infrastructure support, information assurance, application
development, and managed services, including network maintenance and monitoring, to government
agencies. The acquisition was a continuation of the Company’s strategy to expand its government services
business. The intangible assets consist of backlog of $1.3 million amortized over a 3 year period, customer
relationships of $0.8 million being amortized over a 10 year period and non-compete agreements of
$0.6 million being amortized over a 3 year period.

The purchase price, including transaction costs of $0.6 million, was accounted for as follows
(in millions): ‘

CUITENLE @SSELS L .. oottt ettt et e e e et et et e e e e $ 84
Property, plant, and equipment . ........ ...t e e e 0.8
Intangible @SSets . ... ..o e e 2.7
Goodwill . ..o _29.0
Total @SSEtS. . ..\ e e _409
Accrual for loss contracts. . . . .. e e $(0.6)
Deferred profit .. ...o.oonuinii e e e (0.2)
Other current Habilities .. ... .o i e e e e e (2.2)
Total liabilities aSSUME. . .. ..ottt e e e e 3.0
Net assets aCqUITEA. . . ..ot vttt et e $37.9

Pro Forma Financial Information

The results of operations of these acquired entities since the acquisition date are included in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2004 and 2005 and are a component within the
Government Network Services segment.

_The following summary presents pro forma consolidated results of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2004 as if the acquisitions described above had occurred January 1, 2004 and includes
adjustments that were directly attributable to the transaction or were not expected to have a continuing
impact on the Company. The pro forma adjustment amount for the year ending December 31, 2005, for
the period from January 1, 2005 to January 27, 2005, related to the acquisition of TLA is immaterial. The
pro forma results are unaudited and for illustrative purposes only for the applicable period and do not
purport to be indicative of the actual results which would have occurred had the transactions been
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completed as of the beginning of the

in the future (all unaudited amounts,

Revenue ............ ..o,
Net income

Diluted earnings per share

Note 6. Balance Sheet Details

The consolidated balance sheets ¢

Accounts receivable, net:
Billed............ ...
Unbilled

......................

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Total accounts receivable, net. .. ..

Property and equipment, net:

Computer equipment............

Furniture and office equipment
Construction in progress

Leasehold improvements. ........

ded December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005

B

except per share amounts, are in miilion):

eriod, nor or they indicative of results of operations which may occur

.........................................

..........................................

.........................................

...........................................

Accumulated depreciation and amortization. .. ... ... .. ..ot

Total property and equipment, net

Other intangibles, net:
Customer relationships
Contracts and Backlog
Trade name
Noncompete agreements
Accumulated amortization

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates:
CommVerge,Inc. ...............
Tactical Survey Group, Inc.. ... ...

Total investments in unconsolidated

Note 7.
(a) Credit Agreement

On March 16, 2005, the Company er
{“KeyBank”) to provide a $15 million sen

Total other intangibles, net. . ...

Notes Payable and Other Fingncing Arrangements

81

2004
$ 64.2
36.5
100.7
(1.3)

$ 99.4
$ 299
3.3
2.0
14
(24.1)
§ 125
$ 26
4.6
0.4
0.7
(1.9)

$ 64
$ 09
12

$ 21

2004 Pro forma 2004
As Reported  Adjustments  Pro forma

............................ $334.2 $31.6 $365.8
............................ $ 5.0 $ 28 $ 7.8
............................ $ 0.07 $ 012

onsist of the following at December 31, 2004 and 2005 (in millions):

2005
$.60.1
51.0
111.1
(L5)
$109.6
$ 208
4.7
4.2
1.6
(25.7)
$ 146
§ 34
6.0
0.4
13
3.7
§ 74
$ 09
12
$ 21

itered into a credit agreement with KeyBank National Association
ior credit facility, secured by all of the Company’s assets.
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KeyBank is designated as the sole arranger and sole book manager. The facility has a 3-year term and can
be expanded to a $60 million facility. The Company intends to use the facility to fund acquisitions. As part
of the Company’s acquisition strategy, the Company may choose to expand its new credit facility up to

$60 million to fund future acquisitions. As of December 31, 2005, there was no balance drawn on this
credit facility. As of March 30, 2006, the Company has drawn $7.0 million on this line for purposes of
paying the acquisition earn-out payments of $6.8 million in the first quarter of 2006.

The terms of the credit agreement require the Company to provide certain customary covenants for a
credit agreement, including certain financial covenants. These financial convenants are computed as
defined by the terms of the agreement. These financial covenants include a maximum senior leverage ratio
of 1.5 to 1.0, a maximum total leverage ratio of 3.0 to 1.0, a minimum liquidity ratio of 1.35 to 1.0, and a
minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.25 to 1.0. As of December 31, 2005, the Company was in
compliance with all covenants under this agreement.

(b) Financing

In February 2005, the Company entered into an agreement with National City Vendor Finance, LLC
to finance $0.59 million in software, maintenance and support fees of one of its IT systems. The interest
rate for the financing is at 4.2% per annum. Principal and interest payments of $0.05 million are payable
quarterly through January 2008. As of December 31, 2005, $0.45 million was outstanding on this financing,

Note 8. Lease Commitments

The Company leases certain equipment under capital leases with a weighted average interest rate of
approximately 7.08% that expire at various dates through 2007. The Company also leases certain facilities
and equipment under operating leases having terms expiring at various dates through 2011. Future minimum
lease payments under capital and operating leases as of December 31, 2005 are as follows (in millions):

Net
Capital  Operating
Leases Leases
Year ending December 31,
2000 e e e e e e $0.1 $ 54
A 0.1 51
20 . e e e e e _ — 4.6
2009 . e e e e e — 4.5
2000 . e e e e — 2.7
Thereafter. ..o e — 1.6
Total future minimum lease payments . .........cootiirvir i iunineeeennns 0.2 $23.9
Less amount representing interest. .. ... v.u et enire e i tnaiinnaenns —
Present value of capital lease obligations.............. ... i 0.2
Less current POrtion . . .. ..ottt —
Long-term capital lease obligations....... ... ... ... ... il $0.2

Equipment recorded under capital leases approximated $1.6 million as of December 31, 2004 and
$0.7 million as of December 31, 20605, with accumulated depreciation of $1.3 million and $0.5 million as of
December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively. The reduced accumulated depreciation balance as of
December 31, 2005 is a result of the the expiration of leases related to fully depreciated assets during 2005.
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Pursuant to the terms of sublease agreements as of December 31, 2005, approximately $2.2 million of
sublease income will offset future miniﬁnum lease payments as of December 31, 2005. Gross rent expense
under operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 were $5.6 million,
$5.9 million and $6.9 million, respectivgly. Total sublease income for the years ended December 31, 2004
and 2005 totaling $1.0 million and $O.8\mﬂlion, respectively, has been netted against rent expense. Based
on management’s assessment of existin‘g assumptions as described in Note 3, a reversal totaling
$3.2 million related to a portion of the Pccrual for unused office space was recorded during the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2003. Such amount is ipcluded in asset impairment and other charges on the Company’s
statement of operations. The lease on cHertain office facilities includes scheduled base rent increases over
the term of the lease. The total amount‘“ of the base rent payments is being charged to expense on the
straight-line method over the term of tl‘hle lease. In addition to the base rent payment, the Company pays a
monthly allocation of the building’s op?rating expenses. The Company has recorded deferred rent,
included in accrued expenses, of $1.3 m\\il]ion and $1.2 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively,

to reflect the excess of rent expense over cash payments since inception of the respective lease.

Note 9. Income Taxes

Income (loss) from continuing operations and before provision (benefit) for income taxes for the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 is comprised of the following (in millions):

2003 2004 2005
105 11 1o Lo O $15.1 $(7.8) $20.6
Foreign ..ot e (12) 35 (3.8)
$13.9 $(4.3) §$16.8

The provision {benefit) for income ftaxes from continuing operations for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 is comprised of the following (in millions):

2003 2004 2005

Current:
Federal ........cooovvinvnnn o i $ — § — $(01)
R T P 08 0.6 0.9
20 T 1 1 O 03) 1.6 (04
0.5 2.2 0.4

Deferred:
Federal ... oo 08 (26) 4.7
] - £ PN 1n 05 0.4
FOTeign .. .o e e — — (0.

Additionally, the Company recognized net tax benefits (adjustments) from exercise of stock options of
$7.3 million, $(0.7) million and zero for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively,
which were recorded in stockholder’s equity.
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A reconciliation of total income tax provision (benefit) to the amount computed by applying the
statutory federal income tax rate of 35% to income (loss) before income tax provision (benefit) for the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 is as follows (in millions):

2003 2004 2005

Income tax expense (benefit) at federal statutoryrate........................ $48 $(15) $59
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit and valuation allowance................. 06) 08 1.3
Foreign tax expense net of valuation allowance.....................ooinns. 0.4 0.4 0.6
Decrease in federal valuation allowance. . ... (7.7 (46) (46
Increase in deferred tax asset due to foreign tax credit conversion .......... e 2.6 — —
Contingent acquisition consideration ...............coo i — 43 (0.7)
Tax basis difference on subsidiaries.............. ... .o i — — 0.8
Nondeductible expense ...t e 0.9 0.8 0.7
Revision of prior year estimates........................ e — — 14
L@ 74155 70 11 (0.8) " (0.1 —

$(04) $01 §$54

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 are as follows (in millions):

2004 2005
Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for doubtful aCCOUMLS ... ..o ettt e e $ 1.7 §$ 12
Sundry acCruals . .. .o e e - 24 1.2
Vacation aCCrial . ... ..ot e e e 1.0 1.0
Property and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation............. 1.9 0.4
TIVESTIMENIES « .o ottt ettt i e e e e e — 0.7
Goodwill and other intangibles. . .. ... .. 4.1 24
Net operating loss carryforwards ... ... .. 37.0 39.1
Capital loss carryforward. ... e — 15
Tax credit carryforwards . ... e 0.2 03
Deferred revenUe . .. ..ot e e s 1.1 0.7
Reserves and other. ..o e e 11.0 8.4
. 604 569
Valuation allowance . . ... ..ot e e 28.1) (274
Total deferred tax assets, netof allowance. ...t 32.3 29.5
Deferred tax liabilities:
Unearned TEVEIUE ... . voi ittt ittt (6.4) (13.3)
Foreign deferred tax liability. ............oo i (3.3) —
Other Intangibles. . . ..ottt e e e e 25 (22)
Property and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation. ............ — (1.4
Other Habilities . ... ..ot e e e e e — (0.4)
Total deferred tax liabilities ....... ... o 12.2 17.3
Net deferred fax asset ... ..vein vt e $20.1 $122

|

Included in the valuation allowance of $27.4 million above as of December 31, 2005 is approximately
$4.4 million of valuation allowance related to our discontinued operations.
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At December 31, 2005, the Comp‘any had federal tax loss carryforwards of $84.5 million (including
stock option net operating loss carryforwards) which expire beginning in 2020 and California tax loss

carryforwards of $19.7 million which e%(plre beginning in 2012. Federal and state tax laws impose

restrictions on the utilization of net op’%rating loss and tax credit carryforwards in the event of an
“ownership change” for tax purposes as defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. The
Company has determined that any potential ownership changes under Section 382 will not materially
impact the Company’s ability to utlllZeultS net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. In addition, the
Company has foreign tax loss carryforwards of $0.4 million in the United Kingdom, $6.8 million in Sweden
and $13.5 million in Brazil.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers, on a periodic basis,
whether it is more likely than not that § some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
During fiscal 2005, the Company recor&ied a net decrease to the allowance for deferred tax assets of
$5.1 million resulting in a net 32% income tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2005. For U.S.
purposes, the Company is in a cumulative book profit position as of December 31, 2005, and consideration
is given to future taxable income, 1ncluElhng the reversal of temporary differences and 2006 projected
taxable income, in evaluating the recoverablhty of its U.S. deferred tax assets and the corresponding
valuation allowance related to the assets Unlike the Company’s U.S. tax position, its foreign operations
are in a cumulative book loss position. fursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes,” limited consideration is given to the Company’s future foreign income in determining the
recoverability of its foreign deferred ta>”‘( assets and the related valuation allowance. Accordingly,
management believes the current valuation allowance on deferred tax assets is sufficient and properly

stated at December 31, 2005.

The following table summarizes th= components of valuation allowance and its allocation among
continuing operations, purchase price accounting and stockholder’s equity as of December 31, 2005:

|

Purchase Continuing
Price Accounting © Qperations  Stockholders’ Equity Total
DomestiC. ... vovvve i $3.0 $ 7.6 $6.3 $16.9
FOI'Eign ................................... _ 6.1 _ 6.1
Total oo Lo $3.0 $13.7 $6.3 $23.0

|
|
|

The classification of the valuation allowance between continuing operations and additional paid in
capital depicts the manner whereby any|reversal would be reflected in the Company’s financial statements.
Specifically, any reversal of valuation allowance in continuing operations would be reflected in the

Company’s statements of operations and any reversal of the purchase price accounting and stockholder’s
equity would not be reflected in the Coﬂlpany s statements of operations. The Company has undistributed
earnings from continuing operations of non-U.S. subsidiaries for which deferred taxes have not been
provided. Such earnings are considered ‘mdeflmtely reinvested in the non-U.S. subsidiaries. If these
earnings were repatriated, additional tax expense may result, although the calculation of such amounts is

not practicable.
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Note 10. Stockholders’ Equity
(a) Preferred Stock |

On October 29, 2001, the Company issued an aggregate of 63,637 shares of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock, at an aggregate purchase price of $35.0 million, for a common stock conversion price of
$5.50 per share (which was the fair market value of the Common Stock at the closing) in a private
placement to entities affiliated with a director of the Company. The holders of the Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock elected to convert such stock into 7,000,070 shares of the Common Stock of the Company
in the fourth quarter of 2003, and as a result, no shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock remained
outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively. The number of shares of common stock issued
upon conversion reflects the additional shares issuable under the anti-dilution protection clause which was
triggered as a result of the lower price per share of the subsequent sale of Series B Convertible Preferred
Stock (see below). The shares of Common Stock issued on conversion of the Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock were subject to a lock-up provision, which expired over time, such that at the end of each
of the three-month periods that commenced on the 18-month anniversary of the closing date, 20% of the
converted or convertible shares were released from lock-up and available for resale at the option of the
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock holder(s), until the lock-up’s final expiration on April 29, 2004.

On May 30, 2002, the Company issued an aggregate of 90,000 shares of Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock, at an aggregate purchase price of $45.0 million, in a private placement to entities
affiliated with one of the directors of the Company (40,000 shares), to a brother of the Executive Chairman
and former Chief Executive Officer of the Company (10,000 shares) and to an unrelated third-party
investor (40,000 shares). The Company received $44.9 million of proceeds, net of $0.1 million of issuance
costs paid by the Company. Each share of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock is initially convertible into
100 shares of Common Stock for a common stock conversion price of $5.00 per share (which was the fair
market value of the Common Stock at the closing) at the option of the holder at any time subject to certain
provisions in the Series B Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement. After November 2004, the Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock will automatically convert into shares of the Company’s Common Stock if and
when the Company’s Common Stock trades at or above $11.00 per share for 30 consecutive trading days
after that date. Additionally, the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock agreement had a lock-up provision,
which expired over time, such that at the end of each of the three-month periods that commence on the
18-month anniversary of the closing date, 20% of the converted or convertible shares were released from
lock-up and available for resale at the option of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock holder(s), until
the lock-up’s final expiration on November 30, 2004. Upon any liquidation event, as defined in the
agreement, and including a change in control of the Company discussed below, each outstanding share of
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock is entitled to receive $500.00 per share (or a common stock
conversion price of $5.00 per share) as a liquidation preference, in preference to any amounts paid to
holders of Common Stock. Subject to certain exceptions, the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock has
anti-dilution protection, whereby any future new issuances of securities by the Company before
November 30, 2003 below $5.00 per share would trigger the anti-dilution protection for the Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock. If triggered, this protection would decrease the conversion price of the
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock to the lowest price per share received by the Company for such
issuance of securities. However, the conversion price may not be decreased to less than $4.17 per share. As
of December 31, 2003, there were no shares converted to common shares.
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>s of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock are convertible into

common stock at any time at the election of the holder of such shares and do not require the payment of

cash dividends. However, in the event

that the Company’s Board of Directors declare a dividend or

distribution payable with respect to the then-outstanding shares of Common Stock, the holders of the
Series B Preferred Stock shall be entitled to the amount of dividends per share in the same form as such
Common Stock dividends that would t“)e payable on the largest number or whole shares of Common Stock.
Outstandlng and unconverted shares of Series B Preferred Stock are entitled to the payment of a

liquidation preference equal to the ori

of control of the Company, including the acquisition by a person or group of beneficial ownership of more

gmal purchase price ($5.00 per common equivalent) upon a change

than 50.0% of its voting power. Under‘i Delaware state law, the Company’s Board of Directors is required
to approve any such transaction. The ¢ Company s authorized capital includes unissued “blank check”

preferred stock, the issuance of which!

may be approved by the Company’s Board of Directors without the

prior consent of the Company’s stocldﬁolders and which may be used, either alone or in combination with
other takeover defense mechanisms available to the Board of Directors, to deter a change of control that is

not approved by the Board of Directors. As a result, the Company does not expect to enter into any -

transaction in which the liquidation pr
applicable in the foreseeable future. H
merger or does not otherwise act to pr
mechanisms, including the Company’s

‘eference of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock would be

owever, in the event the Company’s Board of Directors approves a
event a change of control through the use of takeover defense
authorized and unissued preferred stock, the liquidation preference

provisions could be triggered if a transaction resulting in proceeds of less than $5.00 per common

equivalent share to the holders of outstandlng shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock were

consummated. As of December 31, 20‘

03, the total liquidation preference equaled $45.0 million.

Through December 31, 2004, the

Company has received notices from the holders to convert an

aggregate number of 64,517 shares of Senes B Convertible Preferred Stock into an aggregate 6,451,700

shares of the Company’s Common St

O

‘Ck On December 31, 2004 and 2005, the total liquidation preference

equaled $12.7 million. In accordance with EITF No. 03-06 “Participating Securities and the Two-

Class Method under FASB Statement
considered a participating security for
in Note 1(1).
(b) Stock Option Plans

During the years ended 1997, 199

No. 128”7, the Company’s Series A and B Preferred Stock was
purposes of computing basic earnings per share as further discussed

9 and 2000, the Board of Directors approved the 1997 Stock Option

Plan (the “1997 Plan”), the 1999 Equlty Incentive Plan (the “1999 Plan”) and the 2000 Non-statutory Stock
Option Plan (the “2000 Plan”), respec‘t‘lvely Further, in February 2005, the Board of Directors approved
the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2005 Plan”). The 2005 Plan was subsequently approved by a majority
of the Company’s stockholders on May 18, 2005. Stock options granted under the 1997 Plan and 1999 Plan
may be incentive stock options or non ”statutory stock options and are exercisable for up to ten years
following the date of grant. The Company ceased making grants under, and subsequently terminated the
1997 Plan upon completion of its initial public offering. The 2000 Plan permits the grant of non-statutory
stock options, which are exercisable fo% a period following the date of grant as determined by the Board of
Directors (generally ten years). Addmonally, in July 2004, the Board of Directors resolved that all future
stock option grants under all of the Company s stock option plans would be non-statutory stock options,
until such further determination by the Board of Directors. Stock option exercise prices for the 1997 Plan,

1999 Plan, 2000 Plan and 2005 Plan must be equal to or greater than the fair market value of the common
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stock on the date of grant. A cumulative total of 7.5 million, 15.9 million, 6.5 million and 3.5 million shares
of common stock have been authorized for issuance under the 1997 Plan, 1999 Plan, 2000 Plan and 2005
Plan, respectively. There remains approximately 2.0 million shares of common stock authorized for the
1997 Plan which are no longer issuable due to the termination of the plan. In accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” the Company applies APB
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations in accounting for
its 1997 Plan, 1999 Plan and 2000 Plan. All options granted in 2002, 2003 and 2004, except as noted below,
were at or above fair market value on the date of grant.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company recorded $6.3 million of non-cash stock-based
compensation expense related to the change in status of certain stock option holders, in accordance with
FASB Interpretation No. 44, “Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation.”

Stock option transactions are summarized below:

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
1997 Plan Price 1999 Plan Price 2000 Plan Price
Outstanding at December 31,
2002, . . 2,157,372 § 7.37 6,925,239  $10.46 4,311,492 $6.09
Granted................... — — 4,848,085 10.46 523,015 5.31
Exercised ................. (1,025,866) 532 (3,319,286) 4.04 (2,009,241) 445
Cancelled ................. (68,277) 13.28 (487,470) 14.20 (314,210) 6.92
Outstanding at December 31,
2003, ... 1,063,229 § 7.81 7,966,568  $10.08 2,511,056 $6.99
Granted. .................. —_ — 2,968,627 8.98 838,140 6.74
Exercised ................. (135,137) 4.72 (961,306) 4.85 (437,846) 4.49
Cancelled ................. (161,761) 13.0 (1,365,948) 11.9 (290,998) 8.82
Outstanding at December 31,
2004 ... . 766,331 $ 7.96 8,607,941 § 9.97 2,620,352 $7.00
Granted. .................. — — 7,596,240 6.13 2,619,698 6.47
Exercised ................. (41,912) 2.40 (381,634) 4.46 (169,312) 4.46
Cancelled................. (27,742) 12.82 (6,513,324) 10.83 (1,878,672)  8.86
Outstanding at December 31,
2005, . .. . 696,677  $10.00 9,309,223 $ 6.26 3,192,066 $5.50
Balance Exercisable at
December 31,2005......... 696,677 $ 8.10 6,703,523 $ 6.38 2,215,627 $5.28
Balance Exercisable at
December 31,2004 ......... ’ 766,331 $ 7.96 3,545,300  $10.08 1,700,579 $7.30

Balance Exercisable at
December 31,2003......... 1,063,229 $§ 7.81 2,754,931  $10.34 1,928,345 $7.06
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formation as of December 31, 2005 concerning options outstanding

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number Average Average Number Average

Range of Exercise Prices Qutstanding Remaining Life  Exercise Price  Exercisable  Exercise Price
$1.33-423 ... 1,644,977 5.55 $ 3.94 1,640,318 $ 3.94
428520 .. ... 1,394,698 6.54 4.65 1,212,070 457
523605 ... 12,584,218 8.79 5.77 717,118 5.89
609618 ... .. : 98,097 8.06 6.15 77,393 6.16
6.19-6.19 ... ...l 16,258,705 8.17 6.19 4,850,291 6.19
6.22-42.63 ... 11,155,796 573 9.97 1,057,162 10.12
4494-57.00 . ... it 61,475 4.46 51.30 61,475 51.30
$1.33-5700 ... 13,197,966 7.56 $ 6.18 9,615,827 $ 6.27

On May 18, 2005, the Compensati
acceleration of vesting of all unvested ¢
held by current employees, including e

to or greater than $10.00. Options to purchase 2,044,487 shares of common stock are subject to this

on Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors approved the
ptions to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock that are
xecutive officers, and which have an exercise price per share equal

acceleration. The options subject to ac *eleratlon had a weighted average exercise price of $12.02. The
exercise prices and number of shares subject to the accelerated options were unchanged.

On September 19, 2005, the ComRensatlon Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors

approved the acceleration of vesting of

stock that are held by current employees including executive officers, and excluding Directors and which.
have an exercise price per share equal to or greater than $8.00. Options to purchase 1,026,197 shares of
common stock are subject to this acceleration. The options subject to acceleration had a weighted average

exercise price $9.06. The exercise price
unchanged.

On December 21, 2005, the Comp

conditions, the acceleration of vesting C‘)f all unvested options to purchase shares of common stock of the
Company that are held by employees, and which have an exercise price per share equal to or greater than

$6.50. The acceleration is effective as o

options within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, will be
given the election to decline the acceleration of an option if such acceleration would have the effect of

changing the status of such option for f

qualified stock option. Options to purchase approximately 316,239 shares of common stock will be subject
to this acceleration. The options subject to acceleration had a weighted average exercise price of $6.82.
The number of shares subject to the accelerated options will remain unchanged.

The acceleration of these options was undertaken to avoid recognition of future compensation
expense that the Company would othen\zvise recognize in its consolidated statement of operations with
respect to these options once the Financial Accounting Standards (“FASB”) No. 123 (revised 2004)
“Share-Based Payment”, issued by the F

originally issued by the FASB, SFAS No

all unvested options to purchase shares of the Company’s common

y and number of shares subject to the accelerated options were

any’s Board of Directors approved, subject to certain limited

fDecember 30, 2005, provided that holders of incentive stock
i

ederal income tax purposes from an incentive stock option to a non-

inancial Accounting Standards Board, becomes effective. As
o 123 was to be implemented as of the beginning of the first interim
\
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or annual period beginning after June 15, 2005. In April, 2005, the SEC announced it will permit
companies to implement SFAS No. 123R at the beginning of the next fiscal year. The future expense that is
eliminated as a result of the acceleration of the vesting of these options is approximately $18.4 million, (of
which approximately $7.8 million is attributable to options held by executive officers and $0.4 million is
attributable to options held by directors).

In addition, on December 21, 2005, the Board of Directors of the Company approved, subject to
certain limited conditions, the amendment of all outstanding stock option grants under the Company’s
1999 Equity Incentive Plan and 2000 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan (collectively, the “Option Plans”),
with an exercise price per share greater than 120% of the closing market price of the Company’s common
stock on December 29, 2005 to provide that, as of December 30, 2005, the exercise price of each
outstanding stock option under the Option Plans shall be reduced to 120% of the closing price of the
Company’s common stock as reported on the NASDAQ National Market on December 29, 2005; provided,
however, that the holder of such outstanding stock option is an employee of the Company on December 30,
2005, but excluding (i) employees of the Company that are categorized as project staff associates and
(ii) employees who have, prior to December 30, 2005, given notice to, or received notice from, the
Company terminating their employment on a date or time period after December 30, 2005. There was no
financial impact related to this amendment. ‘

The repricing of these options was undertaken to eliminate the future compensation expense that the
Company would otherwise recognize in its consolidated statement of operations with respect to these
options once the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004) “Share-Based
Payment”, issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FAS 123”), becomes effective for
reporting periods beginning in January 2006. Assuming that no holders of incentive stock options elect to
decline the acceleration, the future expense that is eliminated as a result of the acceleration of the vesting
of these options is approximately $1.3 million (none of which is attributable to options held by executive
officers). In addition, because the repricing will occur in lieu of additional option grants in 2006 of
approximately 2.5 million shares for certain of the Company’s employees (the “2006 Option Grants”), the
repricing enables the Company to significantly offset the dilutive impact of the 2006 Option Grants by
reducing both the FAS 123 compensation expense for future option grants as well as the dilution to the
Company’s outstanding share amount.

(é) Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In August 1999, the Board of Directors approved the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the
“Purchase Plan”). A total of 2.9 million shares of Common Stock have been authorized for issuance under
the Purchase Plan. The Purchase Plan qualifies as an employee stock purchase plan within the meaning of
Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Service Code. The Purchase Plan commenced in November 1999
upon completion of the Company’s initial public offering. On November 16, 2005, the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors elected to suspend all future offerings under the Purchase Plan
effective January 1, 2006.

Unless otherwise determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, all
employees were eligible to participate in the Purchase Plan so long as they are employed by the Company
(or a subsidiary designated by the board) for at least 20 hours per week and were customarily employed by
the Company (or a subsidiary designated by the board) for at least 5 months per calendar year. '
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Employees who actively partlclpa}ed in the Purchase Plan were eligible to have up to 15% of their
earnings for each purchase period withheld pursuant to the Purchase Plan. The amount that was withheld
was used at various purchase dates th‘hm the offering period to purchase shares of Common Stock. The
price paid for Common Stock at each such purchase date was then equal the lower of 85% of the fair
market value of the Common Stock atithe commencement date of that offering period or 85% of the fair
market value of the Common Stock on the relevant purchase date. Employees were also able to end their
participation in the offering at any time during the offering period, and participation ended automatically
upon termination of employment. From the Purchase Plan’s inception through December 31, 2005, the
cumulative number of shares of Comn‘mn Stock that have been issued under the Purchase Plan is
2,005,899.

)

(d) Shelf Registration

On February 19, 2004 the Company filed a universal shelf Registration statement on Form S-3 and an
acquisition shelf Registration on Form’ S-4 with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The
Company has no immediate plans to raise capital under the shelf Form S-3 or to utilize the shelf Form S-4
for acquisition transactions. The unive”rsal shelf registration statement on Form S-3 will permit the
Company to sell, in one or more public offerings, shares of newly issued common stock, shares of newly
issued preferred stock, warrants or debt securities, or any combination of such securities, for proceeds in
an aggregate amount of up to $200 mllhon In addition, the universal shelf will permit certain stockholders
who purchased the Company’s Series [} and Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, to sell up to 5.4 million
shares of common stock, all of which are currently included in the Company’s December 31, 2005 weighted
average diluted common shares outstanding. The acquisition shelf registration statement on Form S-4 will
enable the Company to issue up $200 r‘nillion of its common stock in one or more acquisition transactions
that the Company may make from time to time. These transactions may include the acquisition of assets,

. . ] .
businesses or securities, whether by purchase, merger or any other form of business.

(e) Stockholder Rights Agreement

On December 16, 2004, the Company entered into a Stockholder Right Agreement (the “Rights -
Agreement”). Under the terms of the Iﬁights Agreement, initially, the Rights will attach to all certificates
representing shares of outstanding Company common stock and no separate Rights Certificates will be
distributed. Subject to the provisions og the Rights Agreement the Rights will separate from the Company
common stock and the “Distribution D‘ate” will occur upon the earlier of (i) ten business days following a
public announcement (the date of such) announcement being the “Stock Acquisition Date™) that person or
group of affiliated or associated persons has acquired or obtained the right to acquire beneficial ownership
of 15% or more of the then- outstandmg Common Stock (an “Acquiring Person”), or (ii) ten business days

(or such later date as may be determmed by action of the Board of Directors prior to such time as any:

person becomes an Acquiring Person) {ollowulg the commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer
that would result in a person or group becoming an Acquiring Person. An Acquiring Person does not -

include certain persons specified in the

On December 16, 2004, the Comp

Rights Agreement.

lany’s Board of Directors authorized and declared a dividend of one.

right (a “Right”) to purchase on one- hundredth of a share of the Company’s Series C Preferred Stock

(“Series C Preferred”) for each outstandmg share of Common Stock, par value $0.001 (“Common Stock”),

to stockholders of record as of the close of business December 27, 2004 (the “Record Date”). Each Right
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entitles the registered holder, subject to the terms of the Rights Agreement, to purchase from the
Company one one-hundredth of a share of Series C Preferred at a purchase price of $54.00, subject to
adjustment (the “Purchase Price”).

The Rights are not exercisable until the Distribution Date and will expire at the close of business on
the tenth anniversary of the Rights Agreement unless earlier redeemed or exchanged by the Company.

Note 11. Employee Benefit Plan

In 1996, the Company implemented a 401(k) savings plan pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code (the “Code”), covering substantially all employees. Participants in the plan may contribute
a percentage of compensation, but not in excess of the maximum allowed under the Code (14,000 of
eligible compensation for 2005). The Company may make contributions at the discretion of its Board of
Directors. The Company made no contributions in 2003 and made contributions of $0.3 million in 2004
and $2.1 million in 2005.

On November 18, 2004, the Board of Directors adopted the Wireless Facilities, Inc. Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation Plan, effective as of January 1, 2005 (the “Plan”). The Plan provides executive
officers and other eligible highly compensated employees with the opportunity to enter into agreements to
defer up to eighty percent (80%}) of their cash compensation derived from base salary, bonus awards
and/or commissions. In addition, the Company may, in its sole and absolute discretion, award any
participant under the Plan an additional employer contribution. Deferrals are adjusted for gain or loss
based on the performance of one or more investment options selected by the participant from among
investment funds chosen by the committee appointed to administer the Plan. Participants may elect that
distribution of deferred amounts be paid in the form of either a lump sum or in annual installments if the
participant terminates employment as a result of his or her retirement. However, all other distributions
under the Plan will be make in a single lump sum. Distributions occur upon termination of service or upon
such other dates that may be elected by the participant in accordance with the terms of the Plan. The
Company, in its sole discretion, may suspend or terminate the Plan or revise of amend it in any respect
whatsoever; provided, however, that no such action may reduce amounts credited to deferral accounts and
such accounts will continue to be owed to the participants or beneficiaries and will continue to be a liability
of the Company.

Note 12.  Significant Customers

The Company had sales to one customer totaling $98.8 million, which comprised 26.3% of the
Company’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2005. The Company’s top five customers
accounted for approximately 49.0% of its total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2005. The
Company’s Wireless Network Services segment generated 40.0% of this revenue and the Company’s
Government Network Services segment generated 9.0% of this revenue.

The Company had sales to one customer totaling $67.9 million, which comprised 20.3% and another
customer totaling $30.6 million, which comprised 9.1% of the Company’s total revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2004. The Company’s top five customers accounted for approximately 48.4% of its total
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004. The Company’s Wireless Network Services segment
generated 39.3% of this revenue and the Company’s Government Network Services segment generated
9.1% of this revenue.
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The Company had sales to one customer totaling $63.4 million, which comprised 28% of the
Company’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003. The revenues generated by this customer
were from the Company’s Wireless Network Services segment.

Note 13. Segment Information

SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures aboutH Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” establishes
annual and interim reporting standards for an enterprise’s operating segments and related disclosures

about its products, services, geographic areas and major customers. An operating segment is defined as a
component of an enterprise that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur
expenses, and about which separate finvrancial information is regularly evaluated by the chief operating
decision maker in deciding how to allogate resources.

In 2004, the Company reorganized; its operating segments to reflect its current operations and
strategic direction. Effective January 1 W 2004, the Company reorganized its business along service lines
including three reportable segments: ereless Network Services, Enterprise Network Services, and
Government Network Services. Revenl‘ies and operating income (loss) provided by the Company’s

segments for the years ended December 31,2003, 2004 and 2005 are as follows (in millions). All prior

period amounts have been reclassified in order to conform with the current period presentation.
2003 2004 2005
Revenues:
Wireless Network Services ........h..oouviiiii it nnnn. $1874 $217.3 $223.0
Enterprise Network Services. . ..... . ... oo 41.1 65.3 67.3
Government Network Services.....0 ... — 51.6 85.0
TOtal FEVENUES . « ..ottt e e e $228.5 $334.2 $3753
Operating income (loss):
Wireless Network Services . ......oloiiniiiii i, $ 130 $ 16 $ 27
Enterprise Network Services....... .. ... oo 0.7 (7.9) 6.3
Government Network Services.....0......... P — 4.4 8.1
Total operating income (10ss). ... J.....cooi i $ 137 § (1.9) $ 171

The operating loss of Enterprise Nj“etwork Services for 2004 was impacted by a charge for contingent
acquisition consideration of $12.4 million resulting from the Company’s amendment of the purchase
agreements related to two of the compﬁmes acquired in the ENS division. The operating income of
Enterprise Network Services for 2005 was impacted by a $2.1 million credit to reduce an excess contingent

acquisition accrual.

Revenues generated by geographic area for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 are as
follows (in millions):

2003 2004 2005
United States . ..o oo $205.2 $296.1 $337.7
EMEA. o e e 13.9 34.9 27.1
Latin AMETica ..o v v vt 94 3.2 10.5
Total TEVENUES . . .o oo vv oottt e e $228.5 $334.2 $375.3
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Assets of the Company’s corporate headquarters and other corporate related assets have been
included in the assets of the Wireless Network Services segment.

Total assets by segment for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 are as follows
(in millions):

2003 2004 2005
Wireless Network Services. . ..o e i e $2234 $184.2 $132.4
Enterprise Network Services. . ... 23.6 40.3 453
Government Network Services. ... .o.vieiiiir i i i i — 61.8 110.2
Discontinued OPErations ... ....'vuureertnrereeeriieneereaianneneesns 31.8 44.4 484
TOAL ASSELS. « « o v v et ettt e ettt e e $278.8 $330.7 $336.3

Long-lived assets by geographic area for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, which
include property and equipment, goodwill, other intangibles and investments in unconsolidated affiliates,
are as follows (in millions): ‘

. , 2003 2004 2005
UNIEEA SEALES . . o vttt ettt et et e e e e e e $46.5 $101.1 $142.1
B E A o e e e e e 0.5 2.5 1.4
Latin AMETICA . . ..ottt e e — — 0.5
Total Iong-lived SSELS . ... «.vutr ittt e $47.0 $103.6 $144.0

See Note 6 and Note 2 for detail of long-lived assets.

Note 14. Related Party Transactions

In August 2001, WFI and GlobTel Holdings, Ltd. (“GlobTel”) executed a Master Service Agreement
(MSA) whereby WFI or its designated affiliates would perform telecommunications outsourcing services.
GlobTel is substantially owned by Massih Tayebi, a brother of Masood K. Tayebi, and former Chairman of
the Company. During 2003, the Company recorded approximately $0.9 million in total net revenues and
received approximately $0.7 million from GlobTel for services provided under the MSA. Such revenues are
a component of total revenues in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. As of
December 31, 2003 and 2004, the Company had an outstanding accounts receivable balance with Globtel
of approximately $0.2 million and $0, respectively. Such accounts receivables are reflected as accounts
receivable—related party in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. At December 31, 2003, 2004 and
2005, no future commitments or guarantees exist between GlobTel and the Company.

In June 2001, WFI received a payment of $0.5 million from BridgeWest LLC, a privately-held
investment group, representing a prepayment for future engineering services to be provided by WFI to
BridgeWest LLC, BridgeWest LLC is substantially owned by Masood K. Tayebi, the Executive Chairman
and the former Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Massih Tayebi, a brother of Masood K. Tayebi
and former Chairman of the Company, and Sean Tayebi, also a brother of Masood K. Tayebi. The
Company has recorded approximately $0.2 million total revenues for services provided under this
agreement for each of the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, Such revenues are a component of
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total revenues in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and the Wireless Network Services
operating segment. During the second quarter of 2003, approximately $0.2 million of the payment received
from BridgeWest LLC was applied to»”vards billings for cumulative engineering services provided by WFI
and the residual balance of $0.3 m1lho£ was refunded to BridgeWest LL.C. At December 31, 2003, 2004

and 2005, no commitments or guarant[ees exist between BridgeWest LLC and the Company.

|

On May 30, 2002, the Company issued an aggregate of 90,000 shares of Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock, with aggregate procec”:ds of $45.0 million, in a private placement to entities affiliated with
one of the directors of the Company (4%0 000 shares), to a brother of the Executive Chairman and the
former Chief Executive Officer of the Company (10,000 shares) and to an unrelated third-party investor
(40,000 shares). The Company recelveh $44.9 million of net proceeds. Each share of Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock is initially convertible into 100 shares of Common Stock for a common stock conversion
price of $5.00 per share, which was the“fair market value of the Common Stock at the closing, at the option
of the holder at any time subject to cerﬁam provisions in the Series B Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement.
The Series B Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement has a lock-up provision, which expires over time, such
that at the end of each of the three-month periods that commence on the 18-month anniversary of the
closing date, 20% of the shares are released from lock-up and available for resale upon conversion. On
March 5, 2004, 40,000 shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock were converted into 4,000,000 shares
of the Company’s Common Stock, of which 1 ,600,000 shares were transferred free of any lock-up
restriction and 2,400,000 shares were trlansferred subject to the lock-up restriction which lapsed, along with
the lock-up restriction on an addmonal\ 3,000,000 shares (on an as-converted basis), in three equal tranches

of 1,800,000 shares each on May 30, 2004 August 30, 2004 and November 30, 2004.

In August 2003, a brother of Masood K. Tayebi, the Chairman and the former Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, changed his employment status from employee to consultant and the exercise period of
the stock option items was extended. Thls change in status resulted in a modification of the terms of stock
options that had previously been granted to him. In accordance with the provisions of FASB Interpretation

13 J
No. 44, “Accounting for Certain Transactions involving Stock Compensation,” a stock-based non-cash
compensation charge of $3.8 million was in the Company’s 2003 statements of operations to reflect the re-
measurement of these options.

In 2003, in conjunction with two companies that the Company acquired in its Enterprise Network
Services business, the Company assumed certain facility lease obligations for which the facilities were
owned by the previous shareholders. Tk ¢ lease expense, which approximates $0.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004 is reflected i in the statement of operations.

In connection with the Company’s {acqulsmon of TLA in January 2005, the Company assumed certain
facility lease obligations for a facility ovs}uned by the previous shareholders. The lease expense, which
approximates $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, respectively, is reflected in the statement

of operations. \

On March 28, 2005, the Company entered into Change in Control Agreements with the following
employees: Deanna Lund, the Compangl’s Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and James R.
Edwards, the Company’s Senior Vice President and General Counsel. The Agreements provide that,
among other things, upon a change of c&ntrol each employee is entitled to (i) the immediate vesting of fifty
percent (50%) of all stock options and stock apprematmn rights granted to such employee as of the date of

the change in control and (ii) the Vest1n§ of the remaining stock options and stock appreciation rights on
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the earlier of the one year anniversary date of the change of control or the resignation by such employee as
a result of certain triggering events following the change in control. On March 28, 2006, these agreements
were amended and restated to provide (i) a severance payment of two years of such employee’s base salary
plus the employee’s maximum bonus amount for that period in the event of termination or resignation as a
result of certain triggering events and (ii) a severance payment of one year of such employee’s base salary
in the event the employee is terminated without cause, plus a vesting of all unvested stock options and
stock appreciation rights.

On February 17, 2006, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to divest all of its operations
in Mexico for total approximate cash consideration of $18 million, payable in installments through
December 2006, subject to adjustment, which approximates the net book value of the operations. The
purchaser, Sakoki LLC, is a newly-formed entity controlled by Massih Tayebi. Although Massih Tayebi has
no current role with the Company, he was a co-founder of the Company, having served as Chief Executive
Officer from inception in 1994 through September 2000 and as a director from inception through
April 2002. In addition, Massih Tayebi owns or controls approximately 11% of the total voting power of
the Company’s capital stock. He is also the brother of Masood Tayebi, the Company’s current Chairman of
the Board of Directors. Masood Tayebi has no personal financial interest in the transaction and will have
no role with the entity that is purchasing the Mexico Operations. The transaction was approved by the
disinterested members of the Company’s Board of Directors after consideration of other expressions of
interest and a valuation analysis by an independent audit firm. Refer to Note 18 for further discussion.

Note 15. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company periodically evaluates all pending or threatened contingencies and any commitments, if
any, that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on its operations or financial position. The
Company assesses the probability of an adverse outcome and determines if it is remote, reasonably
possible or probable as defined in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for
Contingencies.” If information available prior to the issuance of the Company’s financial statements
indicates that it is probable that an asset had been impaired or a liability had been incurred at the date of
the Company’s financial statements, and the amount of the loss, or the range of probable loss can be
reasonably estimated, then such loss is accrued and charged to operations. If no accrual is made for a loss
contingency because one or both of the conditions pursuant to SFAS No. 5 are not met, but the probability
of an adverse outcome is at least reasonably possible, the Company will disclose the nature of the
contingency and provide an estimate of the possible loss or range of loss, or state that such an estimate
cannot be made.

The Company assesses tax uncertainties and exposure items after taking into consideration the
probability of the tax contingencies being incurred. Accordingly, based upon the Company’s assessment of
the probability of these tax contingencies, it was determined that accruals of $0.9 million and $0.8 million
for VAT tax contingencies was required as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2005, respectively. A
sales and use tax contingency of $0.8 million and $1.0 million were required for December 31, 2004 and
December 31, 2005, respectively. The Company has accrued additional amounts for certain income tax
contingencies for fiscal years 2001 though 2005.
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The Company maintains an accrual for the Company’s health and workers compensation partial
self-insurance, which is a component 01" total accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets.
Management determines the adequacy|of these accruals based on a monthly evaluation of the Company’s
historical experience and trends relateqi to both medical and workers compensation claims and payments,
information provided to the Company by the Company’s insurance broker, industry experience and the
average lag period in which claims are paid. If such information indicates that the Company’s accruals
require adjustment, the Company will, : revise the assumptions utilized in the Company’s
methodologies and reduce or provide fwor additional accruals as deemed appropriate. As of December 31,
2005, the accrual for the Company’s partial self-insurance programs approximated $2.6 million. The
Company also carries stop-loss insurance that provides coverage limiting the Company’s total exposure
related to each medical and workers compensation claim incurred, as defined in the applicable insurance
policies. The medical and workers compensation annual claim limits are $150,000 and $250,000,
respectively. For the year ending Dece‘r’nber 31, 2005, the Company experienced no claims that exceeded
the limits for medical and one claim that exceeded the limits for workers compensation. As of
December 31, 2005, the Company had ‘$1 .5 million letters of credit outstanding issued from the Company’s
insurance carrier to cover a performance bond and liabilities in connection with the Company’s workers’

compensation partial self-insurance.

Note 16. Legal Matters

Beginning in July 2001, the Comp any and certain of its former officers and directors (the
“Individuals”) were named as defenda1%ts in a series of class action shareholder complaints filed in the U.S.

District Court for the Southern D1str1ct of New York, now consolidated into a single amended complaint
captioned In re Buy.com, Inc. Initial Pubhc Offering Securities Litigation, Case No. 01-CV-6323. In the

amended complaint, filed in April 200% the plaintiffs allege that the Company, the Individuals, and the
underwriters of the Company’s initial }ﬂublic offering (“IPO”) violated section 11 of the Securities Act of
1933 and section 10(b) of the Exchange Act of 1934 based on allegations that the Company’s registration

statement and prospectus failed to dlscwlose material facts regarding the compensation to be received by,
and the stock allocation practices of, the IPO underwriters. The complaint also contains claims against the
Individuals for control person liability under Securities Act section 15 and Exchange Act section 20. The
plaintiffs sought unspecified monetary “damages and other relief. Similar complaints were filed in the same
Court against hundreds of other public companies (“Issuers”) and the underwriters (“Underwriters”) that

conducted IPOs of the Issuers’ common stock in the late 1990s or in the year 2000 (the “IPO Cases”).

H

In August 2001, all of the JPO Cases were consolidated for pretrial purposes before United States
Judge Shira Scheindlin of the Southern District of New York. In July 2002, the Company joined in a global
motion to dismiss the IPO Cases filed by all of the Issuers (among others). In October 2002, the Court
entered an order dismissing the Indmduals from the IPO Cases without prejudice, pursuant to an
agreement tolling the statute of hmltat[lons with respect to the Individuals. In February 2003, the Court
issued a decision denying the motion to dismiss the Securities Act section 11 and Exchange Act

section 10(b) claims against the Compz“my

H

In June 2003, the Issuers reached a tentative settlement agreement with the plaintiffs that would result
in, among other things, (a) the dlsmlss?l with prejudice of all claims in the IPO Cases against the Issuers
and their officers and directors and (b) a guarantee from the insurers of the Issuers to the plaintiffs that, if

the plaintiffs recover less than §1 bllho‘:n from the Underwriters in the IPO Cases, the insurers would pay
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the difference between the actual recovery and $1 billion. In June 2004, the Company executed a final
settlement agreement with the plaintiffs. On February 15, 2005, the Court issued a decision certifying a
class action for settlement purposes, and granting preliminary approval of the settlement subject to
modification of certain bar orders contemplated by the settlement. On August 31, 2005, the Court
reaffirmed class certification and preliminary approval of the modified settlement in a comprehensive
Order. In addition, the Court approved the form of Notice to be sent to members of the settlement classes,
which was published and mailed beginning November 15, 2005. On February 24, 2006, the Court dismissed
litigation filed against certain underwriters in connection with the claims to be assigned to the plaintiffs
under the settltement., The Court has set a Final Settlement Fairness Hearing on the settlement for

April 24, 2006. In addition, the settlement is still subject to statutory notice requirements as well as final
judicial approval. The Company does not expect the settlement to have a material impact on its operations
or cash flow.

In August 2004, as a result of the Company’s announcement on August 4, 2004 that it intended to
restate its financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003, the
Company and certain of its current and former officers and directors were named as defendants
(“Defendants”) in several securities class action lawsuits filed in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of California. These actions were filed on behalf of those who purchased, or otherwise
acquired, the Company’s common stock between April 26, 2000 and August 4, 2004. The lawsuits generally
allege that, during that time period, Defendants made false and misleading statements to the investing
public about the Company’s business and financial results, causing its stock to trade at artificially inflated
levels. Based on these allegations, the lawsuits allege that Defendants violated the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, and the plaintiffs seek unspecified damages. These actions have been consolidated into a single
action in In re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Securities Litigation, Master File No. 04CV1589-JAH. The plaintiffs
filed their consolidated complaint in January 2005 and did not name the Company a defendant in that
complaint. After the individual defendants filed their motion to dismiss, the plaintiffs requested leave to
amend their complaint to add the Company as a defendant. Plaintiffs filed the First Amended
Consolidated Class Action Complaint on April 1, 2005. Defendants filed their motion to dismiss this first
amended complaint on April 14, 2005. The plaintiffs then requested leave to amend their first amended
complaint. The plaintiffs filed their second amended complaint on June 9, 2005, this time on behalf of
those who purchased, or otherwise acquired, the Company’s common stock between May 5, 2003 and
August 4, 2004. Defendants filed their motion to dismiss this second amended complaint on July 14, 2005.
The motion to dismiss was taken under submission on October 20, 2005 and on March 8, 2006, the Court
granted the Company’s motion. However, the plaintiffs were granted the right to amend their complaint
within 45 days. The Company believes that the allegations lack merit and intends to vigorously defend all
claims asserted. It is impossible at this time to assess whether or not the outcome of these proceedings will
or will not have a material adverse effect on the Company. We have not recorded any accrual for a
contingent liability associated with this legal proceeding based on the Company’s belief that a liability,
while possible, is not probable and any range of potential future charge cannot be reasonably estimated at
this time. ’

Two derivative lawsuits have been filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
California against certain of the Company’s current and former officers and directors: Pedicini v. Wireless
Facilities, Inc., Case No. 04CV1663; and Roth v. Wireless Facilities, Inc., Case No. 04CV1810. These actions
have been consolidated into a single action in In re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Derivative Litigation, Lead Case
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No 04CV1663-JAH. The factual allegations in these lawsuits are substantially similar to those in the class
action lawsuits, but the plaintiffs in the :se lawsuits assert claims for breach of fiduciary duty, gross
mismanagement, abuse of control, waste of corporate assets, violation of Sarbanes Oxley Act section 304,
unjust enrichment and insider trading. | The plaintiffs in these lawsuits seek unspecified damages and
equitable and/or injunctive relief. The lFad plaintiff filed a consolidated complaint on March 21, 2005. On
May 3, 2005, the defendants filed moti ons to dismiss this action, to stay this action pending the resolution
of the consolidated non-derivative securities case pending in the Southern District of California, and to
dismiss the complaint against certain non-California resident defendants. The parties have agreed to
postpone any hearing on these motlons until after limited discovery is completed regarding the motion to
dismiss the action against certain 1nd1v1dua1 defendants based on lack of personal jurisdiction. The
discovery is now expected to be comple‘ted by the end of March 2006, although the parties are currently
negotiating an extension of this time penod until June 14, 2006. The Company believes that the allegations
lack merit and intends to vigorously defend all claims asserted. It is impossible at this time to assess
whether or not the outcome of these pr‘foceedings will or will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company. We have not recorded any alc\crual for a contingent liability associated with this legal proceeding
based on the Company’s belief that a liability, while possible, is not probable and any range of potential
future charge cannot be reasonably estﬂnated at this time.

In August and September 2004, tw% virtually identical derivative lawsuits were filed in California

Superior Court for San Diego County a‘gamst certain of the Company’s current and former officers and
directors. These actions contain factualjallegations similar to those of the federal lawsuits, but the plaintiffs
in these cases assert claims for Violation‘s of California’s insider trading laws, breaches of fiduciary duty,
abuse of control, gross mismanagement| waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment. The plaintiffs in
these actions seek unspecified damagesH equitable and/or injunctive relief and disgorgement of all profits,
benefits and other compensation obtamed by defendants. These lawsuits have been consolidated into one
action and In re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Derzvattve Litigation, California Superior Court, San Diego County,
Lead Case No. GIC 834253. The plamtlffs filed a Consolidated Shareholder Derivative Complaint on
October 14, 2004. This action has been ”stayed pending a decision in federal court on a motion to dismiss
the federal derivative lawsuits and there will be a hearing in April 2006 to evaluate the status of this case.
The Company believes that the allegatiq[)ns lack merit and intends to vigorously defend all claims asserted.
It is impossible at this time to assess whether or not the outcome of these proceedings will or will not have
a material adverse effect on the Compa‘rily. We have not recorded any accrual for a contingent liability
associated with this legal proceeding based on the Company’s belief that a liability, while possible, is not

probable and any range of potential futl‘x“lre charge cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.
- I

On January 19, 2005, the Companygll and a selling shareholder in a Company subsidiary in the ENS
division initiated an arbitration proceeding regarding the termination of employment of that individual
from ENS. The amount in controversy was approximately $1.8 million. On April 20, 2005, the arbitrator,
upon motion by the selling shareholder \)permltted the arbitration proceeding to expand to allow the selling
shareholder to seek early payment of the sums which may be due under the selling shareholder’s earn-out
agreement. In this arbitration proceedm“g, the selling shareholder is claiming he is entitled to
approximately $5.0 million. The arbitratlon is currently expected to occur during the second quarter of
2006. The Company is disputing the sell'ng shareholder’s right to further compensation, his entitlement to
an earn-out payment and, if a payment is due, the early payment of any such amounts. On March 10, 2006,

the arbitrator in the case ruled that if the selling shareholder were to prevail, his share of the earn-out will
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be limited to the amount calculated based on the actual earnings of the Company subsidiary. The
Company estimates the total potential exposure to be approximately $1.3 million which includes among
other things, the contingent consideration, salary, and attorney’s fees. The Company has accrued
approximately $0.8 million as of December 31, 2005 and does not believe any additional adjustment will be
necessary. See Note 5 for discussion regarding contingent acquisition consideration.

In addition to the foregoing matters, from time to time, the Company may become involved in various
lawsuits and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. However, litigation is subject to
inherent uncertainties, and an adverse result in these or other matters may arise from time to time that
may harm the Company’s business. The Company is currently not aware of any such legal proceedings or
claims that we believe will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse affect on the
Company’s business, financial condition or operating results.

Note 17. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following financial information reflects all normal and recurring adjustments that are, in the
opinion of management, necessary for a fair statement of the results of the interim periods. Summarized
quarterly data for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, is as follows (in millions, except per share
data):

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter _Quarter Quarter
Fiscal year 2004
REVENUES ..\ttt i e e aeaaeens $82.2 $85.8 $ 77.8 $ 88.4
GrOSS PrOfit .o\ v ettt e $19.0 $20.5 $ 96 $221
Operating income (10S8). .. ... vvvvnirineinii .. $53 $ 69 $(19.0) $ 49
Provision (benefit) for income taxes ..................... $ 1.3 $ 15 $ 80  $(10.7)
Net income (10SS) «.vvvrvr et $59 $ 1.7 $(14.9) $ 123
Net income (loss) per common share:
BasiC ..ot $0.08 $0.02 $(0.22) $0.17
Diluted ... e $0.08 $0.02 $(0.22) $0.16
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(Restated) (Restated) .
Fiscal year 2005
REVEMUES &\ ittt it e $90.7 $95.3 $94.5 $ 948
(€] (0T o) 10 i { S $20.7 $21.9 $20.2 $ 215
Operating iNCoOME . . ...\ ovuvn et ee it eantennn, $ 43 $ 43 $ 55 $ 3.0
Provision for income taxes. . . .......ovvveirnrernnnnnnn.. $ 1.7 $ 15 $ 0.7 $ 15
Net income (I0SS) ..o vvvvrnenie e einiennnnns $ 36 $ 33 $ 52 $ (8.4)
Net income (loss) per common share:
BaSIC ottt $0.05 $0.04 $0.07 $(0.11)

Diluted ... $0.05 $0.04 $0.07 $(0.11)
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The Company’s third quarter of 2004 operating loss and net loss were impacted by a $13.9 million
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charge comprised of contingent acqursmon consideration of $12.4 million and $1.5 million of general and

administrative costs related to the Company’s financial statement restatement. The $12.4 million charge
was a result of the Company’s amendment of the purchase agreements related to two of the companies
acquired in the ENS divisions, resulting in a rescission of the continuous employment clauses from the
earn-out arrangements. These amendments constituted a triggering event which resulted in the charge of

$12.4 million. In addition, operating | 11

primarily from increases in estimated ¢

The Company’s fourth quarter of |
$10.7 million, or an effective 214 perce
reduction of certain tax valuation acco\
adjusted taxable income by each tax ju

Quarterly Results in 2005

QSs was 1mpac

ted by a $9.8 million reduction in gross margin resulting
osts for contracts signed in 2003.

2004 net income was impacted by the benefit for income taxes of
nt benefit rate. The tax benefit was a result of the Company’s
unts resulting from the Company’s refinement of its projected
risdiction.

The Company’s second and third quarter results required revision of previously issued financial

statements to reflect the accounting im

pact of the cancellation of sites by one of its customers in Mexico in

those periods. Senior management as vhveﬂ as the Audit Committee became aware of communications
regarding these cancellations after the wreplacement of certain managers in these operations in the fourth

quarter of 2005. Although the Company had an agreement with its customer to build these sites, the terms

and conditions of the agreements did not provide for recovery by the Company of costs incurred on in-

[
process sites in the event of site cancell‘

these adjustments aggregate to a reduc
the combined prior two quarters.

ation, unless agreed to by the customer. The financial impact of
tion of $4.8 million in revenues and $1.6 million in net income for

The Company’s fourth quarter of 2005 net loss was impacted by a loss from discontinued operations

I

of $9.9 million, which was primarily driven by the cancellation of a number of sites that the Company was

building in Latin America locations wh

ich resulted in a loss of approximately $3.0 million. In addition, an

impairment charge of $0.9 million related to the accumulated currency translation losses was recorded in

accordance with EITF Issue 01-5 “App
Evaluated for Impairment that Will Be
was a $3.4 million impairment related t

of these impairments were triggered by

Note 18. Subsequent Event

As discussed in Note 3(c), in Dece:

exit its Mexican operations and certain

lication of FASB Statement No. 52 to an Investment Being

Disposed Of.” Also, included in loss from discontinued operations

o certain of the discontinued operation’s deferred tax assets. Both
the sale of the Company’s operations in Mexico.

mber 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors made the decision to
of its other deployment businesses in South America. Prior to this

decision, these operations had been reported in the Company’s Wireless Network Services segment. On
February 17, 2006, the Company entered into an Equity Purchase Agreement to sell all of the stock of its
wholly owned subsidiaries (i) WFI de Memco S. de R.L. de C. V., (ii) WFI de México, Servicios de

Administracién, S. de R.L. de C.V., (iii

(iv) WFI Services de Mexico S.A. de C;

) WEFI de México, Servicios de Ingenieria, S. de R.L. de C.V.,
V., (v) WFI Asesoria en Administracién, S.C.; and (vi) WFI
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Asesoria en Telecomunicaciones, S.C. (the “Mexico Operations”) to Sakoki LL.C. The transaction closed
on March 10, 2006.

The Equity Purchase Agreement provides that the Company will receive total approximate cash
consideration of $18 million, subject to adjustment, with $1.5 million payable in cash on signing of the
Equity Purchase Agreement and $16.5 million payable by means of a secured promissory note payable in
installments through December 31, 2006, subject to adjustments. The note is secured by pledges of assets
and a personal guaranty. The total consideration approximates the net book value of operations, including
$13.2 million of contingent liabilities.

The Company’s decision to divest the Mexican operations was prompted by the changing business
climate in Mexico and a review of the strategic alternatives for its free cash flow. Unfavorable contractual
terms recently proposed the Company’s largest customers in Mexico would further increase the extensive
working capital required to operate a Mexican deployment company while pricing pressure threatens to
adversely affect the future profitability of the Mexican operations. Further, the recent refinements of the
cell site build plans by the Company’s largest customers have resulted in the cancellation of a number of
sites that the Company was building in Mexico and other South American locations. This resulted in a
write-off of unrecoverable expenses of approximately $5.0 million in 2005. The Company has not yet been
able to negotiate any termination settlements with its customers to offset these costs.

Sakaki, is a newly-formed entity controlled by Massih Tayebi. Although Massih Tayebi has no current
role with the Company, he was a co-founder of the Company, having served as Chief Executive Officer
from inception in 1994 through September 2000 and as a director from inception through April 2002. In
addition, Massih Tayebi owns or controls approximately 11% of the total voting power of the Company’s
capital stock. He is also the brother of Masood Tayebi, the Company’s current Chairman of the Board of
Directors. Masood Tayebi has no personal financial interest in the transaction and will have no role with
the entity that is purchasing the Mexico Operations. The transaction was approved by the disinterested
members of the Company’s Board of Directors after consideration of other expressions of interest and a
valuation analysis by an independent audit firm. The transaction closed on March 10, 2006.




|
|
WIRELESS FACILITIES, INC.

Schedule/II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(in millions)

|
|

Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005
Balance at Balance at
Beginning of Write-offs/ End of
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Year Provision = Recoveries Year
Year ended December 31,2003 ... v $0.9 $ 0.6 $ — $1.35
Year ended December 31,2004 ...................... $1.5 $ 05 $(0.7) $1.3
Year ended December 31,2005 .. ... ..ocoieiiiinnnn. $1.3 $ 09 $(0.7) $1.5
Balance at Balance at
Beginning of  Provisions End of
Valuation Allowance on Deferred Tax Assets Year (Reduction) Year
Year ended December 31,2003 ......0 ...t $35.7 $(8.4) $27.3
Year ended December 31,2004 ... ... ... i $27.3 $ 0.8 $28.1
Year ended December 31,2005 ... ...l coee i $28.1 $(5.1) $23.0

See accompanying Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms.
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Smart Solutions

WFI (NASDAQ: WFII) has built a rich history in advanced network design. Today, the

Company is broadening its view and leveraging the momentum of its business. By

logically extending our core competencies, skills, and relationships, we are providing

integrated solutions that provide a combined value proposition.

Critical communications Our focus is on driving com-
munications to the next level. We understand the needs
of critical communication systems to bring interoperabil-
ity and high-bandwidth applications to our nation’s First
Responders. To meet the demand, WFI has built robust
skill sets to target potentially substantial opportunities in
public safety, land mobile radio (LMR) and municipal wire-
less networks.

Technology leadership We are at the forefront of tech-
nology trends. We combine our extensive engineering
experience with a deep understanding of emerging

and advanced technologies. By staying ahead of the
curve, we can efficiently deploy 3G technologies like
High Speed Downlink Packet Access (HSDPA) and
1xEV-DO. We also help customers evaluate strategies
based on emerging Internet Protocol (IP), core network
and WiMAX solutions.

Operational excellence Establishing trusted relation-
ships with our customers and industry partners is key to ‘
winning larger long-term contracts. In 2005, WFI achieved
a series of major government awards to provide essential
engineering and technical services, primarily serving the
U.S. Department of Defense. Over time, we believe our
growing emphasis on the government sector will enhance
and add greater predictability to our entire business.

Client focus We are dedicated to helping customers
maximize their technology investment. A key priority for
our carrier business is optimizing and maintaining existing
network infrastructure. By providing performance testing
and benchmarking, we fine-tune voice and data networks
to keep pace with escalating network usage. In 2005, we
offered RouteWatch®" to our carrier customers, a power-
ful diagnostic tool to minimize long-distance costs, and
reduce our customers’ operating expense.




Dear WFI shareholder,

For more than a decade, WFI has designed,
deployed, and optimized advanced networks for
the world’s largest carriers. It was approximately
two years ago that we embarked on a strategy
to diversify our business by expanding into new
markets where our core competencies add value
to the world’s major communications and
networking organizations.

In 2005, we made significant progress in
executing our long-term vision of profitably
building an information technology business
that is focused on the large and growing

commercial wireless and federal government
IT marketplaces. Today, our highly skilled
technical consulting practice provides inte-
grated, turnkey solutions to virtually all the
major wireless carriers in the United States
and Western Europe, Fortune 1000 companies
and municipalities throughout the United
States, and various agencies of the U.S.
Department of Defense and U.S Department
of Homeland Security.

During the year, WFI further established itself
as a dominant force in the communications
industry by winning more awards as a prime
contractor to cur customers than at any time in
our Company’s history. We continued to grow
our customer base, partnering with leading
defense contractors and Wi-Fi and WiMAX
equipment vendors. We also began working
with alternative carriers - a promising new
area for WFI that includes Internet Service
Providers (ISPs), cable companies, and
Mobile Virtual Network Operators (MVNOs).

At the same time, we cultivated a wide range of
technical expertise in next-generation technolo-
gies, enhancing our already robust engineering
resources. We broadened our focus, attracting
top, technology-specific talent to round out our
capabilities. As a result, we positioned WFi to
target new areas, including municipal wireless

networks, mesh networks, Internet Protocol (IP)
and core network engineering, and public safety
communications.

On the financial side, we continued to deliver
solid results in 2005. Winning larger, longer-term
projects enabled us to increase revenues by
12.3% to $375.3 million. Our higher-margin
engineering and technical solutions, combined
with disciplined management of overhead
expenses, delivered an operating profit of $17.0
million in 2005. Diluted earnings per share were
$0.12 compared to $0.07 in the prior year. As a
cash-flow driven company, we were able to fuel
growth while maintaining a healthy balance
sheet. We ended the year with no debt and a
cash position of $13 million.

With the sale of the Mexico business, along with
exiting the majority of our business throughout
Latin America early in 2006, we have eliminated
a significant risk from an execution and
profitability standpoint and improved WFI’s free
cash flow and overall liquidity. Today, WFl is
over 90% focused in the United States, allowing
the Company to direct more of its resources on
its domestic operations, including investing in
the growth of its government business.

As you know, a key strategic focus for WFl is
building a business focused on the federal
information technology market. In 2005, we
gained additional traction in our government
services division. With long lead times in
government sales cycles, we began to realize
the results from our sales efforts by winning a
series of major awards with some of the largest
federal agencies. As a leading global RF engine-
ering company, we have established a skilled
team of engineers, Automatic Identification
Technology (AIT) technicians and logisticians
and were able to deliver leading-edge network
solutions, information technology support and
engineering services to our customers.

To continue our momentum in the government
division, we have developed a strong proposal
pipeline, with approximately $500 million in
opportunities or bids submitted at the end of
2005. In addition, we will continue to evaluate
select acquisitions serving primarily the U.S.
Department of Defense and the U.S. Department
of Homeland Security. Over time, our acquisition
strategy should yield a balance between
commercial and government services, continu-
ing to bring added stability, consistency and
profitability to our business model.

Looking ahead, we plan to maintain profitability
and operational excellence while pursuing
meaningful growth that leverages our vast
capabilities. In 2005, WFI was a leading
contender in municipal wireless broadband
network design and deployment. We won
several of the industry’s first deployment
projects and have partnered with Wi-Fi leaders
such as Cisco, Google, and Tropos. Another
imperative for WF! is expanding our expertise in
backhaul transport, IP and core network
engineering. In 2005, we built a highly skilled
team to capture demand for these new out-
sourced engineering services. With our
outstanding customer relationships and
technology expertise, we are uniquely qualified
to design, deploy, integrate, and maintain new
IP and core networks.

Public safety communications is another
important new area for WFI. Last year, we
strengthened our ability to provide services that
deliver interoperable communications between
law enforcement and first responders. By
bringing together our competencies in 802.11,
cellular, land mobile radio (LMR), and IP
engineering, we provide integrated solutions
that offer a combined value proposition to

our customers.

Today, | believe WFl is on a trajectory for
continued profitable growth in strategic areas
across our business. We have successfully
integrated our specialized networking capabili-
ties to provide innovative technical solutions and
meet our customers’ needs. Our vendor indepen-
dence remains a key advantage, and our breadth
of resources gives us the depth and scale to
handle large projects in realistic time frames.

In closing, | would like to thank our customers,
partners, and employees for another cutstand-
ing year. | have the highest regard for our
talented professionals, who continue to provide
our customers with speed to market, a commit-
ment to quality, and expertise in the most
advanced technologies. | look forward to
working with our team as we execute on the
abundant opportunities ahead.

Sincerely,

Zis Domecs™

Eric M. DeMarco
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Hurricane Katrina and the tragedy of 9/11 have highlighted a critical gap in First
Responder communications. The age of high-speed digital communications
and the ability to connect seamlessly from one agency to another has largely
bypassed the people who need it most - police, fire fighters, and paramedics.
Today, many First Responders face these issues because their aging equipment
runs on incompatible radio systems.

Building on its network engineering and government sector expertise, WF|
added strategic resources in 2005 to address the pressing need for interop-
erability in public safety communications. Our public safety focus is a prime
example of how WFI provides synergistic solutions. By combining our cellular,
Internet Protocol (IP), and land mobile radio (LMR) engineering capabilities, we
provide a unique, engineering-driven approach.

In an area historically dominated by equipment manufacturers, our vendor inde-
pendence offers a key advantage. We understand the underlying technologies
and complex federal grant processes that bring liquidity to this market. By lever-
aging existing infrastructure investment, WFI is focused on engineering solutions
to deliver network interoperability quickly and cost-effectively. Our goal is to
enable seamless, high-bandwidth communications across multiple disciplines
and jurisdictions, regionally and statewide.

WFI is moving quickly to capture public safety opportunities. In 2005, WFI
placed its first LMR engineers on 800 MHz re-banding projects, mandated by
the Federal Communications Commission to alleviate radio interference between
Nextel Communications and emergency service providers. By 2009, the move

to digital television is slated to clear the airwaves at 700 MHz, making way for
high-speed data networks for first responders. In the near term, public safety
demands are driving a proliferation of bids for unlicensed municipal wireless
networks - an area in which WFI has emerged as a leading systems integrator.

“To best equip our nation’s

first responders to do
their job, they must be
able to communicate
with one another, not
just between fire, police,
and EMS within one
jurisdiction, but also
among local, state, and

federal jurisdictions.”

- Congressman Fred Upton
of Michigan, Chairman of
the House Energy and
Commerce Subcommittee
on Telecommunications and
the Internet




“With technology from WFl and

its partners, we are able to
take the future of traffic
management to the next level.
Not only is WFI helping to
make the ER-Link telemedi-
cine project a reality, but the
network being deployed by
WFI is also bhelping Tucson’s
Department of Transportation
deploy a range of transporta-

tion management services.”

Richard Nassi

Transportation Administrator
Department of Transportation
City of Tucson, AZ
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Once considered a luxury available in limited locations, wireless broadband
access is quickly becoming a public utility like electricity and water. Cities
across the country are building or planning metro-scale wireless mesh networks
using unlicensed spectrum. For WFI, the emerging municipal wireless market
has become another key strategic area for growth. In 2005, we gained significant
momentum in this area, winning our first projects and developing a substantial
bid pipeline involving wireless data, and other valuable and unique applications
such as wireless video, security, and parking meters.

We formed relationships with various Internet Service Providers, submitting

a joint bid with Google to the City of San Francisco. We partnered with major
802.11 equipment vendors, including BelAir Networks, Cisco Systems, Motorola,
and Tropos Networks. Our experience in Radio Frequency (RF) engineering site
deployment, advanced security applications in an enterprise environment, and
our government knowledge and relationships gives us a competitive edge not
just as a systems integrator, but also as a comprehensive solutions provider. -

Each municipal wireless network is unique. In 2005, city leaders in Temecula,
California, asked WFI to turn the Western charm of its Old Town into a Wi-Fi
zone. The goal of the project was to draw shoppers and tourists with free wire-
less Internet access. Also last year, WFI was tapped to design and deploy a
municipal wireless network in Madison, Wisconsin. To spark economic develop-
ment, the system ultimately will offer Wi-Fi access to residents city-wide.

In another important win, WFI was awarded a contract to build Tucson ER-Link,
the country’s first high-speed telemedicine system connecting paramedics with
emergency room doctors. In addition to providing emergency communication
services, the ER-Link project will be adapted to include a range of transporta-
tion diagnostic services for more efficient management of traffic as well as other
utility management services.
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With strong engineering

and [P expertise, WFl is
uniquely positioned to help
wireless carriers move to
an [P-based core network
architecture, which prom-
ises to reduce costs while
enhancing operational and

financial performance.

gdzaptability

At WFI, we have demonstrated our ability to change according to market condi-
tions and leverage our engineering skills to meet new demands. Strategicaily,
WFI is focused on diversifying our business into areas where our core compe-
tencies add value.

Today, WFl is the largest independent Radio Frequency (RF} engineering firm in
the United States. In 2005, we laid the groundwork to develop an equally strong
skill set in Internet Protocol (IP) and core network engineering. One of our primary
goals in the years ahead is to be an instrumental partner in helping our carrier
customers move to this new technology. Our growing IP capabilities - combined
with our outstanding customer relationships and network expertise - should
enable us to tap a whole new market for outsourced engineering services.

A growing number of carriers are currently weighing the benefits of developing
converged voice and data networks on a single, all-IP backbone. By replac-
ing traditional switches and base station controllers, P solutions can bring
enhanced performance to core networks. They also may provide cost savings
and improved reliability to backhaul facilities that currently rely on copper T1
lines. Perhaps most importantly, IP-based networks promise to better utilize
highly prized spectrum for carriers.

The coming paradigm shift to IP is an important opportunity for vendor indepen-
dent engineering firms like WFI to assist carriers in network design, deployment,
integration, testing, and ongoing maintenance efforts. With this new area of
expertise, we are poised to provide our clients with strategic planning and the
state-of-the-art technology services they need in order to remain competitive.




analysis service
is diagnostic service examines long-
significantly reduce costs

or our carrier customers.
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To protect its citizens, our government is investing in network-centric defense to
supplement the traditional array of planes, tanks, and ships. At the same time,
federal IT spending is focused on rapidly adopting commercial wireless technoi-
ogies and upgrading to next-generation, Internet Protocol Version 6 networks. In
2005, WFI reaped the benefits of its strategic relationships with the U.S. Depart-
ment of Defense, civilian federal agencies, and leaders in the defense industry.

The successful integration of WFI's three government acquisitions over the past
two years continued to deliver direct results. In particular, two major contract
wins - totaling up to $55 million over five years - validated WFI’s strong posi-
tion in the government marketplace in 2005. Under one contract, WFl is offering
aerial target services for the U.S. Army at the White Sands Missile Range in New
Mexico. Under another, we are providing engineering, installation, maintenance,
and technical support for U.S. Navy submarine command and control systems.

We also solidified our ability to provide a full range of logistics and RFID techni-
cal services to the Department of Defense. We won four out of a possible five
RFID Blanket Purchase Agreements during the year, making us one of the
military’s few authorized providers of RFID solutions. These agreements will
enable WFI to transform supply chain operations by accelerating the deployment
of passive RFID systems throughout the armed forces.

During the year, WFI also met increasing demand for Tactical Survey™-a
computer-based public safety tool that delivers a 360-degree view of facilities
and other vital information to first responders. WFI and its partner, the Tactical
Survey Group Inc., have deployed this advanced planning and crisis intervention
solution at convention centers, international airports, the U.S. Department of
Energy, and NASA's Kennedy Space Center.

“SAIC selected WF! as a

subcontractor under a
prime contract awarded
by the U.S. Navy, to assi
in the automation of

the Navy’s supply chain
management process to
track critical assets mor
quickly and accurately.
WFIl was selected based
its engineering and tech
cal skills, especially in &
areas of logistics, UID at

RFID solutions.”

- Doug Litten
Project Manager
Navy Automatic
Identification Technology
SAIC




In 2005, WFI applied its 3G engineering expertise to design and deploy
HSDPA networks for 02 in the United Kingdom. The lightning-fast :
networks are designed to support wireless broadband applications like
streaming video and audio.




Today, WFl is playing an increasingly strategic role to help carriers develop a
technology roadmap. For example, we are broadening our focus to include

new alternative carriers, such as Internet Service Providers (ISPs), cable
companies, Mobile Virtual Network Operators (MVNOs), and Mobile Virtual
Network Enablers (MVNEs).

During 2005, our Advanced Technologies Group advised both established and
emerging carriers by leveraging its up-to-the-minute knowledge of the latest
standards. Meanwhile, we have developed vast expertise by performing across
the entire lifecycle of networks and technologies, from legacy wireless infra-
structure to 3G. Working together, our academic and operational perspectives
give both existing and new carriers a complete picture.

During the year, we performed more turnkey work as prime contractor in design-
ing, deploying and optimizing advanced networks. 3G roll-outs remained a focal
point for our growing deployment business during the year. Our leading 3G
customers included Verizon Wireless and Sprint Nextel, which launched CDMA
1x-EV-DO Rev. 0, and Cingular Wireless and United Kingdom-based 02, which
deployed HSPDA-UMTS on their GSM networks.

To remain on top of technology trends, WFI actively participates in the WiMAX
Forum, an organization at the forefront of this newly ratified mobile broadband
technology. By using unlicensed spectrum to offer Ethernet-like data rates,
WIMAX offers cost and time-to-market advantages to wireline and wireless
operators alike. To meet growing bandwidth demands, WiMAX also may provide
an efficient backhaul alternative. As WiMAX comes to the forefront and spec-
trum is eventually auctioned off, WFi has the expertise to help its clients make
the right technology decisions.
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In 2005, WFI continued to success-
fully build its domestic carrier busi-
ness, while also developing its federal
government business to diversify

the revenue base. The company
continues to generate positive cash
flow, and, with the sale of the Mexico
operations, we have significantly
reduced the risk and unpredictably in
our business. Today, WFl is over 90%
domestically focused in two princi-
pal markets, commercial wireless
networks and system integration, and
federal, state and local government
networks and information technol-
ogy. In 2006, we anticipate continued
growth of our federal government
information technology business,
and, with long-term contracts and
high barriers to entry, this will afford
WFI a stronger, more predictable
long-term growth path.

Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This annual report contains certain forward-tooking state-
ments (including, without fimitation, expressed or implied
statements concerning expectations regarding our future
financiat performance, anticipations with respect to our per-
formance under existing contracts and anticipated growth in
the market for our services) that involve risks and uncertain-
ties. These forward-ooking statements represent our cur-
rent views with respect to future events and are based on
assumptions and subject to risks and uncertainties. These
statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertain-
ties and other factors which may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially different from
any future results, performances or achievements expressed
or implied by the forward locking-statemenis. These risks
and uncertainties include, but are not limited to: the rate of
growth of deployments of wireless networks by carriers and
enterprises; competition for federal government contracts;
costs or detays required to achieve the synergies or ben-
efits expected from acquisitions; change in the budgets of
U.S. government customers upon which the Government
Network Services Division is dependent; changes in the
scope o the timing of our wireless network projects which
could affect revenue or profitabifity; stowdowns in telecom-
munications infrastructure spending in the United States
and globally, which could defay network deployment and
reduce demand for our services; costs or delays resulting
from opearational deficiencies in our Latin American or other
international operations; the timing, rescheduling or cancel-
lation of significant customer contracts and agresments;
risks related to weaknesses in our internal controls identi-
fied by our independent auditors; changes in our effective
income tax rate; and risks associated with pending securi-
ties litigation. Our risk factors are more fully discussed in our
2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K and in other filings made
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Given these
uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements.
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Total Revenue

($ millions)

2003 2004 2005

Earnings Per Share
($ cents)

2003 2004 2005
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Operating Income/(Loss)
($ millions)

$17.0

($1.9)

Diversification of
Revenue Base

_ Breakdown of WFI Revenues

($ millions)

2003 2004 2005

. Commercial . Government
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